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Financial review

Financlal highlights

Summary consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2066

2505
2006 Discorvinnoed Contrring
£m Em £m
Net interest income 4,449 212 4,249
Fees and commissicns receivable 3,028 43 3,663
Fees and commissions payable {960) (34) {926}
Income from trading activities 1,458 — 808
QOther operating incomg 451 — 835
Non-interest iIncome 4,877 9 4,180
Total income 9,326 221 5,429
Cperating expenses 5,018 70 4,413
Profit before impairment losses 4,308 151 4,016
Impairment losses 852 4 752
Profit hefore tax 3,456 147 3,264
Tax 831 44 a04
Operating profit after tax 2,625 103 2,350
Discontinued operations —- 03
Profit for the year 2,625 2,463
Minority interests 39 17
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 2,586 2,446
006 2005
at 31 December £m £m

Total assets

Loans and advances 1o customers
Deposits

Shareholders’ equity

290,661 260,603
182,411 159,943
227,477 203,925

10,173 9.440

Profit

Profit before tax was up 1%, from £3,411 million to £3,456 million.
The Group transferred its home mortgage business, National
Westminster Home Loans Limited, to The Royal Bank of
Scotland plc on 31 December 2005 and the results of this
entity have been classified as ‘Discontinued” in 2005. Profit
from continuing operations increased by £192 million, 6%,
reflecting organic income growth.

Tetal Income

The Group achieved strong organic growth in income during
2008. Tolal income was up 8% or £676 million 1o £8,326 million.
Total income fram continuing operations was up £897 milticn,
14%. This growth was reflected across all divisions and was
particularly strong in UK Corporate Banking, Retail, Wealth
Management and Ulster Bank.

Nel interest income was flat at £4,449 million. Net interest
income from conlinuing operations rose by 5%, £200 million
and represents 48% of total income (2005 - 50%).

Non-interest income increased 16% to £4,877 million. Non-
interest income from continuing operations was up 17%,
£697 millicn and represents 52% of total income {2005 - 50%).
Within non-interest income, fees and commissions receivable
increased by 6% to £3,928 million and fees ang commissions
payable were stable at £960 million. Income from trading
activities increased by 80% to £1,458 million while other
operating income decreased by 29% to £451 million.

Qperating expenses

Operating expenses rose by 12% to £5,018 million, Operating
expenses from continuing operations increased by 14% to
support business expansion.

Costincoms ratio
The Group's costincome ratio was 53.8% compared with
52.4% for continuing cperations in 2005.

Impairment losses

Impairment losses were £852 miltion compared with £756 million
in 2005, an increase of 13%. Higher provisions in Retail Markels
in respect of unsecured personal loans and credit cards and
in U!ster Bank due to growth in lending were partially cffset by
lower impairment losses in Corporate Markets where credit
conditions have remained benign.

Integration,
Integration costs which relate to the integration of First Active
were £67 million compared with £163 million in 2005.

Dividends
QOrdinary dividends totalling £1,500 millien (2005 - £350 million}
were paid to the holding company during the year.

Balance sheet

Total assets were £290.7 billion at 31 December 2006, 12%
higher than total assets of £260.6 bilion at 31 December 2005.
Lending to customers, excluding repurchase agreements and
stack borrowing (“reverse repos”), increased by 12% or

£18.1 billion to £162.9 billion. Customer deposits, excluding
repurchase agreements and stock lending {"repos”), grew by
13% or £18.2 hillion to £155.4 billion,
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Financial review continued

Description of business

The Group's activities are organised in the following business
divisions: Corporate Markeis (comprising Global Banking &
Markets and UK Corporate Banking), Relail Markels
{comprising Retail and Wealth Management), Ulster Bank and
Manufacturing. A description of each of the divisions Is given
below.

Globat Banking & Markels is a leading banking partner 1o
major carporations and financial institutions around the world,
providing a full range of debt financing, risk management and
investment services to its customers.

tJK Corporate Banking provides banking, finance and risk
mznagement services lo UK corporate customers. Through its
netwerk of relationship managers across the country it
distributes the full range of Corparate Markets' products and
services to companies.

Relail comprises the NatWest retail brand and a number of
direct providers offering a full range of banking products and
related financial services to the personal. premium and small
business markets across several distribution channels. Retail
also includes the Group's non-branch based retail business
that issues a comprehensive range of credil and charge cards
to personal and corporate customers and provides card
processing services for retail businesses.

Wealih Management provides private banking and investment
services 1o its global clients through Coutts Group and
NatwWest Offshare.

Ulsiar Bank Group brings together the Ulster Bank and First
Active businesses, Retaii Markets serves personzl customers
through both brands and Cerporate markets caters for the
banking needs of business and corporate customers.

Manufacturing supports the customer-facing businesses and
provides operational technology, customer support in
telephony. account management, lending and meney
transmission, globai purchasing, property and cther services.

The Centre comprises group and corporate functions, such as
capital raising, finance, risk management, legal,
communications and human resources. The Centre manages
the Group's capital requirements and Group-wide regulatory
projects and provides services to the operating divisions,

The RBS Group operales a shared services model in the UK
and Irefand and generally manages the businesses in those
areas on the basis of contribution. Shared costs and related
assets and liabilities are allocated to customer-facing divisions
for financial reporting purposes on a basis that the directors
consider to be reasonable.
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Report of the directors

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report together
wilh the audiled accounts for ihe year ended 3t December 2008.

Nationat Westminster Bank Plc {*the Bank") is subject o the
Listing Rufes of the Financial Services Authority (“the Listing
Rules™) because it has preference shares listed on the London
Stock Exchange. These preference shares are defined as
Specialist Debt Securities under the Listing Rules. Accordingly,
the Bank is exempt from the requirement to make certain
disclosures which are normally part of 1he continuing
obligations of listed companies. This exemption applies to
corporate governance, directors' remuneration and going
concern disclosures. On the basis of this exemption the Report
and Accounts does not include an Operating and financial review:

Business review

Activitles

The Bank is a whally-owned subsidiary of The Royal Bank of
Scotland plc (“the halding company™), which is incorporated in
Great Britain and has its registered office at 36 St Andrew
Square, Edinburgh EH2 2YB, The "Group” comprises the

Bank and its subsidiary and associated undertakings. Details
of the principal subsidiary undertakings and their activities are
shown in Naote 14 on the accounts. “RBS Group” comprises
The Raoyal Bank of Scotland Group plc {the “ultimate holding
company™) and its subsidiary and associated undertakings.

The Group is engaged principally in providing a wide range of
banking services and other financiat products. (n the UK, the
Bank is regulated under the Financial Services and Markets
Act 2000. Further details of the organisationat siructure and
business overview of the Group, including the products and
services provided by each of its divisions is inchsded in Note
41 on the accounts.

The Bank is authorised and regulated by The Financial
Services Authonty and represents the NatWest Marketing
Group. The Bank sells life policies, colleciive investment
schemes and pension products and advises only on the
Marketing Group's range of these products, and also on the
RBS Investment Funds ICVC cperated by RBS Collective
Investment Funds Limited.

Risk [aciors

The reported results of the Group are sensitive to the
accounting palicies, assumptions and estimates that underlie
the preparation of its financial statements, Details of the
Group's critical accounting policies and key sources of
accounting judgements are included in the Accounting policies
on page 16 to 17.

The Group's approach to fisk management, including its
financial risk management objectives and policies and
information an the Group's exposure to price, credit, liquidity
and cash flow risk is discussed in Note 32 on the accounts.

Financlal performance

A review of the Group's performance during the year ended 31
December 2006 and the Group's financial position as at that
date is contained in the Financial review on pages 3 and 4.

Employees

As at 31 December 2006, the Bank and its subsidiaries
employed 27,700 employees {full-time equivalent basis),
excluding temporary staff, throughout the world. Details of
employee related costs of the Bark and its subsidiaries are
included in Note 2 on the accounts on page 23,

Pclicies and practices in respect of employee issues are
managed on a consistent basis across RBS Group, and the
following sections reflect this approach. References to the
Group in the following sections relate to RBS Group.

Employas recruitmenl

Across the RBS Group, over 20,000 employees are recruited

at different levels every year The RBS Group utilises a wide
range of recruiimeni channels including executive search,
general adverlising, an ¢pen internal jobs market, talent fora
and detailed succession planning to ensure that the recruitment
and development of ils employees are fully aligned to its
organisational requirements.

Employee reward

The Group's continuing success is closely linked to the
performance, skills and individual commitment of its employees.
In order to aitract, motivate and retain the best available talent
at every level, the Group offers a comprehensive remuneration
and benefits package, Total Reward, to all employees.

Within this package, RBSelect, the Group's benefit choice
programme, provides for UK staff in the Group a flexible way
of tailoring their reward to reflect their own individual lifestyles.
During 2006 the Group brought retirement savings provision
within RBSelect in order to provide mare choice for the receipt
of retirement benefits. Employees can also participate in bonus
incentive ptans specific to their business and share in the
Group's ongoing success through profit sharing, Buy As You
Earn and Sharesave schemes, which align their interests with
those of shareholders.

Employes learning and development

The Group maintains a strong commitment to creating and
providing learning oppoertunities for all its employees through a
variety of personal development and training programmes and
learning networks. The Group's employees are encouraged to
volunteer to work with its community pariners. The Group
continues to invest in jeadership and management development
which is consistent with its objective of being the employer of
choice: attracting, rewarding and retaining the very best talent.

Many of the Group's development programmes are delivered
at the RBS Business School, based on the Gogarburn Campus.
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Report of the directors continued

Employee communicalion

Employee engagement is enceuraged through a variety of
means including the carporate intranet, Group and divisional
magazines, team rneetings led by ine managers, briefings
held by senior managers and regular dialogue with employees
and employee representatives. The Group Chief Execulive and
other senior Group executives regularly communicate with
employees through *Question Time' style programmes,
broadcast on the Group’s internal television network.

Empioyes consuitation

The Group's confidential global employee opinion survey is
externally designed, undertaken and analysed annually on
behalf of the Group by International Survey Research (ISR).
The survey enables employees to maximise their contribution
to the Group by expressing their views and opinions on a
range of key issues.

A record-breaking 87% of Group employees in over 30
countries completed the 2006 survey. For the second year in &
row, the Group scored significantty above the 1SR Global
Financial Services Norm in all categories. The survey results
are presented to the Board and at divisional and team levels.
Action plans are developed o address any issues identified.

The Group recognises trade unions in the UK and lreland.
These formal relationships are complemented by works council
arrangements in many of the Group's mainland Europe-based
operations. The Group has a European Employee
Communication Council that provides elected employee
representatives with an opportunity to better undersiand the
impact an its European cperations.

Divarsity

The Group's Managing Diversity policy sets a framework for
broadening the Graup's talent base, achieving the highest
levels of performance, and enabling all employees to reach
their full potential irrespective of age, disability, gender, marital
status, political opinion, race, religious belief or sexual
orientation.

The Group is also commitied to ensuring that all prospective
applicants for employment are treated fairy and equitably
throughout the recruitment process. its comprehensive
resourcing standards cover the attraction and ratention of
individuals with disabilities. Reasonable adjustments are
provided to support applicants in the recruitment process
where these are required. The Group provides reasonable
waorkplace adjustmenis for new entrants inte the Group and for
existing employees who become disabled during their
employment.

Health, safety, wellbeing and securfty

The health, safety, wellbeing and security of employees and
customers contirues to be a pricrity for the Group. Regular
reviews are undertaken of both policies and processes to
ensure compliance with current legislation and best practice.
The Group focus is on ensuring that these policies are closely
linked to the operational needs of the business.
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In the first quarter of 2006 the Group launched a Wellbeing
website which includes a health and wellbeing calendar. The
site is designed to raise awareness of international health
issues and events, and to provide fifestyle education,
information and suppoert to employees.

Services were extended under HelpDirect, the Group's
Employee Assistance Programme. to provide support to all
employees in the event of a critical incident. The service
provides telephone access 1o qualified clinicians and a global
network of counselling affiliztes to enabte the Greup to provide
a consistent levet of support to individuals ard the business
wherever they are lacated.

Corporale responsibility

Business excellence requires that the RBS Group meets
changing customer, shareholder, investor, empioyee and supplier
expectations. The RBS Group believes that meeting high
standards of envircnmenial, social and ethical responsibility is
key to the way it does business.

For the financial services sector, consumer banking issues are
the primary focus, followed by financial inclusion and capability,
financial crime and corruption, employee practices, the
challenge of climate change, support for small businesses
and community giving. The RBS Group takes all these
responsibilities serously, continually monitoring and managing
them through policies and praclices across the RBS Group.
The Board regularly considers corporate responsibility issues
and receives a formal report on these twice each year

Further details of the RBS Group's corporate responsibility policies
will be contained in the 2006 Corporate Respansibility Report.

Anmsal report on Form 20-F

An annual report on Form 20-F will be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commissicn in the US and copies will be
available an request from the secretary. Much of the detailed
financia! informaticn therein ts shown in these accounts.

Qrdinary share capital
Details of the authorised and issued ordinary share capitai at
3t December 2006 arg shown in Note 28 on the accounts.

Preference share capital
Details of the authorised and issued preference share capital
al 31 December 2006 are shown in Note 28 on the accounts.

In January 2007 the Bank redeemed the 10 million Series B
non-cumulative preference shares of US$25 each at US$25
per share.




Directors
The current memters of the Board of direclors are named on
page 2. All directors, except:

* Fred Walt, who resigned {from the Board on 31 January
20086,

* Guy Whitieker, who was appointed to the Board on
1 February 2006,

* Johnny Cameron, Mark Fisher and Bill Friedrich, wha were
appeinted fo the Board on 1 March 20056, and

* Sir George Mathewson, who retired from the Board on 28
April 20086,

servad throughout the year and to the date of signing of the
financial statements.

Larry Fish, Archie Hunter, Bud Koch, Joe MacHale, Bob Scott
and Peter Suthertand will retire and offer themselves for
re-election at the company's Annual General Meeting.

Directors’ interesis

The interests of the directors holding office 2t 31 December
2006 in the shares of the ultimate holding company a1 that
date are disclosed in the Report and Accounts of that
company. None of the directors held an interest in the loan
capital of the ultimate halding company or in the shares or loan
capital of the Bank or any of the subsidiaries of the Bank
during the period from 1 January 2006 to 28 March 2007.

Directarg’ indemniiies

In terms of section 309C of The Companies Act 1985 (as
amended), the directors of the Bank, members of Group
Executive Management Committee and Approved Persons
{under the Financiat Services and Markets Act 2000) have
beer granted Qualifying Third Party Indemnity Provisions by
The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc.

Directors’ disciosure o auditors
Each of the directors at the date of appraval of this report
confirms that:

{a) so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the company's auditors are unaware;
and

(b) the director has taken all the steps that hefshe ought to
have taken as a directar 1o make himself/herselfl aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the
companhy’s auditors are aware of that information.

This canfirmation is given and should be interpreted in
accordance with the provisions of section 2342A of the
Companies Act 1985,

Charitable contributions

The total amount given for charitable purposes by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2006 was £3.3 million
(2005 — £2.4 million).

Political donations
No politicat donations were made during the year.

Policy and practice on paymernt of crsdilors

The Bank is commilied to maintaining a sound commercial
relationship with its suppliers. Consequently, it is the Bank's
policy to negotiate and agree terms and conditions with its
suppliers, which includes the giving of an undertaking to pay
suppliers within 3G days of receipt of a correctly prepared
invoice submitled in accordance with the terms of the contract
or such other payment period as may be agreed.

At 31 December 20086, the Bank’s trade creditors represented
28 days {2005 - 27 days) of amounts invoiced by suppliers.

Auditars

The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLR have indicated their
willingness to continue in office. A resolulion 10 re-appoint
Deloitte & Touche LLP as the Bank's auditor will be proposed
at the forthcoming Annual Generat Meeting.

By order of the Board.

Miller McLean
Secretary
28 March 2007
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The directors are required by Article 4 of the I1AS Regulation
(European Commission Regulation No 1606/2002) to prepare
Group accounts and, as permitted by the Companies Act 1985
have elected to prepare Bank accounts for each financial

year in accordance with International Financiat Reporting
Standards as adopled by the Evropean Union. They are
responsible for preparing accounts that present fairly the
financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the
Group and the Bank. In preparing those accounts, the
directors are required lo:

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

make judgements and eslimates that are reasonable and
prudent;

state whether applicable accounting standards have been
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the accounts; and

*

prepare the accounts on the going concern basis unless it is
inappropriate to presume that the Bank will continue In
business.

The direclors are responsible for keeping proper accounting
records which disclose with reasonalole accuracy at any lime
the financial position of the Bank and to enable them to ensure
that the Annual report and accounts complies with the
Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible for safeguarding
the assets of the Bank and the Group and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
cther irregularities.

By order of the Board.

Miller Mclean
Secretary
28 March 2007
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of National Westminster Bank Plc

We have audited the financia! staternents of National
Westminster Bank Plc (“the Bank™) and its subsidiaries
{together "the Group™) for the year ended 31 December 2066
which comprise the accounting policies, the balance sheets as
at 31 December 2006, the consciidated income stalement, the
cash flow statements, the statements of recognised income
and expense and the related Notes 1 to 48, These financial
statements have been prepared under the accounting policies
set out therein.

This report is made solely to the Bank's members, as a body,
in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985.
Qur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to
the Bank’s members those matters we are required 1o stale to
them in an auditors' report andg for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility o anyone other than the Bank and the Bank’s
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or far
the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsiGililies of directors and auditors

As described in the statement of directors’ responsibilities, the
Bank's directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS") as
adopted by the European Unign. Qur responsibility is to audit
the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and
regulatory reguirements and Internaticnal Standards on
Auditing (UK and lreland).

We report ta you our opinion as to whether the financizal
slatements give a true and fair view and whether the financial
statements have been properly prepared in accordance with
the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the group financial
statarnents, Article 4 of the IAS Ragulation. We also report to
you whether in our cpinion, the information given in the
directors’ report is consistent with the financial statements.

In addition we report o you if, in our opinion, the Bank has not
kept proper accounting records, if we have nol received all the
information and explanations we require for our audit, or if
information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration
and other transactions is not disclosed.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report
as described in the contents seclion and consider whether it is
consistens with the audited financial statements. We consider
the implications for our report if we become aware of any
appareni misstatements or material inconsistencies with the
financial statements. Qur responsibilities do not extend to any
other information outside the Annual Report.

Basis of audit opinicn

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test
basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in

the financial statements, It also includes an assessment of the
significant estimates and judgements made by the directors in
the preparation of the financial statements and of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of
the Bank and the Group, consistently applied and adequately
disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit 50 as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free
from matenal misstatement, whether caused oy fraud or other
irregularity or error. In forming our opinion, we also evaluated
the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the
financial statements.

Opinicn
In our opinion:

the Group financial sialements give a true and fair view, in
accordance with IFRS as adepted by the European Union, of
the state of the Group's affairs as at 31 December 2006 and
of its profit and cash flows for the year then ended,

the Bank financial statements give a irue and fair view, in
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union as
applied in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act 1985, of the state of the Bank's affairs as at
31 December 2006;

.

the financial stalements have been property prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards
the group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS
Regulation; and

the information given in the direclors’ report is consistent
with the financial statements.

Separate oplnion in relation to IFRS

As explained in the accounting policies, the Group, in addition
o complying with its legal obligation to comply with IFRS as
adopted by the European Union, has also complied with the
IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board.

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view,
in accordance with IFRS, of the state of the Group's affairs as
at 31 December 2006 and of its profit and cash fiows for the
year then ended.

Delpitte & Touche LLP

Chartered Accountanis and Registered Auditors
Edinburgh, United Kingdom

28 March 2007

Neilher an autht nor a review provides assurance on the maintenance and integrity of the website, including controls used to achieve this. and in particuler on
whether any changes may have occurred to the financial information since first published. These matters ara the responsibility of the direciors out no control

procedures can provide absoluta assurance in this area.

Legis'ation in the Uniled Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial stalements diffars from legisiation in ather Jurisdictions.
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Accounting policies

1. Presentaticn of accournis

The accounts are prepared in accordance with Internationat
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and interpretations
issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Commitlee of the IASB (logether “JFRS”) as adopted by the
European Union ("EU™}). The EU has not adopled the complete
text of 1AS 39 Financial Instruments Recognition and
Measurement'; it has refaxed some of the slandard’s hedging
requirements. The Group has not taken advantage of this
relaxation and has adopted |IAS 39 as issued by the IASB. The
date of transition to IFRS for the Group and the Bank and the
date of their opening {FRS balance sheets was 1 January 2004,

The Bank is incorporated in the UK and registered in England.
The accounts are prepared on the historicat cost basis except
that the following assets and labilities are stated at their fair
value: derivative financial instruments, held-for-trading financial
assets and financial liabilities, financial assets and financial
liabilities that are designated as at fair value through profit or
loss, available-for-sale financial assels and investment property.
Recognised financial assets and financiat liabilities in fair value
hedges are adjusted for changes in fair value in respect of the
risk that is hedged.

The Bank accounts are presented in accordance with the
Companies Act 1985.

Change of accounting policy

As permitted by IFRS 1, the Group and the Bank imgiemented
IAS 32 'Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation’ and
IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’
with effect from 1 January 2005. The Group adopted the
second emendment to tAS 39 ‘The Fair Value Optien’ issued by
the IASB in June 2005 a'so from 1 January 2005. The effect of
implementing IAS 32 and |AS 39 on the Group and Bank
balance sheels and shareholders’ funds as at 1 January 2005
is set out in Note 45.

The IASB’s amendment o IAS 39, ‘Cash Flow Hedge
Accounting of Forecast Intragroup Transactions', published in
Aprit 2005, amended 1AS 39 to parmit the foreign currency risk
of a highly probable forecast intragroup transaction to qualify
as a8 hedged ilem in consolidated financial statements. The
amendment, effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2006, had no material effect on the financiai
statements of the Group or the Bank.

The IASB's amendment to 1AS 39, ‘Financial Guarantee
Contracts’, published in August 2005, amended IAS 39 and
IFRS 4, The amendment defines a financial guarantee contract
and requires such contracts to be recorded initially at fair value
and subseguently a! higher of the provision determined in
accordance with |AS 37 ‘Provisions, Cantingent Liabilities and
Centingent Assets’ and the amount initially recognised less
amortisation. The amendment, effective for annual penods
beginning on or after 1 January 2006, had no material effect
on the Group or the Bank.
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in December 2005, the |ASB issued an amendment to tAS 21
‘The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates’ 1o clarity
thal a monetary item can form part of the net investment in
overseas operations regardless of the currency in which itis
denominated and that the net investment in a foreign operation
can include a loan from a fellow subsidiary. The amendment,
adopted by the EU in May 2006, had no malenal effect on the
Group or the Bank.

2. Basls of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Bank and entities (including certain special
purpose entities) controlled by the Group (ils subsidiaries).
Control exists where the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating poticies of the entity; generally
conferred by holding a majority of voling rights. Cn acquisition
of a subsidiary, its identifiable assets, liabiliies and contingent
lizbilities are included in the consolidated accounts at their {air
value. Any excess of the cost {the fair value of assets given,
liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued
by the Group plus any directly attributable costs) of an
acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired is
recognised as goodwill. The interest of minority shareholders is
stated at their share of the fair value of the subsidiary’s net assets.

The results of subsidiaries acquired are included in the
consclidated income statement from the date control passes
to the Group. The results of subsidiaries sold are included up
until the Group ceases to control them.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses
are eliminated on consolidation. The consalidated accounts are
prepared using uniform accounting policies.

3. Revanue racognition

Interest income on financial assets that are classified as loans
and receivables, available-for-sale or held-to-maturity and
interest expense on financial liabiliies other than those at fair
value through profit or loss are determined using the effective
interest methad. The effective interest methed is a method of
calculating the amertised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability (or group of financial assets or liabilities) and of
altocating the interest income or interest expense over the
expected life of the asset or Habifity. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows to
the instrument's initial carrying amound. Calculation of the
effective interest rate takes into account fees receivable, that
are an integral part of the instrument’s yield, premiums or
discounts on acquisition o issue, early redemption fees and
transaction costs. All contractual terms of a financial
instrument are considered when estimating fulure cash flows.

Financial assets and financial iabiiities held-for-trading or
cesignaled as al fair value through profit or foss are recorded
at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in profit or
loss together with dividends and interest receivable and payable.



Commitment and utifisation {ees are determined as a
percentage of the outstanding facility. If it is unlikely that a
specific lending arrangement will be entered into, such fees
are taken 1o profit or loss over the tife of the facility otherwise
they are deferred and included in the effective interest rate on
the advance.

Fees in respect of services are recognised as the right to
consideration accrues through the provision of the service
to the customer, The arrangements are generally contractual
and the cost of providing the service is incurred as the
service is rendered. The price is usually fixed and always
determinable. The application of this policy to significant fee
types is outlined below.

Payment services: this comprises income received for payment
services including cheques cashed, direct debits, Clearing
House Automated Payments (the UK eleclronic seillement
systen) and BACS payments (the automated clearing house
that processes direct debits and direct credits). These are
generally charged on a per transaction basis. The income is
earned when the payment or transaction occurs. Charges for
payment services are usually debited 1o the customer’s
account, monthly or quarterly in arrears. Accruals are raised
for services provided but not charged &t period end.

Card related services: fees from credit card business include:

Commission received from retailers for processing credit
and debit card transactions: income is accrued 1o the
income statement as the service is performed.

Interchange received: as issuer, the Group receives a fee
(interchange) each time a cardhoider purchases goods and
services. The Group also receives interchange fees from
other card issuers for providing cash advances through its
branch and Automaled Teller Machine networks. These fees
are accrued once the transaction has taken place.

An annual fee payable by a credit card holder is deferred
and taken to profit or loss over the period of the service i.e.
12 months.

Insurance brokerage: this is made up of fees and commissions
received from the agency sale of insurance. Commissien on
the sale of an insurance contract is earned at the inception of
she policy as the insurance has been arranged and placed.
However, provision is made where commission is refundable in
the evert of policy cancellation in line with estimated
cancellations.

Investment management fees: fees charged for managing
investments are recognised as revenue as the services are
provided. Incremental costs that are directly attributable to
securing an investment management contract are deferred and
charged as expense as the related revenue is recognised.

4. Pensians and other post-retirement banefits
The Group provides post-retirement benefits in the form of
pensions and healthcare plans to eligible employees.

For defined benefit schemes, scheme liabilities are measured on
an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method and
discounted at a rate that reflects the current rate of relurnon a
high quaiity corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to
the scheme liabilities. Scheme assets are measured at their fair
value. Cumulative actuarial gains or losses that exceed 10 per
cent of the greater of the assets or the obligations of the
scheme are amortised to the income statement over the
expected average remaining lives of participating employees.
Past service costs are recognised Immediately to the exdent that
benefits have vested; ctherwise they are amortised over the
period until the benefits become vested.

Any surplus or deficit of scheme assets over liabllilies adjusted
for unrecognised actuarial gains and losses and past service
costs is recognised in the balance sheet as an asset (surplus)
or liability (deficit).

Contributiens 1o defined coentribution pension schemes are
recognised in the income statement when payable.

5. Intangible asssts and goodwill

intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amorlisation is charged to profit or loss using methods that best
reflect the economic benefits over their estimated useful
economic lives and is included in depreciation and amartisation.
The estimated useful economic lives are as follows:

Core deposit intangibles 6 to 10 years
Other acquired intangibles 5 to 10 years
Computer software 3to 5 years

Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands is
written-off as incurred. Direct costs relating to the development
of internal-use computer software are capitalised once
{echnical feasibitity and economic viability have been
established. These costs include payrofl, the costs of materials
and services, and directly attributable overhead. Capitalisation
of costs ceases when tha software is capable of aperating as
intended. During and after development, accumulated cosis
are reviewed for impairment against the projected benefits that
tha software is expected to generate. Costs incurred prior to
the establishment of technical feasibility and economic viability
are expensed as incurred as are all training costs and general
overhead. The costs of licences to use compuier software that
are expecled to generale economic benefits beyond one year
are also capitalised.

Acquired goodwill being the excess of the cast of an
acquisition over the Group's interest in the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the
subsidiary, associate or joint venture acquired is initialty
recognised at cost and subsequently at cost less any
accumutated impairment losses. Goodwill arising on the
acquisition of subsidiaries and joint ventures is included in the
balance sheet caption ‘intangible assets’ and that on associates
within thelr carrying amounts. The gain or loss on the disposal
of a subsidiary, associate or joint venture includes the carrying
value of any related goodwill.
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Accounting policies continued

On implementation of IFRS, the Group did not restate business
combinations that oceurred before 1 January 2004. Under
previous GAAR goadwill arising on acquisitions was
capitalised and amartised over its estimated useful economic
life. The carrying amount of goodwill in the Group's opening
IFRS batance sheet was £273 million, its carrying value under
previous GAAR

6. Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are staled at cost less
accumulated depreciation {see below) and impairment losses.
Where an item of property, plant 2and equipment comprises
major components having different useful lives, they are
accounted for separately. Property that is being constructed or
developed for future use as investment property is classified as
property, plant and equipment and stated at cost until
construction or development is complele, at which time it is
reclassified as investmenl property.

Depreciation is charged lo profit or loss on a straight-line basis
$0 as to write-off the depreciable amount of property, plant
and equipment (including assets owned and let on operaling
leases (excep! investiment property - see accounting policy

17 below)) over their estimated useful lives, The depreciable
amounil is the cost of an asset less its residual value, Land is
not depreciated. Estimated useful lives are as follows:

Freehold and jong leasehold buildings 50 years

Shart leaseholds unexpired period
of the lease
1010 15 years
up to 5 years
410 15 years

Property adaptation costs
Compuler eguipment
Other equipment

Under previous GAAR the Group's {reehold and long leasehold
property occupied for its own use was recorded at valuation on
the basis of existing use value. The Group elected to use this
valuation as at 31 December 2003 (£1,334 million} as deemed
cost for its opening IFRS balance shest (1 January 2004).

7. Impairment of intangible assets andg property,

plant and equipment

Al each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is
any indication that ils intangible assets, or property, plant and
equipment are impaired. If any such indication exists, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset and the
impairment loss if any. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. If an asset
does not generate cash flows that are independent from those
of ather assets or groups of assets, recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit {o which the asset
betongs. The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of
its fair value less cost to sell and its value in use, Value in use
is the present value of fulure cash flows from the asset or
cash-generating unit discounted al a rate that reflects markat
interest rates adjusted for risks specific to the asset or cash
generating unit that have not been reflected in the estimation of
future cash flows. If the recoverable amount of an intangible or
tangible asset is less than its carrying value, an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss and the
carrying value of the assel reduced by the amount of the loss.
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A reversal of an impairment loss on inlangible assets
(excluding goodwill) or property, ptant and equipment is
recognised as it arises provided the increased carrying value
does not exceed that which it would have been had no
impairment toss been recognised. Impairment losses on
goodwill are not reversed.

8. Foreign currencies
The Group's consolidated financial statemenis are presented in
sterling which is the functional currency of the Bank.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into slerling at
the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction.
Maonetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are tranglated into sterling at the rates of exchange
ruling at the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange differences
arising on translation are reperted in income from trading
activities excepl for differences arising on cash flow hedges
and hedges of net investments in foreign operations. Non-
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated into sterling at foreign
exchange rates ruting at the dates the values were determined.
Translation differences arising on non-monetary items
measured at fair value are recognised in profit or loss except
for differences arlsing on available-for-sale non-monetary
financial assets, for example equity shares, which are inchuded
in the available-for-sale reserve in equity unless the asset is the
hedged item in a fair value hedge.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including
goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are
translated into sterling at foreign exchange rates ruling at the
batance sheet date. The revenues and expenses of foreign
operalions are translated into sterling at average exchange
rates unless these do not approximate to the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
differences arising on the translation of forgign operations are
recognised directly in equity and included in profit or loss on
its disposal.

9. Leases

Contracts to lease assets are classified as finance leases if
they transfer substantialty all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset 1o the customer. Other contracts to
lease assets are classified as operating leases.

Finance lease receivables are stated in the balance sheet at
the amount of the net investment in the lease being the
minimum lease payments and any unguaranteed residual value
discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. Finance
lease income is allocated tc accounting periods 50 as 1o give a
constant periodic rate of return before tax on the net
investment. Unguaranteed residual values are subject io
regular review to identify polential impairment. if there has
been a reduction in the estimated unguaranteed residual vaiue,
the income allocation is revised and any reduction in respect of
amounts accrued is recognised immediately.

Renial income from operating leases is tredited to the income
statement on a receivable basis over the term of the lease.
Operating lease assets are included within Property, plant
and equipment and depreciated over their useful lives (see
accounting policy 6 above).




10. Taxalion

Provision is made far taxation at current enacled rates on
taxable profits, arising in income or in equity, taking into
account relief for overseas taxation where appropriate.
Deferred taxaticn is accounted for in fuli for all temporary
differences between the carrying amount of an asset ar liability
for accounting purposes and its carrying amount for tax
purposes, except in relation to cverseas earnings where
remittance is controlied by the Group, and goodwill.

Deferred 1ax assels are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that they will be recoverad.

11. Financial assels

On initiat recognition financial assets are classified into held-to-
maturity investiments; available-for-sale financial assets; held-
for-trading; designaled as at fair value through profit or loss, or
loans and receivables.

Held-to-maturity investrments — a financial asset is classified as
a held-to-maturity investment onty if it has fixed or determinable
payments, a fixed maturity and the Group has the positive
intention and ability to hold to maturity. Held-to-maturity
investments are initially recognised at fair value plus directly
related transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method {see
accounting policy 3 above} less any impairment losses.

Heid-for-trading — a financiat asset is classified as held-for-
trading if it is acquired principally for the purpose of setling in
the near term, or forms part of a portfalio of financial
instruments that are managed together and for which there is
avidence of short-term profit taking, or it is a derivative {not in
a qualifying hedge relationship). Held-for-trading financial
assets are recognised at fair value with transaction costs being
recognised in profit or loss, Subsequently they are measured
at fair value. Gains and losses on held-for-trading financial
assets are recognised in profi or loss as they arise.

Designated as at fair value through profit or loss - financial
assets that the Group designates on inilial recognition as being
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised at fair value,
with transaction costs being recognised in profit or loss and
are subsequently measured at fair value. Gains and josses on
financial assets that are designated as at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as they arise.

Financial assets may be designated as at fair value through
profit or toss only if such designation (a) eliminates or
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency; or {b) applies to a group of financial assets,
financiat liabilities or both that the Group manages and
evaluates on a fair value basis; or (c) relates to an instrument
thal contains an embedded derivative which is not evidently
ciosely related to the host contract.

The Group has designated financial assets as at fair value
through profit or foss principally where the assets are
ecanamically hedged by derivatives and fair value designation
eliminates the measurement incensistency that would arise if
the assets were carried at amortised cost or classified as
available-for-sate.

Loans and receivables — non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable repayments ihat are not quoted in an
aclive market are classified as foans and receivables except
those that are classified as available-for-sale or as held-for-
trading, or designated as at fair value through profit or loss.
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus
directly related transaction costs. They are subsequently
measured at amortised ¢ost using the efflective interest method
{see accounting policy 3 above) less any impairment losses.

Available-for-sele - financial assets that are not classified as
held-to-maturity; held-for-trading; designaied as at fair value
through prafit or loss; or loans and receivables are classified
as available-for-sale. Financial assels can be designated as
available-for-sale on inifial recognition. Avaitable-for-sale
financial assets are inifially recognised at fair value plus
directly related transaction costs. They are subseguently
measured at fair value. Unquoted equity investments whose
fair value cannot be measured reliably are carried at cost and
classified as available-for-sale financial assets. Impairment
losses and exchange differences resulting from retranslating
the amortisec cost of currency monetary availabte-for-sale
financial agsets are recognised in profit or loss together with
interest calculated using the effective interest method (see
accounting policy 3 above). Other changes in the fair value of
available-for-sale financial assets are reported in a separate
component of shareholders’ equity until disposal, when the
cumulative gain or loss is recognised in profil or loss.

Regular way purchases of financial assets classified as loans
and receivables are recognised on settlement date; all other
regular way purchases are recognised on trade date.

Fair value for a nat open posiion in a financial asset that is
quoted in an active market is the current bid price times the
number of units of the instrument held. Fair valizes for financial
assets not quoted in an active market are determined using
appropriate valuation techniques including discounting future
cash flows, option pricing models and other methods that are
consistent with accepted economic methodologies for pricing
financial assets.

12. Impairment of financial assels

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there
is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets classified as hetd-to-maturity, available-for-sale
or lpans and receivables is impaired. A financial asset or
pertfalio of financial assets is impaired and an impairment loss
incurred if there is objective evidence that an event or events
since initia! recognition of the asset have adversely affected
the amount or timing of future cash flows from the asset.

Annual Report and Accounts 2006

W
2
&
_o

o

-3

(=
-

=

=

[=]

(%]

[¥)

<




Accounting policies continued

Financial assels carried al amortised cost - if there is
objective evidence that an impairment loss on a financial asset
or group of financial assets classified as loans and receivables
or as held-to-maturity investments has been incurred, the
Group measures the amount of 1he loss as the difference
between the carrying amount of the asset or group of assets
and the present value of estimated future cash flows from the
asset or group of assels discounted at the effective interest
rate of the instrument at initial recognition. Impairment losses
are assessed individually for financial assets that are
individually significant and individually cr collectively for assets
that are nat individually significant. In making collective
assessment of impairment, financiat assets are grouped into
portfolios on the basis of similar isk charactenstics. Future
cash flows from these portfolios are estimated on the basis of
the contractual cash fiows and historical koss experience for
assets with similar credit risk characteristics. Historical loss
experience is adjusted, on the basis of current observable
data, to reflect the effects of current conditions not affecting
the period of historical experience. Impairment losses are
recognised in profit or foss and the carrying amount of the
financial asset or group of financial assets reduced by
establishing an allowance for impairment losses. If ina
subseguent period the amount of the impairment foss reduces
and the reduction can be ascribed to an event afier the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 10ss is
reversed by adjusting the allowance. Once an impairment oss
has been recognised on a financial asset or group of financial
assets, interest income is recognised on the carrying amount
using the rate of interest at which estimated future cash flows
were discounted in measuring impairment.

Financial assels carried al fair value —when a decline in the
fair vaiue of a financial asset classified as available-for-sale
has been recognised directly in equity and there is cbjective
evidence that the asset is impaired, the cumulative loss is
removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss. The loss
is measured as the difference between the amortised cos! of
the financial asset and its current fair value. Impairment losses
on available-for-sale equity instruments are not revarsed
through profit or loss, but those on available-for-sale gebt
instruments are reversed, if there is an increase in fair value
that is objectively related to a subseguent event.

13. Financial liabilities

On initial recognition a financial liability is classified as held-for-
trading if it is incurred principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term, or forms part of a perifolio of financial
instruments that are managed together and for which there is
evidence of short-term profit taking, or it is a derivative (not in
a qualifying hedge relationship). Held-for-trading financial
liabilities are recognised at fair value with transaction costs
being recognised in profit or loss. Subsequently they are
measured at fair value. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss as they arise.
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Financial liabilities that the Group designates on initial
recognition as being at fair value threugh profit or loss are
recognised at fair value, with iransaction costs being
recognised in profit or loss and are subsequently measured at
fair value. Gains and losses on financial fiabilities that are
designated as at fair vakue through prefit or loss are recognised
in profit or loss as they arise.

Financial liabilities may be designated as al fair value through
profit or loss only if such designation (a) eliminates or
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency; of (b) applies to a group of financial assets,
financiaf liabilities or both that the Group manages and
aevaluates on a fair vatue basis; or {c) relates 10 an instrument
that contains an ermbedded derivative which is not evidently
closely related to the host contract.

The principal category of financial Babilities designated as at
fair value through prefit or loss is struciured liabiliies issued by
the Group: designation significantly reduces the measurement
Inconsistency between these liabilities and the related
derivalives carried at fair value.

All gther financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method (see accounting policy
3 above).

Fair value for a net open position in a financial liability that is
quoted in an active market is the current effer price times the
number of units of the instrument held or issued. Fair values
for financial liabilities not quoted in an active market are
determined using appropriate valuation techniques including
discounting future cash flows, option pricing models and other
methods that are consistent with accepled economic
methodologies for pricing financial liabilities.

14, Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when it has been transferred
and the transfer qualifies for derecognition, A transfer reguires
that the Group either: (a) transfers the contractual rights to
receive the asset's cash flows; or (b} retains the right to the
assetl’s cash flows but assumes a contraciual obligation to pay
those cash flows to a third party. After a transfer, the Group
assessas the extent tg which it has retained the risks and
rewards of ownership of the transferrad assel. If substantially
all the risks and rewards have been retained, the asset
remains on the balance sheet. If substantially all of the risks
and rawards have been transferred, the asset is derecognised.
If substantially all the risks and rewards have been neither
retained nor transferred, the Group assesses whether or not it
has retained control of the asset. If it has not retained control,
the asset is derecognised. Where the Group has retained
control of the asset, it continues to recognise the asset to the
extent of its continuing involvement.

A financial liabiity is removed from the balance sheet when the
obligation is discharged, or cancelled, or expires.



15. Capital instruments

The Group classifies a financial instrument that it issues as a
financial asset, financial liability or an equity instrument in
accordance with the substance of the contraciual
arrangement, An instrument is classified as a liability if itis a
coniractual obligation te deliver cash or another financia! asset,
or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities on
potentially unfavourable terms. An instrument is classified as
equity if it evidences a residual interest in lhe assets of the
Group after the deduction of liabilities. The componenls of a
compound financial instruyment issued by the Group are
classified and accounted for separately as financial assets,
financial liabilities or equity as appropriate.

16. Derivatives and hedging

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially, and
subsequently measured, at fair value. Derivative fair values are
determined from quoted prices in active markets where
availabte. Where there is no active markel for an instrument,
fair value is derived from prices for the derivative's components
using appropriate pricing or valuation models.

A derivative embedded in a contract is accounted for as a
stand-alone derivative if its economic charactenistics are not
closely relaled to the economic characteristics of the host
contract; unless the entire contract is carried at fair value
through profit or loss.

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of a
derivative are recognised as they arise in profit or loss unless
the derivative is the hedging instrument in a qualifying hedge.
There are three types of hedge relztionship: hedges of
changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or
firrm commitment (fair valua hedges); hedges of the variability
in cash flows from a recognised asset or liability or a forecast
transaction (cash flow hedges); and hedges of the net
investment in a foreign opatation.

Hedge relationships are formally documented at inception. The
documaniation includes identification of the hedged item and
the hedging instrument, details the risk that is being hedged
and the way in which effectiveness will be assessed at
inception and during the period of the hedge. If the hedge is
not highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash
flows attributable 10 the hedged risk, consistent with the
documented risk management strategy, hedge accounting is
discontinued.

Fair value hedge - in a fair value hedge, the gain or loss on the
hedging instrument is recognised in profit or loss. The gain or
loss on the hedged item atiributable to the hedged risk is
recognised in profii or loss and adjusts the carrying amount of
the hedged item. Hedge accounting is discontinued if the
hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or if
the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or
exercised or if hedge desigration is revoked. If the hedged
item is one for which the effective interest rate method is used,
any cumulative adjustment is amortised to profit or loss over
the life of the hedged item using a recalculated effective
interest rate.

Cash flow hedge — where a derivative financial insirument is
designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a
recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast
transaction, the effective porticn of the gain or foss en the
hedging instrument is recognised directly in equity. The
ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss. When the
forecas! transaction results in the recognition of a financial
asset or financial liabllity, the cumulative gain or loss is
reclassified from equity in the same periods in which the asset
or liability affects profit or loss. Otherwise the cumulative gain
or loss is removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss
at the same time as the hedged transaction. Hedge
accounting is ciscontinued if the hedge no longer meets the
criteria for hedge accounting; if the hedging instrument expires
or Is sold, terminated or exercised; if the forecast transaction is
no longer expected to occur; or if hedge designation is
revoked. Cn the discontinuance of hedge accounting {(except
where a forecast transaction is no longer expecied to occur),
the cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity is
recognised in profit or loss when the hedged cash flow occurs
or, if the forecast transaction resulis in the recognition of a
financial asset or financial liability, in the same pericds during
which the asset or liability affacts profit or loss. Where a
forecast transaction is no fonger expected to occuy, the
cumulative unrealised gain or loss is recognised in profil or
loss immediately.

Hedge of net investment in a foreign operation —where a
foreign currency liability hedges a net investment in a foreign
operation, the portion of foreign exchange differences arising
on translation of the liakility determined to be an effective
hedge is recognised directly in equity Any ineffective portion is
recognised in profit or loss.

17. Invesiment property

Investmeant groperty comprises freehold and leasehold
properties that are held to earn rentals or for capital
appraciation or both. It is not depreciated but is stated at fair
value based on valuations by independent registered valuers.
Fair value is based on current prices for similar properties in
the same location and condition. Any gain or loss arising from
& change in fair valua is recognised in profit or loss. Rental
income from investment property is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease. Leasa incentives granted
are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income.

1R. Cash and cash aquivalenis

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash and demand
deposits with banks together with short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily canvertible to known amounts of
cash and subject to insignificant risk of change in value.

19. Shares 11 Group entities
The Bank's investments in its subsidiaries are stated at cost
less any impairment.
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Accounting policies continued

Critical accounting policies and key sources of accounting
judgements

The reported results of the Group are sensitive tc the
accounting peticies, assumptions and estimates that underlie
the preparation of iis financial statements. U company law
and IFRS require the directors, in preparing the Group's
financial statements, to select suilable accounting policies,
apply them consistently and make judgements and estimates
that are reascnable and prudent. In the absence of an
applicable standard or interpretation, IAS 8 ‘Accounting
Poligies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’,
requires management to develop and apply an accounting
policy that results in relevant and reliable information in the
light of the requirements and guidance in IFRS dealing with
similar and related issues and the lASB’s Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements. The
judgements and assurnptions involved in the Group's
accounting policies that are considered by the Board to be lhe
most important {o the portrayal of its financial condition are
discussed below,. The use of estimates, assumptions or models
that differ from those adopled by the Group would affect its
reported results,

Loan impalrment provisions

The Group’s {oan impairment provisions are established to
recognise incurred impairment losses in its portfolio of loans
classified as loans and receivables and carried at amortised
cost. A lozan is impaired when there is objective evidence that
events since the loan was granted have affected expected
cash flows from the loan, The impairment [oss is the difference
between the carrying value of the loan and the present valug
of estimated future cash flows at the loan's original effective
interest rate.

At 31 December 2006, gross loans and advances to
customers totalled £184,470 million {2005 - £161,971 million}
and custcmer logn impairment provisicns amounted to £2,059
millian (2005 - £2,028 million}.

There are two coamponents to the Group's loan impairment
provigions: individual and collective.

individug! component - all impaired loans that exceed specific
thresholds are individually assessad for impairment.
Individually assessed loans principally comprise the Group's
portiolio of cemmercial toans to medium and large businesses.
Impairment losses are recognised as the difference between
the carrying value of the loan and the discounted value of
managemsent's best estimate of fulure cash repayments and
proceeds from any security held. These estimates take into
account the customar's debt capacily and financial flexibility;
the level and quality of its earnings; the amount and sources of
cash flows; the industry in which the counterparty operates;
and the realisable value of any security held. Estimating the
quantum and timing of future recoveries invelves significant
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judgement. The size of receipts will depend on the future
performance of the borrower and the value of security, both of
which will be affected by future economic conditions;
additiohally, collateral may not be readily marketable. The
actual amount of future cash flows and the date they are
received may differ from these estimales and consequently
actual losses incurred may differ from those recognised in
these financial statements.

Callective component — this is made up of two elements: loan
Impairment provisions for impaired loans that are below
individua! assessment thresholds {coltective impaired loan
provisions) and for loan losses that have been incurred but
have not been separately identified at the balance sheet date
(latent toss provisions). These are established on a portfolio
basls using a present value methodology taking into account
the level of arrears, security, past loss experience, credit
scores and defaults based on portfolio trends. The most
significant faclors in establishing these provisions are the
expected loss rates and the refated average life. These
portfolios include credit card receivables and other personal
advances including mortgages. The future credit quality of
these portfolios is subject to uncertainties that could cause
actual credit losses Lo differ materially from repaorted loan
impairment provisions. These uncertainties include the
economic environment, notably interest rates and their effect
on customer spending, the unemployment level, payment
behaviour and bankruptcy trends.

Pensions

The Group operates a number of defined benefil pension
schemes as described in Note 3 on the accounts. The assets
of the schemes are measurad at their fair value at the balance
sheet date, Scheme liabilities are measured using the
projected unit method, which takes account of orojected
earnings increases, using actuarial assumptions that give the
best estimate of the fulure cash flows that will arise under the
scheme lishilities. These cash flows are discounted at the
interest rate applicable to high-quality corporate bonds of the
same currency and term as the liabilities. Any surplus or deficit
in excess of 10% of the greater of scheme assets and scheme
liabilities is recognised in the balance sheet as an asset
(surplus) or liability (deficit). In determining the value of
scheme liabilities, assumptions are made as to price inflation,
dividend growth, pension increases, earnings growth and
employees, There is a range of assumplions that could be
adopted in valuing the schemes’ liabilities. Different
assumptions could significantly alter the amount of the deficit
recognised in the balance sheet and the pension cost charged
1o the income statement. The assumptions adopted for the
Groupr's pension schemes are set out in Note 3 on the
accounts. The pension deficit recognised in the balance sheet
at 31 December 2006 was £1,298 million (2005 - £1,235 million).




Fair value

Financial instruments classified as held-for-trading or
designated as at fair value through prefit or loss and Rnancial
assets classified as available-for-sale are recognised in the
financial statements at fair value. All derivatives are measured at
fair value. In the balance sheel, financial assets carned at fair
value are includec within Treasury and other eligible bills, Loans
and advances to banks, Loans and advances {o customaers,
Debt securities and Equily shares as approptiate. Financial
liabilities carried at fair value are included within the captions
Deposits by banks, Customer accounts, Debt securities in issue
and Subordinated fiabilities. Derivative assets and Derivative
liabilities are shown separalely on Lhe face of the balance
sheets. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
financial instruments classified as held-for-trading or designated
as at fair value through profit er loss are included in the income
staternent. Unrealised gains and Josses on available-for-sale
financial assels are recognised directly in equity unless an
impairment loss is recognised. The carrying value of a financial
asset or a financial liability carried at cost or amortised cost that
is the hedged item in a qualifying fair value hedge relationship
is adjusted by the gain or loss attributable to the hedged risk.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be
exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowiedgeable,
willing parties In an arm's length transaction. Fair values are
determined by reference to observable market prices where
available and reliable. Where representative market prices for
an instrument are not avallable or are unreliable because of
poor liquidity, the fair value is derived from prices for its
components using appropriate pricing or valuation models that
are based on independently sourced market parameters,
including interest rate yield curves, option volatilities and
currency rates. Financial assets carried at fair value include
government, asset backed and corporate debt securities,
reverse repos, loans, corporate equity shares and derivatives.
Financial liabilities carried at fair value include deposits, repos
and short positions in securities. Fair value for a substantial
propartion of these instruments is based on observable market
prices or derived from observable market parameters. Where
observable prices are not available, fair value is based on
appropriste valuation techniques or management estimates.

The Group's derivative products include swaps, forwards,
futures and options. Exchange traded instruments are valued
using quoted prices. The fair value of over-the-counter
instruments is derived from pricing models which lake account
of contract terms, including maturity, as well as quoted market
paramelers such as interest rates and volatilities. Most of the
Group's pricing models do not entail material subjectivity
because ihe methodologies utilised do not incorporate
significant judgement and the parameters included in the
models can be calibrated lo actively guoied market prices.
Values established from pricing models are adjusted for credit
risk, liquidity risk and future servicing costs.

A negligible propertion of the Group's trading derivatives are
valued directly from quoted prices, the majority being valued
using appropriate valuation techniques. The fair value of
substantially all securilies positions carried at fair value is
determined directly from guoted prices.

Details of financial instruments carried at fair value are given in
Note 33 on the accounts.

Accounting developments

iniernaticnal Financiai Reporting Standards

The IASB issued IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures' in
August 2005. The standard repiaces (AS 30 Disclosures in the
Financial Statements of Banks and Simitar Financial
Institutions’ and the disclosure provisions in [AS 32. IFRS 7
requires disclosure of the significance of financial instruments
far an entity’s financial position and performance and of
qualitative and guantitative information about exposure to risks
arising from financial instruments. The standard is effective for
annual periods beginning on ar after 1 January 2007.

In August 2005, the IASB issued an amendment, ‘Capital
Disclosures’ to tAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements’.

It requires disclosures about an entity’s capital and the way

it is managed. This amendment is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

The Group is reviewing IFRS 7 and the amendments to IAS 1
to determine their effect on its financial reparting.
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Accounting policies continued

The Interngtional Financial Reporting Interpretations Comrnittee
('IFRIC") issued interpretation IFRIC 9 'Reassessment of
Embedded Derivatives' in March 2006, Entities are required to
assess financial instruments for the existence of embedded
derivatives, this interpretation prohibits subsequent
reassessmenl unless lhere is a change of terrs that
significantly changes the terms of the financial instrument. The
interpretation is effective for accounting periods starting on or
after 1 June 2006 and is not expected to have a material effect
on the Group or Bank.

The IFRIC issued interpretation IFRIC 10 ‘Interim Financial
Reporting and Impairment’ in July 2006, Entities recognising
an impairment of an intangible asset, gocdwill or a financial
asset in their interim financia! statements are not allowed to
reverse that impairment if the asset had recovered its value at
the next reporting date. The interpretation is effective for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 November 2006
and Is not expected to have a material effect on the Group or
Bank,

The IFRIC issued interpretation IFRIC 11 ‘Group and Treasury
Share Transaclions' in November 2006. Entities which buy their
own shares, or whose shareholders buy shares in the reporting
enlity, in order lo provide incenlives to employees shall account
for those incentives on an equity-seltled basis. This principle
applies also to the accounting by subsidiaries. The
interpretation is effective for annuat accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 Mareh 2007 and is not expected 1o
have a material effect on the Group or Bank.

The IFRIC issuad interpretation [FRIC 12 ‘Service Concession
Arrangements’ in December 2006, Entities providing
infrastructure and services lo governments under concession
arrangements shall account for each compeonent of the
arrangement separately. Infrastructure provided under these
arrangemenis may be recognised as either a financial asset or
an intangible asset. The interpretation is effective for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008 and
is not expected to have a material effect on the Group or Bank.

The tASB issued iFRS 8 'Operaling Segmenis” in December 2006.
This will replace [AS 14 'Segment Reporling’ for accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. IFRS B is very
similar to US Statemnent of Financia) Accounting Standard No.
131 "Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
tnformation’ and requires entities to report segment information
as reported to management and reconcile it to the financial
statements. Disclosures required by SFAS 131 are included on
pages 69 to 71.
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Consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2006

2006 Ciscontinued” Om!inu‘;:;“

Rt im Em £m
Interest receivable 9,825 203 3,289
Inierest payable (5,376) 9 {4,041
Met interest income 4,449 212 4,249
Fees and commissions receivable 3,928 43 3,663
Fees and cormmissions payable (960) (343 928)
Income from trading activities 1 1,458 — 808
Other operaling income 451 — 535
Non-interast income 4,877 9 4,180
Total income 9,326 221 8,429
Staff costs 1,754 — 1.477
Premises and egquipment 266 e 114
Qther administrative expenses 2,741 70 2,440
Depreciation and amortisation 257 — 382
Operating expenses 2 5,018 70 4413
Profit before impairment fosses 4,308 151 4,016
Impairment losses 15 B52 4 752
Operating profit befors tax 3,456 147 3,264
Tax 5 831 44 a04
Operating profit after tax 2,625 103 2,360
Discontinued operations — 103
Profit for the year 2,625 2,463
Profit attributable to:
Minarity interests 39 17
Ordinary shareholders 2,586 2,446
2,625 2,463

* the Group transferred its home mortgage finance business, National Westminster Home Loans Limited, to The Royal Bank of Scotland

plc on 31 December 2005 al neither a profit nor a loss.
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Balance sheets at 31 December 2006

Broup Bank
2006 20015, 2006 U,
Nowe £m Em £m Em
Assets
Cash and balances at central banks 1,525 1.568 B76 894
Treasury and other eligible bills subject to repurchase agreements 31 225 Fed — -
Other treasury and other eligible bilts 50 48 — —
Treasury and other eligible bills g 275 770 — —
Loans and advances (o banks 10 61,563 55995 25006 20,829
Loans and advances lo cuslomers 11 182,411 159,943 108,496 97,569
Debt securities subject to repurchase agreements 31 29,346 26,607 — —
Other debt securities 2,922 2,138 42 51
Debt securities 12 32,268 28,745 42 51
Equity shares 13 1,158 823 50 —
Investments in Group undertakings 14 — — 6,758 6,633
Intangitle assels 16 1,209 1.198 359 Mt
Progerty, plant and equipment 17 1,719 1,531 1,009 1,044
Seltlement batances 3,574 3,931 — —
Derivatives 18 2,746 2.976 1,400 1,203
Prepaymenis, accrued income and other assets 19 2,213 3,123 705 1,564
Total assets 290,661 260,603 145701 130,134
Liabllitles
Deposits by banks 20 46,258 46,001 6,438 5310
Customer accounts 21 181,219 157,924 125095 109,942
Debt securilies in issue 22 14,335 10,801 29 38
Settlement balances and short positions 23 24274 21,574 — —_
Derivatives 18 2,343 2,857 1,145 1,129
Accruals, deferred income and other liabilities 24 4,108 3.579 %231 1,464
Retirement benefit iiabilities 3 1,298 1,235 1110 1.041
Suberdinated liabilities 26 5,641 6,648 4,583 5501
Tota! liabllities 279476 250,419 139631 124425
Equity
Minority inerests 27 1,012 744 — -
Shareholders® equity
Called up share capital 2B 1,678 1,678 1.678 1,678
Reserves 28 8,495 7762 4,392 4,031
Total equity 11,185 10184 6,070 5,709
Total liabilities and eqguity 290,661 280,603 145701 130,134

The accounts were approved by the Board of directors on 28 March 2007 and signed on ils behalf by:

Sir Tom McKillop Sir Fred Goodwin Guy Whittaker
Chairman Group Chief Executive Group Finance Director
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Statements of recognised income and expense for the year ended 31 December 2006

Group Bank
2006 005 2006 S
£m £m £m e

Avaliable-for-sale investments
Net vatuation gains taken direct 1o equity 81 38 44 33
Net prafit Laken Lo income on sales (55) {324) — (3203
Cash flow hedges
Net (losses)/gains taken direct to equity {2) — 13 (3%
Net gains taken to earnings (39) {28) {28) (13
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (491) 180 3] {5}
{Expense)/income before tax on ilems recognised direct in equity {506) {134) 35 {344;
Tax on ilems recognised direct in equily (43) 106 (50) 110
Net expense recognised direct in eguity (549) (28) (15) {2343
Profit for the year 2,625 2,483 1,688 1,774
Total recognised income and expense for the year 2,076 2,435 1,673 1,540
Attributable to:
Equity shareholders 2,045 2429 1.673 1,540
Minority interests 31 15 — —

2,076 2,435 1,673 1,540

Effect of changes in accounting policies on impiementation of IFRS

Equity sharehciders — {1,768) —_ 4,619
Minority Interests — (6 — i
— [1,774) — (4,619)
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Cash flow statements for the year ended 31 December 2006

Grerip Bauk

2005 2005 2006 e
— 2513 £m £ £m Em
Operating activities
Operating profit before tax 3,456 3,411 1,963 2,315
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 257 352 202 376
Interest on subordinated liabilities 310 304 271 283
Charge for defined benefit pension schemes 229 143 168 97
Cash contribution to defined benefit pension schemes {135) {1,607} {70) (976}
Elimination of foreign exchange differences 1,503 {2,178) 143 183
Other non-cash items {289) (1.007) 28 {1,070}
Net cash inflow from trading activities 5331 54 2,705 1,164
Changes in operating assets and liabilities 2,706 24,173 1,559 G.010
Net cash flows from operating setivities before tax 8,037 24,227 4,264 TS
Income taxes paid {1,157) {1,170} (588) (662)
Net cash flows from operating activities 35 6,880 23,057 3.676 6512
tnvesting activities
Sale and maturity of securities 1,489 1.600 85 851
Purchase of securities 874y  {1.322) (50} {80}
Sale of property, plant and equipment 268 333 265 302
Purchase of property, plan and eguipment {382} (281} {85) (R
Net investment in business interests and inlangible assels 36 {92) (168) (524) (167)
Net cash flows from investing activities 409 162 (319) BE7
Financing activities
Issue of subordinated liabilities 91 291 — —
Proceeds of minority interests issued 271 463 — —
Redemption of minority interests — {121j _ e
Capital contribution 188 — 188 —
Repayment of subordinated liabilities (719) {205 (590) (210}
Dividends paid {1,534) {365y (1,500) {3505
interest on subordinated liabiiities (313) (319)  (276) (297}
Net cash flows from financing activities (2,016) (261) (2178) (B5T)
Etfecis of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (2,237) 2,621 {240) 135
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,036 25579 939 6.677
Cash and cash equivalents 1 January 48,424 22845 18,588 11.611
Cash and cash equivalents 31 December 51,460 48,424 19,527 18,588

*restated (see Note 46).
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Notes on the accounts

1 Income from trading activites Grmp
£m om

Foreign exchange (1} 585 (33}
interest rates {2) 352 367
Credit (3 589 562
Equities and commodities (4 {78) {B8)
1,458 508

The analysis of trading income is based on how the business is organised and the underlying risks managed:; 2005 has been
restated to reflect this. The total income from trading activities is unchanged.

Ngtes:

Trading income comprises gains ard losses on finencial instrumants held for trading, both realised and unrealissd, interest income and dividends and the relaled funding costs.

The types of instrumenls include:

{1} Foreign exchange: spot foreign exchange contracls, currency swaps and options, emarging markets and related hedges and funding.

(2) Interest rates: interest rate swaps, forward loreign exchange contracts, forward rats agreements, interest rate options, interest rate futures and related hedges and funding.

{3} Credil: asset-backed securities, cezporate bonds, credit derfvatives and related hedges and funding.
(4) Equities and commodiies: equity derivatives, commadity contracts and related hedges and funding.

2 Operating expenses

Wages, salaries and cther staff costs 1,438 1,246
Social security costs 78 C
Pension costs
- defined benefit schemes 229 149
— defined contribution schemes 9 12
Staff costs 1,754 1477
Premises and equipment 266 114
Qther administrative expenses 2,741 2,510
Properly, plant and equipment (see Nole 17) a8 ins
Inlangible assets {see Nole 16) 159 277
Degpreciation and amortisation 257 382
5,018 4,483

Integration costs included in operating expenses comprise expendiiure incurred in respect of cost reduclion and revenue
enhancement targets set in connection with the various acqguisitions made by the Group:

Staff costs

Premises and equipment
Other administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortisation 5

131

162
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Notes on the accounts continued

2 QOperating expenses (continued}
The average number of persons employed by the Group during the year, excluding temparary staff, was 31,000 (2005 - 30,000).
The number of persons employed by the Group at 31 December, excluding lemporary staff, was as follows:

Group

2006 2005

Global Banking & Markets 1,300 1,100

Retail 20,500 21,000

Wealth Managememt 3,100 2,800

Ulster Bank 4,800 4 500

Manufacturing 1,300 1.200

Tatal 31,000 30,600

UK 24,100 24,300

USA 1,300 1,100

Europe 5,200 4,900

Rest of the World 400 300

Total 31,000 30,600

Banik

2006 2005

£m £m

Wages, sataries and other staff costs 429 380

Social securily costs 29 27
Pension costs (see Note 3)

- defined benefit schemes 168 97

- defined contribution schemes — 4

Staff costs 626 50A

The average number of persons employed by the Bank during the year, excluding temporary staff, was 20,700 (2005 - 20,600}
The number of persons employed by the Bank at 31 December, excluding lemporary staff, was as follows:

HBark

2008 205
Relail 19,700 20,200
Wealth Management 600 600
Totat 20,300 20,800
UK 20,300 20,800
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3 Pension costs

The Group operates a number of pension schemes which are
predominantly defined benefit schemes whose assels are
independent of the Group’s finances. The Bank is legally the
sponsoring employer of The Royal Bank of Scotland Group
Pension Scheme ('Main scheme’). This scheme operates on
the basis that other members of the Group are reguired lo
remit contributions to the scheme based on a level of
contributions agreed annually with the scheme's aciuaries.
Since October 2006, the Main sgcheme has been closed to
new entrants.

In addition 1o the Main scheme, the Group operates a
number of other UK and overseas pension schemes. It also
provides other post-retirement benefits, principally through

subscriptions 1o private healthcare schemes in the UK and the
Republic of Ireland and unfunded post-retirement benefit plans.
Pravision for the costs of these benefits is charged to the
income statement over the average remaining future service
lives of the eligible employees. The amounts are not material.

The corridor method of accounting permils the Bank to defer
recognition of actuartal gains and losses that are within 10%
of the larger of the fair value of plan assets and present
value of defined benefit obligations of the schemes, on an
individual scheme basis, at the reporting dale. Any excess
variations are amortised prospectively over the average
remairing service lives of current members of the schemes,

Interim valualions of the Group's schemes were prepared (o 31 December by independent actuares, using the following assumptions:

Principal actuarial assumptions at 31 December (weighted average)

roup Bank
2006 2055 2006 2005

Discount rate

Expected return on plan assels

Rate of increase in salaries

Rale of increase in pensions in payment
Inflation assumption

5.3% 48% 5.3% 4.8%
6.9% 6.5% 6.9% 8.5%
4.1% 3.8% 4.2% 3.9%
2.9% 2.7% 2.9% 2.7%
2.9% 21% 2.9% 2.7%

Malor classes ¢f plan assels as a petcentage of lotal plan assets

Group Bark
2006 22X 2006 N5

Equities

Index-linked bonds

Government fixed interest bonds
Corporale and other bonds
Property

Cash and other assets

60.5% 61.4% 80.5% 61.3%
16.7% 17.5% 17.3% 18.1%
3.0% 23% 2.5% 1.8%
13.8% 14.4% 14.0% 14.6%
4.6% 3.8% 4.3% 3.6%
1.4% 0.6% 1.4% 0.6%

Ordinary shares of lhe holding company with a fair value of £87 million (2005 — £76 million) are held by the Group’s pension schemes

together with holdings of other financial instruments issued by the Group with a value of £258 million {2005 - £299 millicn).

The expected return on plan assets at 31 December 2006 Is based upon the weighled average of the following assumed returns con

the major classes of plan assets:

2006 2365 2006 2005

Equities

Index-tinked bonds

Government fixed interest bonds
Corporate and other bonds
Property

Cash and other assels

8.1% 1.7% 8.1% 7.7%
4.5% 4.1% 45% 4.1%
4.5% 4.0% 4.5% 41%
5.3% 4.85% 53% 4.8%
6.3% 5.9% 6.3% 59%
4.6% 4.1% 4.6% 4.2%

Post-retirement mortality assumptions (Main scheme)} 2006 2005 2004
Longevity at age 60 for current pensioners (years)

Males 26.0 25.4 254
Females 289 8.2 28.2

Longevity at age 60 for future pensioners (years)
Males
Females

26.8 26.2 26.2
29.7 29.0 29.0
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Notes on the accounts continued

3 Pension cosls (continved) Creup Barix
Frogent Prazeni
valus ol valtus of
Fair vahie oetned husd Faif a6 delined Met
of plan beneflt i of plan be.nrm nension
Changes in value of nat gension liability %SE":E: Obﬁgmfr; ™ a&g: “’ﬂ“a“é‘rﬁ hb'g-
At 1 January 2005 14,236 17,894 3.658 13,568 16,922 3,353
Currency translation and other adjusiments {9) (14) (5) — — —_
Income statement:
Expected return 972 {972) 930 (230)
Interest cost 912 912 865 865
Curreni service cost 484 104 448 445
Less: direct contributions from cther scheme members (280) (2803 (289 (289)
Past service cost 3 3 3 3
Amortisation of net unrecognised actuarnial losses 2 2 — —
g72 1,121 149 G30 1.027 87
Actuarial gains and lpsses 1.639 2,321 682 1,556 2273 717
Acquisitions of subsidiaries v 2 2 — — —
Caontributions by employer 1,007 — {1,007) 978 — (978)
Contributions by other scheme members 145 145 e 154 154 —
Advances of contributions by other scheme members {750) (750) — (750) {750) —
Cantributions by pfan participants 3 3 e — — —
Benefits paid {528) {528} — (504) (504} —
Expenses included in service cost {18) (183 — (17) (17} —
Amortisation of net unrecognised actuarial josses (7} {2 — —
At 31 December 2005 15,697 20,174 3477 15,914 19,105 3,191
Unrecognised actuarial losses 2,242 2,150
Retirement benefit liabilities at 31 December 2005 1,235 1,041
Unfunded schemes liabilities included in post-retirement benefit liabilities 2t 11
At 1 January 2008 16,697 20,174 3,477 15,914 19,105 3,191
Currency translation and other adjustments (10) (40) (30) —_ (28) (28}
Income statement:
Expecled reiurn 1,023 (1,023) 1,022 {1,022)
Interest cost 938 938 219 919
Current service cost 597 597 571 571
Less: direct contributions from other scheme members (328) {328) (340) (340)
Past service cost 24 24 20 20
Amortisation of net unrecognised actuarial losses 21 21 20 20
1.023 1,252 229 1,022 1,190 168
Actuarial gains and losses 570 (1,156)  (1,726) 552 (1,077}  (1,629)
Disposat of subsidiaries — (1) (1) — —
Contributions by employer 135 — {135) 70 - (70)
Contributions by other scheme members 342 342 — 358 359 —
Benefils paid (517) (517) — (517) (547 —
Expenses included in service cost (27 (27} — {286) (26) —
Amartisation of net unrecognised acluarial losses (21) (21) (20) {20}
At 31 December 2006 18,213 20,006 1,793 17,374 18,986 1.612
Unrecognised actuarial losses 485 502
Retirement benefit liabililies at 31 December 2006 1,298 1,110
Unfunded schemes liabilities included in post-retirement benefil liabilities 26

-y
L]

The Group expects to contribute £442 million {Bank — £409 million) to its defined benefit pension schemes in 2007,
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2006 5 204 2002 2006 2005 2004 L3
History of defined benefits schemes £m Erm im 2 £m tm £ e
Present value of defined benefit obligations 20,006 20,174 17,594 14354 18986 19105 16,922 13.851
Fair value of plan assets 18,213 16,697 14,236 12,358 17,374 15014 13,569 11,787
Net deficit 1,793 3477 3658 1,896 1612 3191 3353 1,654
Experience losses on plan liabilities (" {55 (B11) (4) 41) (624}
Experience gains on plan assels 570 1,638 403 582 1,556 392
Actual return on pension schemes assats 1,593 2611 1,283 1,574 2486 1,230

4 Auditors’ remuneration

Armounts paid to the auditors for statuiery audit and other services were as follows: Groug
2006 s
£m £m
Fees payable to the Group's auditors for the audit of the Group's annual accounis 08 a8

Fees payable 1o the Group's auditors and their associates for other services to the Group:

- The audit of the company's subsidiaries pursuant 1o legislation 1.4 1.4
Total audit fees 2.2 2.0

Faes payable lo the Group's auditors for non-audit services are disclosed in the consolidated financiaf statements of The Royal Bank of
Scotland Group plc.
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Notes on the accounts continued

5 Yax Group
2006 200%
£m £m
Current taxation:
Charge for the year 1,095 1,142
Over provision in respect of prior periods {251) (68}
Relief for averseas taxation — (24}
844 1,060
Deferred taxation:
Credit for the year (42) {81)
Underi{over) pravision in respect of prior periods 29 (21)
Tax charge for the year B31 948

The aciual tax charge differs from the expected tax charge computed by applying the standard rate of UK corporation tax
of 30% as follows:

2006 2005
£m £m
Expected tax charge 1,037 1,023
Interest on subardinated debt not allowable for tax 12 1
Non-deductible items 158 59
Non-taxable items (35) (71)
Taxable foreign exchange movemnents {106) 35
Foreign profits taxed at other rates (23) {21}
Unutilised losses brought forward and carried forward 10 1
Adjustiments in respect of prior periods (222} (B9)
Actual tax charge for the year 831 9485
6 Profit attributable to preference shareholdars Group __
Finance cest  Finance oast
included mehuded
In intarpst in interest
payable rayatle
2006 205
£m im
9% non-cumulative sterling preference shares, Series A 13 13
Nan-cumulative dollar preference shares, Series B 11 I
Non-cumulative dollar preference shares, Series C 12 12
Total 36 36
Note:
{1) Following the implementation of IAS 32 on 1 January 2005, the Group's preference shares are now included in subordinated kabilities and the related finance cos? in infarest
payable.
7 Ordinary dividends Group
2006 a3
£m £m
Dividends paid on ordinary equity shares 1,500 350
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8 Profit dealt with in the accounts of the Bank
As permitted by section 230(3) of the Companies Act 1985, no income statement for the Bank has been presented as a primary
financial statement. Of the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders, £1,688 million (2005 - £1,774 million) has been dealt with in
the accounis of the Bank.

9 Treasury and other eligible bilis

Treasury bills &nd similar securities
Other eligible Gills

Helg-for-trading 225 724
Avaitable-for-sale 50 46
275 770

16 Loans and advances to banks

Graup Bank
2006 2005 2006 26
£m £m £m By
Held-for-trading 11,884 17,411 147 110
Designated as at fair value through profit or loss 654 825 —_ —_
Loans and receivables 49,025 37,759 24,859 20,719

61,563 85995 25006 20,829

Amounts above include:

Reverse repurchase agreements 10,793 13,138 — ——
Iltemns in the course of collection from other banks 2,306 2,071 2,108 1,929
Due from holding company 44 834 35714 21,6684 16,617
Due from fellow subsidiaries 24 143 24 7
Due from subsidiaries — — 641 1.027
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Notes on the accounts continued

1t Loans and advances to customers

Gigup Han

2006 2005 2006 2005
£ £m £m £m
Held-for-trading 21,935 15,897 1,056 34
Designated as at fair value through profit or loss 516 — — -
Loans and receivables 159,516 143,235 108,440 47,530
Finance leases 444 811 — —
182,411 159,943 109,496 97,569

Amounts above include:
Reverse repurchase agreements 19,459 15,036 — —
Due from ultimate holding company 737 B42 737 B4z
Due from fellow subsidiaries 35,358 31,838 34,119 29,327

Due from subsidiaries

_ — 4,143 1.878

Securitisations

The Group engages in securilisation fransactions of its
financial assets including commercial and residential mortgage
loans, commercial and residential mortgage related securities,
US Government agency collateralised mortgage obligations,
and other types of financial assets. In such transactions, the
assels, or interests in the assets, are transferred generally to a
special purpose entity ("SPE™) which then issues liabilities to
third party investors.

Contirued recognition

Securitisaticns may, depending on the individual arrangement,
result in continued recognition of the secunitised assets;
continued recognition of 1he assets 1o the extent of the
Group's continuing involvement in those assels; or
derecognition of the assets and the separate recognition, as
assets or liabilities, of any rights and obligations created or
relained in the transfer (see Accounting policy on page 14).
The Group has sacuritisations in each of these categories.

The table below sets out the asset categories together with the carrying amounts of the assets and associated liabilities.

Group
2006 25
Assel Iype Assels Liabiliies Acsedy Laniites
£m £m T £m

Residential mortgages (1)
Credit card receivables (2, 3)

5,550 5,547 2.388 2,366
1,384 1,286 1.232 1,232

Notes:

{1} Morigages have been transierred 10 special purpose vehicles, held vitimately by chantacie trusis, funded principally through the issue of Toaling rate notes. The Group has
enlared into arm's lenglh fixedMoating interesl rate swaps and cross-currency swaps with the securilisalion vehicles and provides morigage managemsnt end agency services
1o the vehicles. On repayment of the financing, any further amounls generatsd by the morigages will be paid To the Group.

{2) Credit cord receivabiles in tha UK have Leen securitised. Notes have been issusd by a special purposse vehicle. The note holders have a proportionate interast in a pool of credit
card racelvables that have baen squitably nssignad by tha Geoup lo a recaivables trust. The Group continues 1o be exposed to the risks and rewards of the transferred

receivables Lhrough its ight to excess spread (afler charge-otls).
{3} Bank and Group.

Continuing involvement

tn certain US securitisations of residential mortgages,
substantially all the risks and rewards have been neither
transferred nor retained, but the Group has retained control, as
defined by IFRS, of the assets and continues to recognise the
assets to the extent of its continuing involvement which takes
the form of retaining certain subcrdinatled bonds issued by the
securitisation vehicles. Thesa bonds have differing rights and,
depending on their terms, they may expose the Group to
interest rate risk where thay carry a fixed coupon or to credit
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risk depending on the extant of their subordination. Certain
bends entitle the Group to additional interest if the portfolio
perfarms better than expected and others give the Group the
right 10 prepaymemt penalties received on the securitised
mortgages. At 31 December 2006, securitised assets were
£37.3 billion {2005 - £39.8 billion); retained interests £930
million {2005 - £863 million); subordination assets £694 million
(2005 - £609 million) and related iabilities £694 million {2005 -
£609 million).



12 Debt securities Grean

governmll::l us
slate government Bankand  Mortgage-
UK and fegeral Other sponsored building backed
government agency governmenl antity society  securities(!) Corporale Other Tetal
2006 £m £m Em £m Em £m £m £m £m
Held-for-trading — 10,240 87 10,064 — 6,521 1,618 1 28,531
Designated as at fair value
through profit or loss 1,285 — a5 — 26 —_ 248 5 1,649
Avallable-for-sale — —_ 925 — 692 104 101 266 2,088
At 31 December 2006 1,285 10,240 1,097 10,064 718 6,625 1,967 272 32,268
Available-for-sale
Gross unrealised gains —_ —_ 4 —_ — — — — 4
Gross unreglised iosses — — (20) — {6) —_ (1) —_ {27)
2005
: Held-for-trading —_ 7.019 — B,109 — B.541 1,752 53 25474
| Designated as at fair value
1 through profit or loss 4 -— —_— — 5 — 394 — 403
Awvailable-for-sale — — B63 — 1,105 108 5 781 2,868
At 31 December 2005 4 7,019 869 8,109 1,110 8,648 Z,151 834 2B,745
Available-for-sale
Gross unrealised gains e - 2 — 2 — — — 4
Gross unrealised losses — — (8 — {3) e - — {11
Note:
{1) Excludes securities issued by US federal ngencies and government sponsored entities.
Gross gains of £2 miltion {2005 — £2 million} were realised by the Group on the sale of available-for-sale securities.
Bank
2005 2005
Other Othr
issuers Total igcusrs Teiai
£m £m £m Em
Held-far-trading 1 1 3 a
Available-for-sale L 41 48 48
At 31 December 42 42 51 51
|
|
| 13 Equity shares Geoup
2006 2065
Listad Unlisted Total Listect Untsrad Total
£m £m £m Em £m m
Held-for-trading 42 — 42 25 1 26
Designated as at fair value through profit or loss 38 — 36 39 e 39
Available-for-sale 22 1,058 1,080 17 741 758
| 100 1,058 1,158 81 742 823
Availabte-for-sale
Gross unrealised gains 15 44 59 1 11 12
Gross unrealised losses — (5) (5) — — —
1 15 39 54 1 11 12
Gross gains of £84 milion (2005 - £326 million) and gross No secutities were in an unrealised loss position far more than
losses of nil {2005 - £1 million) were realised by the Group 12 months.

on the sale of available-for-sale equity shares.
} Unquoted equity invesiments whose fair value cannot be reliably

Dividend inceme earned from availabte-for-sale equity shares measured are carried at cost and classified as available-for-
was £36 million (2005 — £48 mill:ion), sale inancial assets. They include invesiments in fellow

subsidiaries of £910 million (2005 — £634 million). Disposals in
At 31 December 2006, gress unrealised losses of £5 million the year generated gains of £31 million (2005 - £3 million).

represented 18 equity issues with a fair value of £24 million.
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Notes on the accounts continued

13 Equity shares (continued)

Bard
2006 2005
Listed Unlistad Tatal Listad Unsdigteve] Total
£m Em £m £m fm £in

Available-lor-sale 10 40 50

Available-for-sale
Gross unrealised gains 8 36 44

Disposals in the year of unquoled equity instruments classified as available-for-sale financial assels generated gains of £24 million (2005 — nil}.

14 lnvestments in Group undertakings
Invesiments in Group undertakings are carried at cost less impairment. Movements during the year were as follows:

3006 2005
Em Em
At 1 .January 6,633 6.253
Implementation of IAS 32 and 1AS 33 on 1 January 2005 _— 3
Currency translation and other adjustments {177) 140
Additions 622 —
Additional investments in group undertakings 719 218
Repayment of investments (1.022) {2
Disposa's — {7}
Increase in provisions {17} —_
At 31 December 6,758 6.633
Banks B9G 543
Other 5,862 £,030

The principal subsidiary undertakings of the Bank are shown beiow: Their capital consists of ordinary and preference shares, which
are unlisted, All of the subsidiary undertakings are owned direclly or indirectly through intermediate holding companies and are all
whaolly-owned. All of these subsidiary undertakings are included in the Group's consolidated financial statements and have an
accounting reference date of 31 December.

Cenmtry of mgorporation

Hare of ane prmcipst grod

bpiniss of ppertions

Coutts & Co () Private banking Great Britain
Greenwich Capital Markets, Inc. () Broker dealer us
Ulster Bank Limited (3 Banking Northern Ireland

Notes:
{1) Coults & Cois incorporated with untimitad lability. )L registered office is 440 Strand, London WC2R 0QS.
(2) Shares are nol directly hald by the Bank.
{3) Uister Bank Limitad and is subsiaiary undertakings also cparate in lha Republic of ireiand.

The above information is provided in refation to the principal related undertakings as permitted by section 231(5) of the Companies Act 1985.
Full information on all related undertakings will be included in the Annual Return filed with the UK Companies House.
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15 Impaired and past-due financial assets reup
2006 205
Net book Mt Doos
Cost Provision valim Cost Praasion valye
£m £m £ £m £ £
impaired financial assets
Loans and receivables and finance leases 2,984 1,865 1,119 2,798 1,828 969
Available-for-sale 11 2 9 10 4 6
2,995 1,867 1,128 2,808 1,633 975
Group
2006
£m
Impairmenl losses charged ta the income statement
Lozns and receivables and finance |eases (see table below) 852 753
Awvailable-for-sale — 3
Total 852 756
The following lable shows the movement in impairment allowances for loans and receivables and finance leases.
Grrip
Indvidually  Collactivety Totad
assessed assessed Latent 2006 3121
£rm £m £m Em £
At 1 January 257 1,571 203 2,031 1,940
Implementaticn of [AS 39 on 1 January 2005 - — — — 185
Currency translation and cther adjusiments 10 (1} (34) (25) 2y
Disposals of subsidiaries —_ —_ — —_ {f
Amounts written-off ¢ (54) (747) — (801} (818)
Recoveries of amounts previously written-off 8 B3 — " 56
Charged to the income statement 59 766 27 852 753
Unwind af discount {11) (56) — (67) (76)
At 31 December @ 269 1,596 196 2,061 2,031
Noles:
(1) Amaunts written-of include £2 milion in 2005 refating lo loans and advances 1o Banks.
{2} Impairment fosses al 31 Decamber 2006 inckide £2 million relaling ko Yoans and advances to banks (2005 - £3 mitlion).
Bank
2006 2005
Net book Met Book
Cost Provision valua Cast Preadslon value
£m £m £m £m d £m
Impaired financial assets
Loans and receivables and finance leases 2462 1,680 863 231 1.537 774
Eank
2006 A5
Em £m
Impatrment losses charged to the income statement
Loans and receivabies and finance leases (see wable below) 754 651
The following table shows the mevement in impairment allowances for loans and receivables and finance leases.
Bank
Individually  Collectively Tetal
assessed assessed Latent 2006 505
£m £m £m £m 2m
At 1 January 168 1,369 136 1,673 1.633
Implementation of IAS 39 on 1 January 2005 — e — — 177
Currency translation and other adjustments 12 {i) (32) (21} 5
Disposals of subsidiaries — — — — {17}
Armounts written-off (47) (655) — (702) (758)
Recoveries of amounts previously written-off 8 50 — 58 43
Charged to the income statement - 44 706 4 754 - 651
Unwind of discount {7} {48) —_ {55) (61)
At 31 December 178 1,421 108 1,707 1.673
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Notes on the accounts continued

16 Intangible assets Group

Cora Other Infernalty

deposit purchased generatedt
Goodwit  inlangbles  intangibles software Total
2006 £m Em fm £m £m

Cost:

At 1 Jdanuary 2006 760 25 29 1,682 2,496
Currency translation and other adjusiments {38) — —_ (1) (39)
Additians — — 1 229 230
Disposal of subsidiaries (3) _ — —_ (3)
Disposals and write-off of fully amortised assets — — — 17) (17)
AL 31 December 2006 719 25 30 1,893 2,667

Accumulated amortisation and impairment:

At 1 January 2008 — 7 5 1,286 1,298
Currency franslation and other adjustments — —_ 1 —_ 1
Charge for the year — 3 3 1583 159
Al 31 December 2006 — 10 9 1,439 1,458
Net book value at 31 December 2006 719 15 21 454 1,209
205
Cost:
At 1 January 2005 738 24 30 1,472 2,265
Currency translation and other adjusiments 7 1 {1 - ]
Acquisition of subsidiaries 40 e e - 40
Additions — — — 227 227
Disposals and wrile-off of fully amortised assets {12) — — {17} (29)
At 31 December 2005 760 25 29 1.682 2,496
Accumulated amortisation and impairment:
Al 1 January 2005 —_ 3 3 1.015 1.021
Currency translation and other adjustments — 1 (1)) — —
Charge for the year — 3 3 271 277
At 31 December 2005 — 7 5 1,286 1,298
Net book value at 31 December 2005 760 18 24 395 1,198
Barik
2006
Intarnally generated software £m
Cosl:
At 1 January 2006 1,622
Additions 159
At 31 December 2006 1,781
Accumulated amortisation and impairment:
Al 1 January 20068 1,275
Charge for the year 147
Al 31 December 2006 1,422
Net book value at 31 December 2006 359
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Bank

2005
Internally generated soltware j¥ig
Cost:
At 1 January 2005 1,442
Additicns 180
Al 31 December 2005 1,622
Accurmulated amortisation ang impairment:
Al 1 January 2005 1,008
Charge for the year 267
AL 31 December 2005 1,275

Net book value at 31 December 2005

The weighted average amorlisation period of purchased
intangitle assets, other than goodwill, subject io amorlisation
are:

Yesrs

347
The Group's amortisation expense in respect of core deposit

intangibles and olher purchased inlangibles for each of the
next five years is currently estimated tc be:

Core deposit intangitles 7
Other purchased inlangicles 10

Impairment review

2007
2008
2009
2010
2011

bcncncncng

The Group's goodwill acquired in business combinations is reviewed annually at 30 September for impairment by comparing the
recoverable amount of each cash generaling unit to which goodwill has been allocated with its carrying value. There was no

impairment recognised in 2006 or 2005,

Cash generating units where goodwill is significant were as follows:

Coodhwiil at 30 S2ptembar

2006 2005
Drvislon Eays £m £m
Global Banking & Markets Greenwich Fair value less costs to selt 100 —
Corporate Markets Greenwich Fair value less cosls to selt — 106
Wealth Management Bank Von Ernst Fair value less costs to sell 124 142
Ulster Bank First Active Fair value less costs to sell 409 411

On 1 January 2006 the Corporate Markets division was regrganised into Global Banking & Markets and UK Corperate Banking.

The recoverable amounts for all CGUs were based on fair value less costs to sell, Fair value was based upon a price-earnings
methodology using current earnings for each unit. Approximate price earnings multiples, validated against independent analyst
infarmation were applied (o each CGU. The muliiptes used for both 2006 and 2005 were in the range 7.0 — 13.0 times earnings

after charging manufacturing costs.
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Notes on the accounts continued

17 Property, plant and equipment G
Short  Computers Operating

Imve stment Freehakd leasehold leasehoid and other ease

properiies premises premises. pfemises  equipment assels Total
2006 Em £m Em £m £m £m £
Cost or valuation:
Al 1 January 2008 69 1,108 269 _ 44B 280 11 2,185
Currency translation and other adjustments )] (5) {1} (4} (1) (1) (23)
Reclassifications — 25 (41} 17 {1) — —
Additions 135 76 g 139 81 -— 440
Change in fair value of investment properties M —_ — — — — 4]
Disposals and write-off of fully depreciated assets —_ {115) (36) (4) (41) — {196}
Disposals of subsidiaries —_ —_ ~— )] (1) - (2}
Transfer to fellow subsidiary — — — {5) (1) (10} {16}
At 31 December 2008 202 1,089 200 500 306 — 2,387
Accumulated depreciatien and amortisation: ‘
At 1 January 2006 — 232 o8 142 181 1 654 ‘
Currency translation and other adjusiments — — — (2) (8) — (8)
Reclassifications — 3 (7} 4 — — — |
Disposals and write-off of fully depreciated assets — (6} (25) (3) (38) — (72)
Depreciation charge for the year — 30 5 34 29 — 98
Transfer to fellow subsidiary — — — (2) (1) (1} {4)
At 31 December 2006 — 258 71 173 165 — 668
MNe! book value at 31 December 2006 202 B30 129 417 141 — 1,719
x5
Cosl or valyation:
Al 1 January 2005 — 1,208 301 351 264 — 2,125
Currency translation and other adjustments s (15) 11 1 1 e (2}
Additions 6% 28 4] 127 40 1t 281
Disposals and write-oft of fully depreciated assels — (276} {49 (31} (25} — (381}
Transfer from fellow subsidiary —_— 162 — — — — 162
Al 31 December 2005 69 1,108 269 448 280 11 2,185
Accumulated depreciation and amortisation:
At 1 January 2005 — 183 101 131 168 — 583
Disposals and write-off of fully depreciated assets — {43} {10) (16) (30} — (89} |
Currency translation and other adjustments — 2 2 — 5 — 9
Transfer from fellow subsidiary —_ 56 — — — — 56
Depreciation charge for the year e 34 5 27 38 1 105
At 31 December 2005 — 232 98 142 131 1 654
Net book value at 3t December 2005 68 376 171 306 99 i0 1.531

Investment properties are valued to reflect fair value, that is,
the market value of the Group's interest at the reporting date

an equivalent overseas body. The 31 December 2006 valuation
for a significant majority of the Group's invesimenl properties

excluding any special terms or circumstances relating to the
use or financing of the property and transaction costs that
would be incurred in making a sale. Observed market data
such as rental yieid, replacement cast and useful life, reflect
relatively few transactions involving property that, necessarily,
is not identical to property owned by the Group.

Valuations are carried out by qualified surveyors who are
members of the Royal institution of Chartered Surveyors, or
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was undertaken by external valuers.

The fair vatue of investment preperiies does not include any
appreciation since purchase, Rental income from investment
properties was £5 million (2005 - nif).

Property, plant and equipment, excluding investment properiies
inciude £43 million (2005 — £51 million) assets in the course of
construction.



Barik

Lang Short  Compuiers

Freehgld lzasehold jeasehold and other

premises premises. premises  equipment Total
2008 £m £m £m £m
Cost or valualion:
At 1 January 2006 930 105 383 7 1,425
Additions 19 3 121 — 143
Oisposals and write-off of fully deprecialed assets (114) (10) (2) — (126)
Transfer 1o fellow subsidiary — —— (4) — {4)
At 31 December 2006 835 98 408 7 1,438
Accumutated deprectation and amortisation:
Al 1 January 2006 247 45 116 3 361
Disposals and write-off of fully depreciated assets 4 — (1) — (5}
Depreciation charge for year 26 2 27 — 55
Transfer to fellow subsidiary — — {2) — {2}
At 31 December 2006 239 47 140 3 429
Net book value al 31 December 2006 596 51 358 4 1,009
2005
Cost or valuation:
Al 1 January 2005 1,186 137 297 10 1,630
Additions 10 2 107 — 719
Disposals and write-off of fully depreciated assets {264) (34} {21) 3) (324)
Al 31 December 2005 930 105 383 7 1,425
Accumulated depreciaticn and amortisation:
Al 1 January 2005 228 48 104 3 383
Disposals and write-oft of fully depreciated assets 42 (6} (i)} (33 (61)
Charge for year 31 3 22 3 59
At 31 December 2005 217 45 116 3 381
Net book vatue al 31 December 2005 713 60 267 4 1,044

18 Derivatives

Companies in the Group enter into derivatives as principal
either as a trading activity or to manage balance sheet foreign
exthange, credit and interest rate risk. Derivalives include
swaps, forwards, futures and options. They may be traded cn
an organised exchange (exchange-traded) or over-the-counter
(OTC). Holders of exchange traded derivatives are generally
required to provide margin daily in the form of cash or other
collateral.

Swaps include currency swaps, interest rate swaps, credit
default swaps, total return swaps and equity and equity index
swaps. A swap is an agreement to exchange cash flows in the
future in accordance with a pre-arranged formula. In currency
swap lransactions, interest payment obligations are exchanged
on assets and liabilities denominated in different currencies;
the exchange of principal may be notional or actual. Interest
rate swap contracls generally involve exchange of fixed and
floating interest payment obligations without the exchange of
the undertying principal amounts,

Forwards include forward foreign exchange contracts and
forward rate agreements. A forward contract is a contract {o

buy (or sell) a specified amount of a physical or financial
commadity, at agreed price, on an agreed future date.
Forward foreign exchange contracts are contracts for the
delayed delivery of currency on a specified future date.

Forward rate agreements are contracts under which two
counterparties agree on the interest to be paid on a notional
deposit of a specified maturity at a specific future date, there
is no exchange of principal.

Futures are exchange-traded forward contracts to buy (or sell)
standardised amounts of underlying physical or financial
commodities. The Group buys and sells currency, interest rate
and equity futures.

Options include exchange-traded options on currencies,
interest rates and equities and equity indices and OTC
currency and equity options, interest rate caps and floors and
swaptions. They are contracts that give the holder the right but
not the obligatian to buy {or sell) a specified amount of the
underlying physical or financial commodity at an agreed price
on an agreed date or over an agreed period.
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Notes on the accounts continued

18 Derlvatives (continued)

Group
2006 2005
Nolgnal Metional
amounts Assets Llabililies MBS Assbty Lushifitles
Ebn Em im 1hn £m £m
Exchange rale contracls
Spot, forwards and futures 33 202 3n 14 238 220
Currency swaps 22 326 230 9 225 247
Options purchased 4] 275 — 4 128 —
Ogtions written 6 — 302 3 - B3
Interesl rate contracts
Interest rate swaps 408 1,721 1,428 340 1,871 1,728
Options purchased 174 a4 —_ 66 420 —_
Options written 116 — 43 71 — 392
Futures and forwards 196 — — 157 — —
Credit derivalives 12 15 28 4 8 15
Equity and commaodity contracts 1 163 1 1 858 1
2,746 2,343 2,876 2.657
Amounts above include:
Due fromito fellow subsidiarfes — —_— 728 751
Due fromite holding company 1,163 974 630 626
Bank
2008 2005
Notienal Haotezial
amounts Assels Lisbilites TR Astals Liabluthes
£bn Em £m £bn Em m
Exchange rate contracts
Spot, forwards and futures " 164 165 10 138 141
Currency swaps 1 118 3 1 115 21
Options purchased 6 272 — 3 80 —
Options written 6 — 272 2 s 80
Interesl rale contracls
Interest rate swaps 82 832 687 a3 a40 877
Options purchased 3 15 — 2 29 o
Qplions written 2 — 13 2 — 10
Cragit danvatives 4 —-— 4 i 1 —
Equity and commaodity contracts — 1 1 o — -
1,400 1,145 1,203 1.129
Included in the above are cash flow hedging derivatives as follows
Interest rale swaps —_ 27 —_ 42
Included in the above are fair value hedging derivatives as follows
Interest rate swaps 61 36 — —_
Amounts above inchlude:
Due fromfto holding company 763 540 626 626
Due fromito subsidiaries 67 46 54 262
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19 Prepayments, actrued Income and other assets

21

Grag Bk
2006 2005 2006 605
£m fm Em £m
Prepayments 147 76 52 45
Accrued income 142 366 24 275
Deferred taxation {see Note 25) 418 383 311 318
Other assets 1,456 2,288 218 926
2,213 3,123 705 1,564
Amopunts above include:
Due from holding company — — 11 —
Due from fellow subsidiaries 75 25 —_
Due from subsidiaries — — 6 —
20 Deposits by banks
Girgaans Bark
2006 2005 2006 5
£m £ £m em
Held-for-trading 6,770 8,588 328 1,237
Amortised cost 39,488 35,412 6,110 4,073
46,258 46,601 6,438 5,310
Ampunts above inciude:
Repurchase agreements 20,386 19,569 — —_
Itemns in the course of transmission to other banks 742 705 777 7861
Due to hotding cempany 20,871 18,885 4,242 1,865
Due to fellow subsidiaries 33 35 5 9
Due to subsidiaries — 366 950
Customer accounts
(=143 14 Bank
2006 2005 2006 X,
£m £ £m £m
Held-for-trading 8,665 16,372 196 1.560
Designated as at fair value through profit or loss 1,448 1,338 116 63
Amortised cost 171,106 146,213 124783 1063149
181,219 157,924 125095 109,942
Amourts above include:
Repurchase agreements 25806 20,684 — -
Due to ultimate holding company — 3 — e
Due to fellow subsidiaries 7,380 4,754 6,91 4,359
Due to subsidiaries — 8,575 5,668
22 Debt securities in issue
Groun Hrarik
2006 P 2008 205
£m £ Em om
Amortised cost 14,336 10,801 29 38
Amounts above include:
Bonds and medium term notes 4,656 1,070 29 38
Certificates of deposit and other commercial paper 9,679 9,731 —
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Notes on the accounts continued

23 Settlement balances and short positions

Group
2006 2035
£ £m
Settlement balances - amortised cost 2,978 3,075
Short positions — held-for-trading:
Debt securities — Gavernment 18,981 16,846
-~ Other issuers 2,022 1,347
Treasury and other eligible bills 239 288
Equity shares 54 18
24,274 21,574
24 Accruals, deferred income and other llabilities
Grovg: Bani.
2006 2005 2005 2005
£m Lan £m £
Notes in circulation 405 375 — e
Current taxation 136 393 10 289
Accruals 943 868 286 260
Deferred income 145 131 108 105
Deferred 1ax liability (see Maole 25) 11 33 _ —
Other liabililes 2,468 1,758 8§27 810
4,108 3,579 1,231 1,464
Amounts above include:
Due to holding company 27 — 10 —
Due 1o fellow subsidiaries — 15 17 —
Included in other liabilities are provisions for liabilities and charges as follows:
Group Bank
T aml | Tot
Em £m
At 1 January 2006 108 83
Currency translation and other movements - {1)
Charge to income slalement 72 72
Releases io income statement {15} {15)
Pravisions utilised {30) (20)
At 31 December 2006 135 119

Noie:
{1) Comprises property provisions and other provisions arising in the normal Course of business.
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25 Deferred taxation
Provision for deferred taxation has been made as follows:

Group Bank
2006 2005 2006 w5
Em £m £m £m
Deferredt tax liability (included in Accruats, deferred income and other liabilities, Note 24) 11 33 —_ —_
| Deferred tax asset (included in Prepayments, accrued income and other assets, Note 19) (418) (393} (311} {318}
‘ Net deferred tax (407) {360) (311) (318)
|
‘ Group
| Fer
| Acceierated vahm of
capital Doterred AS  fnanclel
Penaipn siowances  Provisions pans  banstion instruments  Intengiies  Hedging Othar Tom
Em £m £m Im £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2005 {601) 218 (232) 120 (131} B6 103 50 15 (372)
| Charge to income statement 51 {18 20 28) 4 (1) {72) — (2 (102}
Charge to equity directly — — — — — {78) — (20} —  {38)
Disposals of subsidiaries — — — — {7] — — —_ — 7}
Other 266 2 (& — - — — — 41 M9
At 1 January 2006 (340) 202 (220 92 (134) 7 3 30 (28) (360)
Charge to income statement (25) 32 65 & (96) {4) {3) 16 (7) {16)
Charge 1o equity directly —_ — _— - 2) {1 — {7} — {10
Acquisitions/{disposals) of subsidianes — (19) — — 2) —_ — —_ —  {21)
Qthar (18)  (11) 12 — (4) (1) — — 22 —
At 31 December 2006 (383) 204 (143) 98 (238) 1 28 39 (13) (407)
Bard:
Fair
‘ Accelermed vahue of
\ caprial Deterred a5 financial
Pongion  akowanci  Prodsions gans  ranstion nstumens Intwngibiss  Hadging Total
£m Em £m £m £m m £m £m m
Al 1 January 2005 (572; 121 (13§) 66 (134 a6 133 34 (402)
‘ Charge to income statement 4 (1) 17 10 — — {67) —  {37)
Charge to equity directly — —_ — - — {£6) — {24} {110)
Other 266 — — — — — {35) — 23
At 1 January 2006 (302) 120 (119) 76 (134) — 3t 10 (318)
Cherge to income statement (28) 39 95 6 {99) — (23) 17 7
Charge to equiiy directly — — — — — — —_ {3) (3)
Other 1 2 — — {1) — — 1 3
At 31 December 2006 (329) 161 (24) 82 (234) — 8 25 {311)
Notes:

{1) Deferrad tax asseis of £31 million {2005 - £5 million) have nat been recognised in respect of lax lossss carried forward of £88 millian {2005 - £13 million) Bs il is nol considerad
probable that taxable profits will arsa against which they could ba utitised, Of thase losses, £44 million will expire within one year, The batance of tax losses carded forward has
no ima Bmil

{2) Deferred Lax Uabillties of £484 millign (2005 - £633 milllon) have not been recognised in respect of retsined earnings of overseas subsidiarles and held-over galns on the
incorporation of overseas branches Retined earnings of overseas subsidiaries are expecied 1o be reinvested indefinilely or remitted (o the UK free from furlher taxation.
No taxation is expected to arise in the foreseeabls future in respect of held-gver gains.
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Notes on the accounts continued

26 Subordinated llabilities

Groug Bank
2006 25 2006 2005
£m Jxid £m £
Amortised cost 5,641 6,648 4,583 5.5M
Groug Bnk
2006 25 2006 2005
Em o £m £
Dated loan capital 2,916 3.418 2,0c0 2415
Undated loan capital 2,303 2.765 2,161 2,621
Preference shares 422 465 422 465

5,641 [.648 4,583 5,601

The Group's preference shares are classified as liabilities; these securities remain subject to the capital maintenance neles of the
Companies Act 1985.

The following tables analyse the remaining maturity of subordinated liabilities by (1) the final redemption date; and {2) the next
caliable date.

Group
2007 2008 2009-2011 2012-2016 Thereaher Perpewal Toral
2006 - final redempiion £m £m £m Em £m £m £m
Sterling 43 — — 348 533 900 1,824
uss 33 ar 761 22 203 1,299 2,405
Euro 1 — 763 — 143 469 1,412
Total 113 87 1,524 370 879 2,668 5,641
" Group
Currantly 2007 2008 20092011  2012-20%6  Thersahar Perpotal Tol
2006 ~ call date £m £m £m im £m £m £m £m
Sterling —_ 43 _ 437 413 726 205 1,824
us$ 1,260 551 87 507 — — — 2,405
Euro — 37 —_ 1,177 —_ — 1498 1,412
Total 1,269 631 a7 2,121 413 726 403 5,641
Croun
. 2006 20t 2008-2010 Wi-2015 Thsraafiar Perpelual Total
2005 - final redemption £m £m £m Em £ £im Em
Sterling 14 — a7 587 461 a32 2,041
us$ 364 — 579 121 275 1.808 3,148
Eura 32 — 4i0 340 187 490 1,453
Total 410 -— 1,026 1,G58 924 3,230 B.648
Group
Currantly 2006 007 MO0R-2010 Z1-205 Thercatier Parpelual Total
2005 - call gate £m £m Ermn £ £m £ £m Lm
Stering 140 42 - 57 782 414 107 2,041
Us$ 1,306 618 464 601 143 16 - 3,148
Euro — 37 —_ 776G 464 145 37 1,459
Total 1,446 887 464 1,953 1,369 575 144 6,648
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Bank

2007 2008 20092011 20922016 Thersafler  Perpaial Tatal
2006 - final redemption fm £ Em m m Em £m
Sterling 43 — — 348 328 a75 1,594
Uss N — 507 — — 1,289 1,837
Euro 37 — 763 — — 352 1,182
Total 111 — 1,270 348 328 2,526 4,583
Bank
Currently 2007 2008 2009- 2011  2012-20t6 Thereafter Porpetuat Total
2006 — call date £m £m im £m £m £m £m Em
Sterling —_ 43 — 337 348 726 140 1,594
uss 1,057 273 —_ 507 — — — 1,837
Eure e 37 — 1,115 — — — 1,152
Total 1,057 353 — 1,959 348 726 140 4,583
Bank
par e W7 W20 20112045 Thereafter Perpatual Tt
2005 - finat redemption om £m om £m im £m £
Sterling 14 — 37 597 2496 907 1,851
uss 10 - 579 99 — 1,809 2,497
Euro 32 o 410 340 — 371 1,153
Total 56 — 1.026 1,038 206 3,087 5,501
Bank
Currzntly 200 007 X320 201+-2015 Thet gttt Perpatoanl Toral
2005 - call date £m m im £m £m m £m om
Sterling 140 42 — 576 597 496 — 1,851
uss 1,306 32 464 579 99 17 — 2,497
Eurg — 37 —_— 776 340 — — 1,153
Total 1,446 191 464 1.931 1,036 513 — 5,501
2006 2665
. Dated lpan capilal em P
The Bank
US$1,000 million 7.375% fixed rate subordinated notes 2009 516 582
€600 million 6.0% subordinated notes 2010 452 464
£300 million 8.125% step-up subordinated notes 2011 {redeemed December 2008) — 308
€500 million 5.125% subordinated notes 2011 343 345
£300 million 7.875% subordinated notes 2015 355 369
£300 million 6.5% subordinated noles 2021 334 349
2,000 2,415
Greenwich Capltal Holdings, Inc.
US$105 million subordinated loan capital floating rate notes 2006 (redeemed October 2008) — 81
US$170 million suberdinated loan capital floating rate notes 2008 (issued October 2008) 87 —
LUS$500 million subordinated loan capital floating rate notes 2010 (callable December 2007) 256 291
First Active plc
US$35 milion 7.24% subordinated bonds 2012 (callable December 2007) 22 22
£60 miltion 6.375% subordinated bonds 2018 (callable April 2013) 65 65
Ulster Bank Limited :
€120 million perpetual floating rate notes 2019 (perpetual) 81 82
£100 million floaling rate subordinated loan capital 2020 (callable September 2010) 100 100
£60 million perpetual floating rate notes 2020 (perpetual) 40 42
Coutts Bank von Ernst Lid
US5$150 million floating rate subordinated loan capital 2018 {redeemed January 2006) — 44
RBS Netherlands Holdings B.V.
€92,3 million floaling rate note 2018 (callable Jaruary 2009) 62 63
NatWest Group Holdings Corporation
US$400 million flpating rate subordinated loan capital 2018 (callable on any interest payment date) 203 232
2,916 3.418

Notes:

(1} In the event of cartain changes in the tax laws of the UK, all of the dated loan capital issues are redeamabla in whole, but nol in part, a1 the option of the issuer, at the principal
amount thereo! plus accrued interast, subject o prior approval of the UK Firancial Services Authority.

{2) Except as slated above, glaims in respact of the Group's datad kan capital are subordinated ta the claims of other craditors. None of the Group's cated loan capilal is secured.
(3) intarest on a'l Moating rate sutordinaled ncotes is calculated by reference to markel rates.

@
@
g
g
4
@
@
=
<
o
=]
)
g
°
z

Annual Report and Accounts 2006



Notes on the accounts continued

26 Subordinated liabillties fcontinued)

2006 2005
Undated loan capital £m £m
The Bank
US$500 million primary capital flogting rate notes, Series A (callable on any interest payment date) 256 291
US$500 million primary capital floating rate notes, Seres 8 (callable on any interest payment date) 267 265
US$500 million primary capita! floating rate notes, Series C (callable on any inierest payment date) 254 294
US$500 million 7.875% exchangeable capital securilies {redeemed January 2006) —_ 295
US$500 million 7.75% reset subordinated notes (callable October 2007) 264 301
€400 million 6.625% fixedHloating rate undated subordinated notes (callable October 2009) 289 200
€100 miltion floating rate undated subardinated step-up notes {callable October 2009) 68 70
£325 million 7.625% undated subordinated step-up notes (caltable January 2010) 361 368
£200 million 7.125% undated subordinated step-up notes {callable October 2022} 201 201
£200 million 11.5% undated subordinated notes {callable December 2022) ¢ 201 201
2,161 2,621
First Active pic
£20 million 11.75% perpetual tier two capital 23 23
€30 million 11.375% perpetua! tier two capital 36 37
£1.3 miflion floating rate perpetual tier two capital pd

Ulster Bank Limited
€120 million perpetual floating rate suborginated notes 81 52
2,303 2,765

Nates:
{1} Exchangeable a1 the aptian of he issuer into 200 million 8.392% (gross) non-cumutative preference shares of £1 each of Natonal Westminster 8ank Pl at any time.
{2 Except 55 siated abowe, claims in respect of the Group's undated loan capila) are subordinated bo e chaims of other creddors. None of the Group’s undated loan capital is secured.

(3) In the ovent of cerlain changes in the tax laws of tha LK, all of the undated loan capital issues are redeemable in whals, but not in parL, at the oplian of the issugt at the
principal amaount thersof plus socruad interest, subject 1o prior epproval of the UK Finoncial Services Autharity

{4} Intarest on 2 flosling rate subordinated notes |a caiculoted by relerence 10 markst rates.

2006 205,

Preference shares iy £m Em

Non-cumulative preference shares of £1

Series A £140 million 3% (non-redeemable) 142 140

Nor-cumulative preference shares of US$25

Series B US$250 million 7.8752% @ 129 148

Series C US$300 million 7.7628% 151 177
422 455

Nolus:
{1} Further dataits of tha cantractual terms of the praterence shares is givan In Note 28 on page 45.
{2) Series B preference shares carry 8 qross dividend of 8.75% inclusive of asscciated 1ax credit These preference shares wara redeemed in January 2007.

{3) Series C praterenca shares carry a grass dridend of B.525% inclushe of associated tax credit. Thay are redeemabie a1 the oplion of the Bank, at a premium per share of
US$0.30 unlil B Aprd 2007, reducing 10 nll # the date of rademplion falls atter 8 April 2007.
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27 Minority interests

Grn
2006 2005
Em f.m
At 1 January 744 408
Implementation of 1AS 32 and IAS 39 on 1 January 2005 — {€)
Currency treanslaticn adjustments and other movements (8) 2)
Profit attributable 1o minority interests 39 7
Dividends paid {34) (15)
Equity raised 271 463
Equity withdrawn — (121}
At 31 December 1,012 744
28 Share capital
Srew and Bani
Aioled. sated un and Tully pad Aoslhorlsed
2006 s 2006 2005
£m Em £m £m
Ordinary shares of £1 each 1,678 1,678 2,250 2,256
Non-cumulative preference shares of £1 140 140 1,000 1,000
Non-cumulative preference shares of US$25 320 320 1,162 1,162

Total share capital

2,138 2,138 4,412 4,412

Aligtied, calles up ana fully peld Authonsed
Number of shares ~ millions 2006 2045 2006 2005
Ordinary shares of £1 each 1.678 1,678 2,250 2,250
Non-cumulative preference shares of £1 140 140 1,000 1,000
Non-cumulative preference shares of US$25 22 22 80 80

The 9% non-cumulative preference shares, Series A, of £1
each are non-redeemable.

The non-cumulative preference shares, Series B of US$25
each carry the right to a gross dividend of 8.625% inclusive of
tax credit. In January 2007, the Bank redeemed zll of these
shares at US$25 per share.

The non-cumulative preference shares, Series C, of US$25
each carry the right io a gross dividend of 8.625% inclusive of
associated lax credit. They are redeemable at the option of the
Bank at a premium per share of USS$0.30 until 8 April 2007.

" There is no redemption premium if the date of redemption falls
after 8 April 2007.

The holders of sterling and dollar preference shares are antitled,
on the winding-up of the Bank, to pricrity over the ordinary
shareholders as regards payment of capital. Otherwise the
holders of preference shares are not entitied to any further
participation in the profits or assets of the Bank and
accordingly these shares are classified as non-equity shares.

The haolders of sterling and dollar preference shares are not
entitled to receive natice of, attend, or vote at any general
meeting untess the business of the meeting includes the
consideration of a resolution for the winding-up of the Bank or
the sale of the whole of the business cf the Bank or any
resolution directly affecting any of the special rights or
privileges attached to any of the classes of preference shares.

Under IFRS, the Group’s preference shares are classified as

debt and are included in subordinated liabilities on the balance
sheei (see Note 26).
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Notes on the accounts continued

29 Sharecholders’ equity

Griwp Bank
2006 2005 2006 05
£m bl £m im

Calied-up share capital
At 1 January 1,678 2,102 1,678 2,102
Implementation of 1AS 32 on 1 January 2005 —_ {424) — (424)
At 31 December 1,678 1.678 1,678 1.678
Share premium gccount
At 1 January 1,291 1,286 1,291 1,286
Reclassification of preference shares on implermentation of 1AS 32 on 1 January 2005 —— 5 - 5
Al 31 December 1,291 1,291 1,291 1,291
Aviilabie-forsale reserve
At 1 January — -
Implementation of IAS 32 and IAS 3% on 1 January 2005 — 200 — 201
Unrealised gains in the year 81 38 44 33
Realised gains in the year (55) (324) — 320
Taxalion (8} £6 {13) £6
At 31 December 18 rm 31 e
Cash flow hedging reserve
At 1 Januvary 148 —_ 94 —_
Implementation of [AS 32 and IAS 39 on 1 January 2005 — 156 — 122
Amount recognised In equity during the year (2) — 13 {39;
Amount transferred from equity 1o earnings in the year (39) (28) {28) {13
Taxation {35) 20 (37) 24
Al 31 December 72 148 42 94
Foreign exchange reserve
At 1 January 169 (19} (5} —
Imptementation of |AS 32 and IAS 39 on 1 January 2005 — 6 — —
Retransiation of net assels {483) 182 6 (5}
At 31 December {314) 169 1 {5)
Other raserves
At 1 January 298 298 298 298
Capital contsibution 188 — 188 —
At 31 December 486 268 486 298
Retained earnings
Al 1 January 5,856 4,342 2,353 1,416
Implementation of IAS 32 and |AS 38 on 1 January 2005 — (582) — (487}
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 2,586 2,446 1,688 1,774
Crdinary dividends paid {1,500) {350} (1,500) {350}
At 31 December 6,942 5,856 2,541 2,353
Sharehciders’ equity at 31 Cecember 10,173 8,440 6,070 5,708
UK law prescribes that only reserves of the Bank are taken into The Group optimises capital efficiency by maintaining reserves
account for the purpose of making distributions and the in subsidiaries, including regulated entities. Certain preference
permissible applications of the share premium account and shares and subordinated debt are also included within
capital redemption reserve of £298 million (2005 - £298 million) regulatory capital. The remiilance of reserves 1o the parent or
included within cther reserves. the redemption of shares or subordinated capital by regutated

entities may be subject to maintaining the capital resources
required by the relevant regulater.
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30 Leases
Minimum amounts receivable and payable under non-cancellable leases
2006 205
Year in which receipt or payment will accur Yonr bn which receipt or payment will oczur
After 1 ywar A 1 ves

Within 4 but within After 5 Within 1 tut witbin Altgr &

year 5 years years Total year S years YOIFE Totat
Group £m £m £m £m £m £m £mn im
Finance lease assets:
Amounts receivable 157 238 227 622 99 605 s 1,085
Present value adjustment (23) (75) (80) (178) (27} (136) {110) (273)
Cther movements — — — — (3) (G0} {25) (BB)
Present value amounts receivable 134 163 147 444 69 404 246 724
Operating lease obligations:
Future minimum lease payables:
Premises a7 293 708 1,088 84 302 655 1,041
Equipment — — — — 2 1 — 3

87 283 708 1,088 86 303 655 1,044
Bank
Operating lease obligattons:
Future minimum lease payables:
Premises 69 239 525 833 66 242 452 760

Group Bark

Ampunls recognised as income and expensg £m £m £m 2
Cperating lease payables — minimum payments 106 100 76 75
Finance lease receivables
Unearned finance income 178 273 — —

The Group provides asset finance to its customers through acling as a lessor [t purchases plant, equipment and intellectual property,
renting them to customers under igase arrangements that, depending on their terms, quatify as either operating or finance leases.

31 Collateral
Securities repurchase agreements and lending transactions provided if the value of the securities fall below a
The Group enters inio securities repurchase agreements and predetermined level. Under standard terms for repurchase
securilies lending transactions under which it receives or transactions in the UK and US markets, the recipient of
transfers coltateral in accordance with normal market practice. collateral has an unrestricted right to sell or repledge it, subject
Generally, the agreements require additional collateral io be 1o returning equivalent securities on settlement of the transaction,

Securilies transferred under repurchase transactions included within securities on the balance sheet were as follows:

froen
2006 2005
£m &m
Treasury and other eligible bitls 225 724
Debt securilies 29,346 76,607

29,571 27,331

Al of the above securities could be sold or repledged by the holder. Securities received as collateral under reverse repurchase
agreements amounied to £42.1 billion (2005 - £34.8 billion), of which £36.8 billion (2005 - £33.1 biliion) has been resold or
repledged as collateral for the Group’'s own fransactions.

Other collateral given Gioup Bar
2006 s 2006 2005
Assets charged as securily for liabilities m £ £m em
Loans and advances to customers 7.318 351 1,384 —-—
Other — 11 _ —
7,318 352 1,384 —
2006 005 2006 2006
Liabiliffes secured by charges on assets tm £m £m em £
Customer accounts 1,286 B 1,286 [} FS
Debt securities in issue 5,807 349 — — g
Other liabilities — 17 — — 2
7,193 374 1,286 g -
2
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Notes on the accounts continued

32 Risk management
Risk Management is conducted on an overall basis within the
RBS Group. Therefore in the discussion on risk management
{pages 48 to 52) references to “the Group” or “Group” Board
and committees are to the RBS Group.

which is responsible for the management of the Group's
balance sheet, capital raising, intra group credit exposure,
liquidity and hedging policies. Both functions report to GEMC
and the Group Board through the Group Finance Director and
play an active role in assessing and monitering the
effectiveness of the divisional risk management functions,
Governance framework

The Board sets the overall risk appetite and philesophy for the
Group. Various Board and executive sub-committees suppert
these goals, as follows:

Heads of Group Risk Management and Internal Audit have
direct access to the Group Chief Executive and the Chairman
of the Group Audit Committee.

Group Audit Commitiee is 8 commitlee comprising
independent non-executive directors that supports the
Board in carrying out its responsibitities for financial
reporting including accounting policies and in respect of
internal control and risk assessment. The Group Audit
Commitiee monitars the ongoing process of the
identification, evaluation and management of all significant
risks throughout the Group. The Comimittee is supported by

Financial risk management policies and oblectives

The Board establishes the overall governance framework for
risk management and sets the risk appetite and phitosophy for
the Group.

The principal financial risks that the Group manages are
as foliows:

Group Internal Audit which provides an independent
assessment of the design, adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group's internal controls.

Advances Committee is a hoard committee that deals with
all transactions thal exceed the Group Credit Committee’s

Cradil risk: is the risk arising from the possibility that the
Group will incur losses from the failure of customers to meet
their obtigations.

Licuidiity risk: is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its
obligations as they fall due,

delegated authority.

Market risk: the Group Is expesed to market risk because of

In addition to the responsibilities at Board level, operational positions held in its trading portfolios and its non-trading

authority and oversight is delegated 1o the Group Executive businesses.
Management Committee ("GEMC"™), which is responsible for
implementing a risk management framework consistent with Credit risk

the Board's risk appetite. The GEMC, in turn, is supported by The objective of credit risk management is to enabie the Group

the following committees:

.

Group Risk Committee {*GRC") is an executive risk
governance commitiee which recommends and approves
limits, processes and policies in respect of the effactive
management of all malerial non-balance sheet risks across
the Group.

Group Credit Cammislee ("GCC") is responsible for
appraving credit proposals under authority delegated to it by
the Board. Credit proposals exceeding the authority of GCC
are referred to the Advances Committee. The GCC in turn
delegates authority to divisionat credit commiltees.

Group Asset and Liability Management Commiftes
(“GALCO™), is an executive committee which is responsible
for reviewing the balance sheet, funding, liquidity, structural
foreign exchange, capilal adequacy and capital raising
across the Group as well as interest rate risk in the banking
baok. In addition, GALCO monitors and reviews external,
economic and environmenial changes affecting such risks.

These Committees are supporied by Group Internal Audit and
also by two dedicated group level functions, Group Risk
Management (“GRM~), which has respensibility for credit,
market, reguiatory and enterprise risk and Group Treasury
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to achieve appropriate risk versus reward performance whilst
maintaining credit risk exposure in line with approved risk
appetite,

The key principles for credit risk management as defined in tha
Group's Credil Risk Managerment Framework are set oul below:

* Approval of all credit exposure is granted prior to any
advance or extension of credit.

* An appropriate credit risk assessment of the customer and
credit facilities is undertaken prior to approval of credit
exposure. This includes a review of, arongst other things,
the purpose of the credit and sources of repayment,
compliance with affordability tesis, repayment history,
capacity to repay, sensitivity to economic and market
developments and risk-adjusted return.

The Board delegates authority to Advances Committee,
Group Credit Committee and divisional credit committees.

Credit risk authority must be specifically granted in writing to
all individuals involved in the granting of credit approval,
whether this is exercised personally or collectively as part of
a credit committee. In exercising credit authority, the
individuals act independently:



Where credit authority is exercised personally, the individual
has no responsibility or accountability for related business
revenue origination.

All credit exposures, once approved, are effectively
monitored and managegd and reviewed periadically against
approved fimits. Lower qualily expuosures are subjectto a
greater frequency of analysis and assessment.

Custorners with emerging credit problems are identified
early and classified accordingly. Remedial actions are
implemented promptly to minimise the potential loss to the
Group.

Portfolio analysis and reporting is used to identify and
manage credit risk concentrations and credit risk quality
migration.

Credit approvat process

Different credit approval processes exist for each customer
type in order to ensure appropriate skills and resources are
employed in credit assessment and approval. Credit authority
is not extended to relationship management.

Credit risk models

Credit risk models are used throughout the Group to support
the analytical elements of the credit risk management framework,
in particular the risk assessment part of the credit approval
process, ongoing monitoring as well as portfolic analysis and
reporting. Credi risk models used by the Group can be
broadiy grouped into four categories.

* Probzbility of delsult ("PD")/customer credit grade - these
models assess the probability that the customer will fail to
make full ang timely repayment of credit obligations over a
one year time horizon. Each customer is assigned an
internal credit grade which correspends to a prabability of
default. There are a number of different credit grading
madels in use across the Group, each of which considers
particular characteristics of customer types in that portfalio.
The credit grading models use a combination of quantitative
inputs, such as recent financial performance and custemer
behaviour, and quatitative inputs, such as company
management performance or sector outlook.

Every customer credit grade across ali grading scales in the
Group can be mapped to a Group level credit grade which
uses a five band scale from AQ1 to AQS.

Evposure at default ("EAD") - these models estimate the
expected level of utilisation of a credit facility at the time of
a borrower's defaull. The EAD will typically be higher than
the current utilisation (e.g. in the case where further
drawings are made on a revolving credit facility prior to
default) but will not normally exceed the total facility Limit.
The methodologies used in EAD modelling recognise that
cusltomers may make more use of their existing credit
facilities in the run up to a default.

.

Loss given defaull {"LGD") - these models estimate the
economic oss that may be suffered by the Group on a credit
tacility in the event of defauli. The LGD of a facility represents
the amount of debt which cannot be recovered and Is

typically expressed as a percentage of the EAD. The Group's
LGD models take into account the type of borrower, facility
and any risk mitigation such as security or collaterat held. The
LGD may also be aftecled by the indusiry seclor of the
borrower, the legal jurisdiction in which the borrower operates
as well as general economic conditions which may impact the
value of any assets held as security.

Credil risk exposure measurement - these models calculate
the credit risk exposure for products where the exposure is
not 100% of the gross nominal amount of the credil
cbligation. These models are most commonly used for
derivative and other traded instruments where the amount of
credil risk exposure may be dependent on external variables
such as interest rates or foreign exchange rates.

Credil risk assels

Credit risk assels are an internal risk measure of the Group's
exposure to customers. These consist of loans and advances
(including overdraft facilities), instalment credit, finance fease
receivables, debt securities and other traded instruments.

Credit risk asset quality

Internal reporting and oversight of risk assets is principally
differentiated by credit ratings. Internal ratings are used lo
assess the credit quality of borrowers. Customers are
assigned credit ratings, based on various credit grading
madels that reflect the prebability of default. Alf credit ratings
across the Group map to a Group level asset quality scale.

Provision analysis

The Group's consumer portfolios, which consist of small value,
high volume credits, have highly efficient, largely automated
processes for identifying problem credils and very short
timescales, typically three months, before resolution or
adoption of various recovery methods.

Corporate portfolios consist of higher valus, lower volume
credits, which tend to be structured to meet individual
customer requirements. Provisicns are assessed on a case by
case basis.

Earty and active management of problem exposures ensures
{hat credit losses are minimised. Specialised units are used for
different customer types 1o ensure that the appropriate risk
mitigation is taken in a timely manner.

Portfolic provisions are reassessed regularty as part of the
Group’s angoing monitoring process.

Provisions methodnlogy
Provisiors for impairment losses are assessed under three
categories as described below:

individually assessed provisions are the provisions required for
individually significant impaired assets which are assessed on a
case by case basis, taking into account the financial condition
of the counterparty and any guarantor. This incorporates an
estimate of the discounted value of any recoveries and
realisation of security or collateral. The asset cantinues to be
assessed on an individual basis until it is repaid in full,
transferred o the performing portiolio or written-ofi.
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Notes on the accounts continued

32 Risk management (continued)

Collectively assessed provislons are the provisions on impaired
credits below an agreed threshold which are assessed cn a
portfolio basis, to reflect the homogeneous nature of the
assets, such as credit cards or personal foans. The provision is
determined from a quantitative review of the relevant portfolio,
taking account of the level of arrears, security and average
loss experience over the recovery perod,

Latent loss provisians are the provisions held against {he
estimated impairment in the performing portfolio which has yet
to be identified as at the balance sheet date. To assess the
latent loss within the portfolio, the Group has developed
methodologies to estimate the lime that an asset can remain
impaired within a performing portfolio before it is igentified and
reported as such.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity management within the Group focuses on both everall
balance sheet structure and the control, within prudent fimits,
of risk arising from the mismatch of maturities across the balance
sheet and from undrawn commitments and other contingent
obligations. It is undertaken within limits and other policy
parameters set by Group Asset and Liability Management
Comaitiee (GALCO).

The structure of the Group's balance sheet is managed 10
maintain substantial diversification, to minimise concentration
across its various deposit sources, and to contain the level of
reliznce on total short-term wholesale sources of funds within
prudent levels.

The degree of maturity mismatch within the overall long-term
structure of the Group's assets and liabilities is managed within
internal policy guidelines, to ensure that term asset commitments
may be funded on an economic basis over their life. In
managing its overall term structure, the Group analyses and
takes into account the effect of retait and corporate customer
behaviour on actual asset and liability maturities where they
differ materially from the underiying contractual maturities.

The short-term maturity structure af the Group's assets and
liabilities is managed on a daily basis to ensure that all material
cash flow obligations, and potential cash flows arising from
undrawn commitments and cther contingent obtigations, can
be met as thay arise from day to day, either from cash inflows
from maturing assels, new borrowing or the sale or repurchase
of debl securities held.

Short-term liquidity risk is managed on a consalidated basis fer
the whole Group including the Greenwich companies but
excluding the activities of Cilizens and insurance businesses,
which are subject to regulatory regimes that necessitate lecal
management of liquidity.

{nternat liquidity mismatch limits are set for all other subsidiaries
2nd non-UK branches which have material local treasury
activities in external markets, to ensure those aclivities do not
compromise daily maintenance of the Group’s overall liquidity
risk position within the Group's policy parameters, '
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The level of large deposils taken from banks, corporate
cuslomers, non-bank financial institulions ang other customers
and significant cash outfiows therefrom are ailso reviewed to
rmonitor concentration and identify any adverse trends.

Market risk

Market risk is defined as the risk of loss as a result of adverse
changes in risk factors including interest rates, foreign
currency and equity prices together with related parameters
such as market volalilities.

The Group Is exposed to market risk pecause of positions held
in its trading portfolios as well as its non-trading business
including the Group's treasury operations.

Valuz-at-risk {"VaR™)

VaR is a technique that produces estimates of the potentiat
negative change in the market value of a porticlio over a
specified time horizon at given confidence levels. For internal
risk management purposes, the Group's VaR assumes a time
horizon of one day and a confidence level of 95%. The Group
uses historical simulation models in compuiing VaR. This
approach, in common with many other VaR models, assumes
that risk factor changes observed in the past are a good
estimate of those likely 10 ogeur in the future and is, therefore,
limitect by the relevance of the historical data used. The
Group's method, however, does not make any assumption
about the nature or type of underlying loss distribution. The
Group typically uses the previous 500 trading days market
data. The Group’s VaR should be interpreted in light of the
limitations of the methodology used. These limitations include:

Historical data may not provide Lhe best estimate of the joint
distribution of risk factor changes in the future and may fail
10 capture the risk of possible extreme adverse market
movements which have not occurred in the historical window
used in the calculations.

VaR using a one-day time horizon does not fully capture the
market risk of positions that cannot be liquidated or hedged
within ane day.

VaR using a 95% confidence level does not reflect the extent
of potential losses beyond that percentile.

The Group largely computes the VaR of trading portiolios at
the close of business and positions may change substantially
during the course of the trading day. Conlrols are in place to
limit the Group's intra-day exposure; such as the calculation of
the VaR for selected portfolios. These limitations and the nature
of the VaR measure mean that the Group cannot guarantee
that losses will not exceed the VaR amounts indicated.



Trading

The principal focus of the Group’s trading activities is client
faciitation — providing products to the Group's client base at
competitive prices. The Group alse undertakes: market making —
quoting firm bid {buy} and offer (sell} prices with the intention of
profiting from the spread between the quotes; arbitrage —
entering into offsetting positions in different but closely related
markets in order to profit from market imperfections; and
propretary activity — taking positions in financial instruments as

principal in order to take advantage of anticipated market
conditions, The main risk faclors are interest rates, credit spreads
and foreign exchange. Financial instruments keld in the Group's
trading portfolios include, but are not limited to, debt securities,
loans, deposits, securities sale and repurchase agreements and
derivative financial instruments (futures, forwards, swaps and
oplions). For a discussion of the Group's accounting pelicies for
derivative financial instruments, see Accounting policies.

The VaR for NatWest Group's trading portfolios segregated by type of market risk exposure, including idiosyncralic risk, is presented

in the table below.

2006 2005
Average Periad end Maximum Mintmum fveraga Perind enq Ma dmmn Muienutr:
£m Em £m m £ m

Trading
Interess rate 5.1 57 8.3 35 6.0 55 ic.8 4.1
Credit spread 5.6 58 74 4.1 6.0 52 8.6 3.6
Currency 0.5 0.3 16 — 0.4 0.4 [13:1 —
Equity and commaodity 06 08 42 — 0.2 0.3 1.3 —
Oiversification {5.4) {3.5)
Tela! trading VaR 6.8 7.3 9.0 4.9 8.1 7.9 12.3 5.5
Non-trading actual interest rate repricing characteristics differ from the

The principal market risks an‘sin-g {rom the Group's non-trading
activilies are interest rate risk, currency risk and equity risk.
Treasury activity and mismatches between the repricing of
assets and liabilities in its retail and commercial banking
operations account for mos! of the non-trading interest rate

* risk. Non-trading currency risk derives from the Group's
investments in overseas subsidiaries, associates and branches.
The Group's venture capital portfolio and investments held by
its general insurance business are the principat sources of
non-trading equity price fsk. The Group's porifolios of non-
trading financial instruments mainly comprise loans (including
finance leases}, debl securities, equity shares, deposits,
certificates of deposits and other debt securities issued, loan
capital and derivatives. To reflect thesr distinct nature, the
Group's long-term assurance assets and liabilities atiributable
to policyholders have been excluded from these market risk
disclosures.

¢ [nlerest rate risk
Non-trading interest rate risk arises from the Graup's treasury
activities and retail and commercial banking businesses.

Treasury

The Group's treasury activities include its money market
business and the management of internal funds Row within the
Group’s businesses. Money market portfolios include cash
instruments (principally debt securities, loans and deposits)
and related hedging derivatives.

Retail and commercial banking

Non-trading interest rate risk is calculated in each business on

the basis of establishing the repricing behaviour of each asset,
liability and off-balance sheet product. For many products, the

contractual repricing. In most cases, the repricing maturity is
determined by the market interest rate that most closely fits the
historical behavicur of the product interest rale. For non-interest
bearing current accounts, the repricing maturity is determined
by the stability of the portfolio. The repricing maturities used
ara approved by Group Treasury and divisiona! asset and
liability committees at feast annually. Key conventions are
reviewed annuaily by GALCO.

A static maturity gap report is produced as at the month-end
{or each division, in each functional currency based on the
behaviouralised repricing for each product. It Is Group poticy
to include in the gap report, non-financial assets and liabilities,
mainly property, plant and equipment and the Group's capital
and reserves, spread over medium and longer term maturities.
This report also includes hedge transactians, principally derivatives.

Any residual non-trading interest rate exposures are controlled
by limiting repricing mismatches in the individual balance
sheets, Potential exposures to interest rate movements in the
medium to long term are measured and controlled using a
versicn of the same VaR methodology that is used for the
Group's trading portfolios but without discount factors. Net
accrual income exposures are measured and controlled in
terms of sensitivity over time to movements in interest rates,

Risk is managed within lirmits approved by GALCO through the
execution of cash and derivative instruments. Execution of the
hedging is carried out by the relevant division through the

Group's treasury function. The residual risk posilion is reported
to divisional asset and liability committees, GALCO and Board.
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Notes on the accounts continued

32 Risk management (coninued)

& Currency risk

The Group does not maintain material non-irading open
currency positions other than the structural foreign currency
translation exposures arising from its invesiments in foreign
subsidiaries and associaled undertakings and their related
currency funding. The Group's policy in relation to structural
positions is to match fund the structural foreign currency
exposure arising from net asset value, including goodwill,

in foreign subsidiaries, equity accounted investments and
branches, except where doing so would malerially increase the
sensitivity of either the Group's or the subsidiary's regulatory
capiltal ratios to currency movements. The policy requires
structural foreign exchange positions 1o be reviewed regularly
by GALCO. Foreign exchange differences arising on the
translation of foreign operations are recognised directly in
equity together with the effective portion of foreign exchange
differences arising on hedging liabilities.

The table below sets oul NatWest Group's structural foreign currency exposuzes,

2006 2005

Foreign Ferelgn
currency Structural currEnty St toral
Nel imvestments borrowings forexgn Mai vatchiients hotiowangs lereign
1 foreign hedging et cursncy i fou g nedging net Cutrgney
opurations imvestments eXposuras aperations Irvestments  BYROSUCes
£m £m £m £ Em £rn
US dollar 3,022 2,936 86 3,022 2,806 216
Euro 2,622 455 2,167 1.934 284 1.650
Swiss franc 462 457 5 431 430 1
Other non-sterting 6 4 2 q 4 —
6,112 3,852 2,260 5,391 3,524 1,867

The structural foreign currency exposure in euros is principally due to Uister Bank running an open structural foreign exchange
position to minimise the sensitivity of its capital ratios to possible movements in the Eure exchange rate against Sterling.
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33 Financial instruments

Remaining maturity Gnp
1 month 1-3 312 1-5 Over 5 Equity

o less months months years years shares Total
2006 £m £m £Em £m £m tm £m
Assels
Cash and balances at central banks 1,525 — — — — — 1,525
Treasury and other eligible bills [*] 23 243 — — — 275
Loans and advances to banks 50,507 4,033 5740 482 801 — 61,563
Loans and advances o customers 83,520 11,594 18,279 18669 50,349 — 182,411
Debt securities 376 645 817 10,875 19,555 — 32,268
Equity shares — — — — — 1,158 1,158
Settlement balances 3,574 — — — — — 3,574
Derivatives 469 204 438 832 803 —_ 2,746
Liabiiities
Deposils by banks 38,159 3,715 2,434 998 952 — 46,258
Customer accounts 166,793 8,801 2,464 3,070 291 — 181,219
Debt securities in issue 4,525 1,765 1,860 3,147 2,938 — 14,335
Settiement balances and short positions 3,069 101 808 13,688 6,608 —_ 24,274
Derivatives 487 251 431 596 678 — 2,343
Subordinated liabilities —_ —  1.8% 2,208 1,542 — 564
2005
Assets
Cash and balances at central banks 1,568 - —_— — — — 1,568
Treasury and other eligible bills 23 -38 708 — — — 770
Loans and advances o banks 47,521 6,001 1,400 780 293 — 55,595
Loans and advances to customers 73,218 12,59% 17,365 21447 35522 — 1589843
Debt securities 399 179 1,323 6,894 19,950 — 28,745
Equity shares - — — — — 323 823
Settlement balances 3.931 — e e — —— 3,931
Derivalives 213 210 368 875 1,310 — 2976
Liakitities
Deposits by banks 29,351 5,147 7.915 2,784 304 — 45,001
Customer accounts 141,404 10,170 2,795 3,110 385 — 157.924
Debt securities in issue 3,040 2277 4,949 141 354 — 10,801
Settliemnent balances and short positions 3.061 223 705 15,079 2,506 21,574
Derivatives 251 192 288 652 1,273 — 2857
Subordinated liabilities 326 6 1,811 2417 2,088 — 68648
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Notes on the accounts continued

33 Financial instruments /continued)

Remaining maturity

Bark

1 month

1-3

312

1-5

Over 5

Equity

or l9ss months months years. years shares Total
2006 £m £m £m £m Em £m &m
Assets
Cash and balances at central banks 876 —_— — — — — 876
Loans and advances 10 banks 21,406 159 2,877 57 507 - 25,006
Loans and advances to customers 60,673 7,008 8970 10,388 22,457 — 109,496
Debt securities 42 -— _ -— — — 42
Equity shares — —_ — _ — 50 50
Derivatives 76 87 279 345 613 — 1,400
Lishilites
Depaosits by banks 5,145 440 110 398 344 — 6,438
Customer accounts 115,064 5,861 1,266 2,416 4858 — 125,085
Debt securities in issue — — 20 2] —_ - 29
Derivatives 69 a3 260 213 510 — 1,145
Subordinated liabilities — — 1410 1,050 1,214 — 4583
2005
Azcals
Cash and balances at central banks 294 — — - —_ — 894
Leans and advances to banks 18,142 1,733 754 180 40 — 20,829
Loans and advances 1o customers 52,280 6,921 9,680 13530 15144 — 97,569
Debt securities 8 11 17 12 3 — 51
Derivatives 43 61 128 424 547 — 1,203
Lizbilities
Deposits by banks 3.413 808 604 261 224 — 5310
Customer accounts 98,683 7,005 1,755 1,923 576 — 109,942
Debt securilies in issue — — 5 33 — —_ 38
Derivatives 42 55 117 208 707 — 1,129
Subordinated liabilities 326 5] 1,225 23%5 1,548 — 5,501
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Interest rate sensitivity interest rate envirenment. The aclual interest rate sensitivity of

The following tables summarise ihe interes! rate sensitivity gap The Group’s earnings will be determined by the currency and
for the Group and the Bank at 31 December 2006 and at contraciual or behavioural profile of assets and liabilities, in

31 December 2005. The tables show the contractual repriging addition to the size and timings of interest rates movements.
for each category of asset, liability and off-balance sheet items Contractual repricing terms do not reflect the potential impact
in tha banking book. A liability (or negative) gap position exists of early repayment or withdrawal. Pasitions may not be

when liabilities reprice more quickly or in greater proportion reflective of those in subsequent periods. Major changes in
than assets during a given period and tends to benefit net positions can be made prompily as marke! outlooks change. In
interest incame in a declining interest rate environment. An addition, significant variations in interest rate sensitivity may
asset {or positive) gap position exists when assets reprice exist within the re-pricing periods presented and among the
more quickly or in greater proportion than liabilities during a currencies in which the Group has interest rate positions.

given period and tends to benefil nel interest income in a rising

Group
Aferd  Afer  After §
months  months yaar Total Non Fair value
bulless  butless bulless interest witerest  through
3 months than than than  Owver 5 earning/ eamning/ profit Bankng Trading
of less 6 months 1ysar  5ysars ysars  bearing Yiekd bearing  or logs bock book Tetat
2006 £m £m £m £m £m £m % £m £m £m £m £m
Assets
Loans and advances lo banks 38,321 2820 31 532 253 42657 447 5854 654 49,165 12,398 61,563
Loans and advances
to customers 125,279 2584 2478 8239 5124143704 485 8570 £16 153,090 29,321 182,411
Debt securities and
treasury bills 1,401 126 182 312 27 2138 398 1 1648 3768 28755 32,543
Other assets 1,236 — — — — 1,236 — 5,502 35 6,773 7,371 14,144
Total assets 166,327 5530 3391 9083 5404 185,735 465 20,227 2,854 212,816 77,845 290,661
Liabilities and equity
Deposits by banks 11,653 47272 910 594 B16 18,045 386 3,558 — 21,603 24,655 46,258
Customar accounts 132,273 1907 1,257 3,589 346 139,372 295 19,529 1,448 160,349 20,870 181,219
Debt securities in issue 10,880 753 340 44 360 12,377 315 5 — 12,383 1,852 14,335
Subordinated liabilities 1,719 — 263 1,539 1,778 5299 533 - — 5299 342 55641
Other liabilities — — - — — — — 6,600 — 6,600 26,435 33,035
Shareholders' equity - —_ —_ -— — — — B43 — 8437 1736 10,173
Internal funding of trading business (2,068) —_ —_ - - (2,068) 527 213 — {1,855) 1,855 —
Total liabilities and equity 154,457 6,932 2770 5766 3100173025 318 38,343 1,448 212816 77,845 290,661
Interest rate swaps 5,006 255 82 (3,154) (2,1689) — — —
Interest rate sensitivity gap 16,876 (1.147) 683 163 135 16,710 {18.116) 1,408
Cumulative interest rate
sensilivity gap 16,876 15,729 16412 16,575 16,710 16,710 {1,406} —
2005
Asscls
Loans and advances to banks 36,052 580 BB4 521 25 40082 219 2467 825 43,354 12641 55995
Loans ard advances
to customers 99,057 2624 2482 12027 45650120850 4.26 16253 — 137,103 22,840 159,943
Debt securities and
treasury bills 2290 155 152 238 B2 2917 2339 — 403 3,320 26,195 29.518
Other assels — — — — — — 8421 29 BA4BG 6690 15153
Total assets 139,386 3,350 3,528 12,786 4,757 163,829  3.74 27,141 1,267 192,237 68,366 260,603
Liabilities and equity
Deposits by banks 18,486 4,007 1,517 2470 817 26,997 160 2,040 — 28037 15,964 4600
Customer accounts 113,329 1,153 1,369 1,588 367 117,808 206 18012 1,338137,157 206,767 157,824
Debt securities in issue 4090 2229 1,025 140 g4 7876 1.77 & — 7876 2,025 1080t
Subordinated liabilities 2,146 — — 2535 1814 6295 583 — — 86295 353 6848
Other liabilities — — — - — — 5,202 — 5202 24587 28,783
Shareholders’ equity - - -— s e — 7825 —  TB8Z5 1581% 9440
Internal funding of trading business {1,268) — — - - {1,268) 3Tt 113 — (1155} 1158 —
Total liabilities and equity 136,783 7381 3911 6733 2832157700 2127 33198 1,339 192,237 AB365 265,603 a
=
Interest rate swaps {1,231} 147 194 264 628 — — — §
Interest rate sensitivity gap 1,385 (38750 (189 6317 249% €128 {B.057) {72) ]
Cumulative Interest rate £
sensitivity gap 1,385 (2490) (2,67v9) 3638 6,129 §,128 72 — z
w
Annual Report and Accounts 2006 z




Notes on the accounts continued

33 Financizt lnstruments (coninved)
Interest rate sensitivity

Bank
Alter 3 After 6 After 1
menhs  months yoar Total Non Fak vaiue
butless butless butless niefest nlefesl  trough
3 months. than than than Cher 5 earning Barning profn Banking Trading
or less 6 months 1year 9 yoars years Mearing  Yeld /oearing or loss book  book Total
2066 £m £m £m Em £m £m % £m £m £m im £m
Assels
Leans and advances to banks 18,854 740 74 86 287 20,041 575 4,965 — 25006 — 25006
Loans and advances
to customers 88,538 1,504 1,236 4,827 3481 09686 438 &7 — 109,407 89109496
Debt securittes and
treasury bills 25 6 4 6 1 42 2.86 — - 42— 42
Cther assets 762 — — — — 762 — 9857 — 10619 538 11,157
Total assets 108,179 2,250 4,314 5019 3,769 120,531 4.58 24,543 — 145,074 627 145,701
Lizbilities and equily
Deposits by banks 1,401 3428 214 149 ~ 5182 530 1,139 —_ 6,331 107 6438
Customer accounts 89,661 1,311 589 2,257 406 104,224 258 20,755 116 1250985  — 125,095
Debt securities in issue — 18 2 9 — 29 345 — —_ 29 — 29
Subordinated liabilities 1,423 —_ 263 1,439 1458 4,583 530 —_— - 4583 — 4,583
COther liabilities — — — — — —  — 3083 — 3,053 433 3486
Shareholders' equity — —_ — —_ — — — 6070 — 6070 — 6070
Internal funding of trading business (295) —_ —— —_ — {295} 4.75 208 — (87} 87 —
Total liakilities and equity 102,190 4,757 1,068 3854 1,864 113733 2.8% 31,225 116 145,074 827 145,701
Interest rate swaps 3,954 168 139 (3,126) {1,135) — = —
Interest rate sensitivity gap 9943 (2,339) 385 (1,861) 770 6,798 (6,682) (116)
Cumulative interest rate
sensitivity gap 0943 7604 7989 6,028 6,798 6,798 116 —
S
Assels
Loans and advances to banks 17,593 102 628 194 - 18,514 447 2302 -~ 20816 i3 20,829
Loans and advances
to customers 67,487 1,320 1163 9078 2856 81914 443 15624 — 97538 31 97.589
Debt securities and
treasury bills 18 14 3 9 6 M 588 - o 51 — 51
Other assets — — —_ — —_ — 11,163 — 11,183 522 11685
Total assets 85009 1436 1,794 9278 2872 100479 4.38 29,080 - 128568 556 130,134
Liabilities and equity
Deposits by banks 3,534 282 164 249 — 4229 22 1,081 — 5310 — 5310
Customer accounts BB425 517 1,064 399 132 90537 209 19285 63 105,885 57 109,942
Debi securities in issug — — 5 a3 — 38 263 — — 3B — 38
Subordinated liabilities 1.501 — -~ 2535 1465 5501 645 - - 5501 ~ 5,501
Other liabilities — - — — — — 3,380 o 3390 244 3634
Sharehciders' equity — —_ - — — — WAl — 570 {1} 5.709
internal funding of trading business {312) — — — = {312) 0.32 45 — (266) 266 —
Total liabilities and equity 53,148 799 4,233 3216 1597 893993 233 20512 63 128568 566 130,124
Interest rate swaps {1,231) 147 194 264 626 — - —
Interest rate sensitivity gap {9,280) VR4 735 6,326 1,901 4B6 (423} {63)
Cumulative interest rate
sensitivity gap (9.280) (8406} (7.741) (3.415) 466 466 83 —
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Trading book
The tzables below set out By time band the net effecl on the Group’s and Bank's profit or loss of a basis point {0.01%) increase in
interest rates, assuming all irading positions remain unchanged.
Group
Alter 3 After 6 After 1

months but months st year but
dmonths  lessthan  lessthan  less than Over §

of less B months 1 ymar 5 years years Total
2006 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
(Loss)/gain per basis point increase {172) (106) (115} (567) 566 (334)
2005
Gain/(ioss) per basis point increase 5 114) 471 {959 495 48

Bank

Alter 3 After 6 Afler 1
months bul  mohths but year but

3 months lass than Tess than less than Ovar 5
orless & monlhs 1 year 5 years years Total
2006 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
(Loss)/gain per basis point increase (39) (35) {83) (42) 25 (174)
2005
Gain/(loss) per basis point increase 4 {61) 16 106 {13) £2

Financial assets and liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss

Gioup Bank,
2006 7008 2006 w5
Em £m £m ¢m
Net gain in year recognised in other operating income 116 26 — —
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Notes on the accounts continued

33 Financial instruments (contirued)

The following table shows the cariying values and the fair values of financial instruments on the balance sheet.

(Grouss Banx
2006 2006 2005 W05 2006 2006 25 2008
Carrying Faw  Cerrving Falr Carrying Faw LCorrying Foe
vale vahie value wthue vake vahe vakie iy
£m £m £m £m £m £m Em Em
Financiat assets
Cash and balances at ceniral banks 1526 1525 1,568 1,568 876 876 RO4 844
Treasury and other etigible bills
Helg-for-trading 225 225 724 24 -— — e —
Available-for-sale 50 50 46 46 — — — —

275 275 770 710 — — — —

toans and advances to banks

Held-for-rading 11,884 11,884 17411 17443 147 147 110 10
Designated as at fair value through profit or loss 654 654 525 a2s — —_ — P
Loans and receivables 49,025 49,022 37,758 37,761 24,859 24,8589 20,719 20,719

61,563 61,560 55895 55,997 25,006 25,006 20,829 20,829

Loans and advances o customers

Held-for-trading 21,835 21,935 15887 15897 1,056 1,056 30 30
Designatecd as al fair value through profit or loss 516 516 —_ — — — — —
Loans and receivables 159,616 159,447 143,235 143816 108,440 108,321 97,539 98,006
Finance leases 444 A77 811 811 — — — —

182,411 182,375 159,043 160,524 109,496 109,377 97,569 98.036

Debt securities

Held-for-trading 28,531 28,531 25474 25474 1 1 3 3
Designated as at {air vatue through profit orloss 1,649 1,649 403 443 — _ - -
Available-for-sale 2088 2,088 23868 2.568 41 41 48 45

32,268 32,268 28,745 23,745 42 42 21 51

Equity shares

Hetd-for-trading 42 42 26 26 — — -— —
Designated as at fair value through profit or loss 36 36 39 39 —_ —_ — -
Available-for-sale 1,080 1,080 758 58 50 50 — —
1,158 1,158 823 823 50 50 e e

Settlament balances 3,574 3574 3931 3.931 —_ — — —_
erivatives 2,746 2,746 2976 2976 1400 1,400 1,263 1,203
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Group Hank

2006 2006 2005 2005 2006 2006 205 535
Carrying Fair  Carrying Fair Carrying Fair  carryng ot
vale vah:a value e valua vakie ki vakie
£m £m £ £ Em £m Crn Em
Financial liabilities
Deposits by banks
Held-for-trading 6770 8770 6588 65389 328 328 1,237 1,237
Amaoriised cost 39,488 39,487 39412 39417 6,110 6,110 4073 4,073
46,258 46,257 46,001 46006 6438 6438 52310 5310
Customar accounts
Held-for-trading 8665 8665 10372 10372 196 196 1,560 1,580
Designated as at fair value through profit or loss 1,448 1,448 1,33 1,339 116 116 53 83
Amorlised cost 171,106 171,099 146,213 147,313 124,783 124,781 108,219 108,541
181,219 181,212 157,924 158024 125,095 125,093 109,942 110,164
Dept securities in lssue
Amortised cost 14,335 14,380 10,801 10,872 29 29 3B 32
Suborginated lizbilities
Amortised cost 5641 6,061 6648 B,773 4,583 4,940 5,501 5,626
Seltlement balancas and shorl positions 24274 24274 21,574 21574 — — — —
Derivatives 2,343 2,343 2,657 2,657 1,145 1,145 1,129 1,129
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Notes on the accounts continued

33 Financial instruments (continued)
Industry risk — geographical analysis

Group
Treasury bills,
Loans and advances debt secunties and Netting
1o banks and customers eguily shares Derhatives Cringr?) Total offset

2006 £m £m Em Em £m £m
UK
Central and local government 2,130 1,428 4 — 3,562 1,050
Manufacturing 6,635 1 74 — 6,710 3174
Construction 5.083 1 34 — 5118 766
Finance 84,028 1,748 979 — B6,755 421
Service industry and business activities 24,150 22 241 — 24,413 3,707
Agriculture, forastry and fishing 2,004 1 1 - 2,006 34
Property 19,966 18 64 — 20,048 744
Individuals

Home morigages 3,449 — —_ — 3,449 —

Cther 16,172 — — — 16,172 6
Finance leases and instalment credit 308 — — — 308 —
Interest accruals 402 — — — 402 —
Total UK 164,327 3,219 1,397 — 168,043 9,802
us
Centrat and local government —_ 8,641 — 102 8,743 —_
Manufacturing —_ 248 —_ — 248 —
Construction — 48 - — 48 —
Finance 32,237 19,158 468 3,462 55,325 1,265
Service industry and business activities 21 643 1 — 665 —_
Property 2,647 —_ - —_ 2,647 —
Individuals

Home morigages 6,708 — — — 6,708 —

Other 3 — — — 3 —
Interest accruals 128 230 — — 358 2
Total US . 41,744 28,968 469 3,564 74,745 1,267
Europe
Central and Jocal government 263 310 — — 573 —
Manufacturing 1,005 — — — 1,005 —
Construction 2,291 —_ — — 2,291 —_
Finance 5,045 1,202 865 17 7,129 4
Service industry and business aclivities 4,795 1 10 8 4,814 —_
Agricutture, forestry and fishing 469 2 — — 471 —
Property 6,053 -— — — 6,053 —
Individuals

Home mortgages 13,597 _ — — 13,597 —

Other 3,567 — — — 3,567 —
Finance leases and instalment credit 38 — — — 38 —
Interest accruals 144 — — — 144 —
Tolal Europe 37,267 1,515 875 25 39,682 4
Rzst of the World
Central and local government — 1 — — 1 —
Finance 1,823 — - —_ 1,823 —_
Service industry and business activities - —_ 5 3 8 —
Individuals

Home mortgages 80 — — — a0 —

Other 781 — — — 781 —
interest accruals 3 — — — 3 —
Total Rest of the Waorld : 2,697 1 5 3 2,706 —_
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Industry risk — geographicat analysis

Group
Treasury bills,
Loans and advances debl securities and Netting
te banks and customers equity shares Derivatives Other(" Tolal offseti®
2006 £m £m £m £m Em £m
Totat
Central and local government 2,393 10,380 4 102 12,879 1,050
Manufacturing 7.640 2439 74 —_ 7,963 3,174
Construction 7.374 49 34 — 7,457 766
Finance 123,133 22,108 2,312 3,479 151,032 1,650
Service industry and business activities 28,966 666 257 11 29,900 3,707
Agriculture, forestry and fishing 2,473 3 1 — 2,477 34
Property 28,666 18 64 — 28,748 744
Individuals
Home mortgages 23,844 — — - 23,844 —
Other 20,523 — -— —— 20,523 8
Finance leases and instalment credit 346 — —_ —_ 346 —_
Interest accruals 677 230 — — 007 2
246,035 33,703 2,746 3,582 286,076 11,173
Notes:

{1) Includes settiement balances of £3,574 miiion,

{2} This column shews the amount by which exposures 1o counterparties are reduced by the existence of a legal right of set off {an the basis that the financial assel will be
collected in accordance with its terms) and under master netting arrangements. The credil sk of financial assels subject to a master nefting arrangement is elimingtad only
to the extenl that finarcial iabilites due 1o the same counterparty will be setiled afler the assets are realised. The extant to which the Group's cred:t risk is reduced thraugh
a mastar netling arrangement may change substantiafty within a short period following the balanca sheel date Decause the exposure is alfected by each ransaction subject la
the arrangement.
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Notes on the accounts continued

33 Financial instruments (continved
Industry risk — geographical analysis

Group
Trazsury bifs.
Loanis and advances. debr sivnlng anc Seitement Neturry
iy iBAKS ARG Customars. equity shares Cerivativee Eainces Tota! affgan®

805 £€m Em i m £m fm
UK
Central and local government 1,690 4 7 — 1,701 1.137
Manufacturing 6,887 1 7 — 6,966 2,249
Construction 4479 — 25 —_ 4,507 842
Finance 74742 1,671 1,428 - 77.6841 2414
Service industry and business activities 24,031 135 248 — 24,415 1,628
Agricutture, forestry and fishing 1,884 — 2 — 1,886 12
Property 15,316 10 86 — 15,422 986
Individuals

Home mortgages 2,746 — 1 — 2,747 —

Qther 15,283 — — — 18,283 2
Finance leases and instalment credit 319 — — — 319 43
Interest accruals 208 — — — 208 —
Tatal UK 147,585 1,821 1,888 — 151,295 9,146
Us
Central and 1ocal government - 7.599 — 112 771 e
Manufacturing 44 84 — - 128 —
Construction 5 v — — 32 —_
Finance 28,258 18,121 609 3,809 50,797 4323
Service industry and business aclivities 48B4 302 — e 786 -
Agriculture, forestry and fishing 13 — — m— 13 o
Property 2,252 — — — 2,252 —_
Individuals

Home mortgages 5,107 T— — — 5,107 e

Cther 9 — o — 9 —
Finance leases and instalment credit 433 e o - 439 —
In{erest accruals 79 160 o —= 239 2
Toltal US 36.690 26,293 609 3,921 67,513 4.325
Europe
Central and local government 287 234 — — 521 —
Manufactlunng 3,060 — - — 3,080 —
Caonstruction 2,287 — e — 2.257 —_
Finance 68.776 1,802 450 8 5,036 —
Service industry and business aciivilies 4,758 10 1 — 4,779 —
Agriculture, forestry and fishing 513 — — — 513 —
Property 2.576 49 — — 2,825 —_
tndividuals

Home mortgages 8,802 —_ — — 8,802 —

Other 3,412 165 — — 3,517 —
Finance leases and instalment credit 96 - — — 95 —
Interest accruals 110 26 — — 138 —
Tatal Europs 32,647 2,226 461 8 35,342 —
Rest of the World
Central and local government — 2z — — 2 —
Finance 169 — 3 2 174 —_
Service industry and business aclivities — — 14 — 14 —
Property 2 — — — 2 —
Individuals

Home mortgages 75 — e o 75 —

Cther 792 — — — 782 —
interest accruals g — — — 9 —
Total Rest of the World 1,047 2 17 2 1.068 —
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Group

Treagury bita,

Loae and sthantes debl securikes and Zelilaraent Hatting
i banks and cugloniers sty sharss Dierivalives 1alances Torat aftgeltls
2005 £m Lm £m £ £ £m
Total
Central and local government 1.977 7.839 7 712 8,935 1,137
Manufacturing 9,991 B% 78 —_ 10,154 2,249
Construction 6,741 27 28 — 6,796 842
Finance 109,945 21,594 2,480 3,819 137,848 4,564
Service industry and business activities 29,273 447 274 — 29,954 3,628
Agriculture, forestry and fishing 241G — 2 — 2412 12
Property 20,146 59 96 —_ 20,301 285
Individuals
Home morigages 16.730 — 1 — 16,731 —
Other 14,485 105 —_ _— 19,601 2
Finance leases and instaiment credit 854 - — — 854 49
interes! accruals 406 186 — — 592 2
217,969 30,342 2‘9?6 3,931 255,218 13,471

Naote:

{1) This column shows the amount by which exposures to countesparliss are feduced by the existence of a jepal right of sel off [on the basss that the financial asset will be

collecled in accordance wilh s tarms) and under masisr nelling airangemenits The credil risk of financial assels subject 6 a master nelling arrangement is etiminated only
ta the extent that financial Eabilities due 10 the same counterparty will be saitled alier the assais are realised. The extent Lo which the Group's credil risk is reduced thiough a
masler nelling arrangement may change substantially within a short period following the Dalance sheet dote because the exposure is affecled by each ransaction subject 1o

the arranpement,
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Notes on the accounts continued

33 Financial instruments (continued)
Industry risk ~ geographical analysis (coninved)

Bank
Treasury bills,
Loans and advances  debl secunties and Netting
10 banks and cuslamers eauity shares Dertvatives Tota ottser 1M
2005 £m £m £m Em £m
UK
Central and local government 2,126 — 4 2,130 1,050
Manufacturing 6,391 — 74 6,485 3,174
Construction 4,225 — 34 4,259 766
Finance 66,045 9 981 67,117 399
Service industry and business activities 23,080 — 242 23,322 3,707
Agriculture, forestry and fishing 1,736 — k] 1,737 34
Property 17,329 - 64 17,383 744
Individuals
Home marlgages 35 — — 35 —
QOther 14,000 — — 14,000 6
Interest accruals 334 — — 334 —
Tatal UK 135,301 91 1,400 136,792 9,880
us
Finance 2 — — 2 _—
Service industry and business activilies — 1 — 1 —
Total US 2 1 — 3 -
Eurcpe
Finance 906 — — 906 —_
Total Europe 906 — — 906 —
Tota!
Ceniral and local government 2,126 — 4 2,130 1,050
Manufacturing 6,391 — 74 6,465 3,174
Construction 4,225 — 34 4,259 766
Finance 66,953 91 981 68,025 399
Service industry and business activities 23,080 1 242 23,323 3707
Agriculture, forestry and fishing 1,736 — 1 1,737 34
Property 17,329 — 64 17,393 744
Individuals
Home martgages 35 — - 35 -
Other 14,000 — — 14,000 6
Interest accruals 334 — — 334 -
136,209 92 1,400 137,701 9,880
Nola:

(1) This column shows the amount by which exposures to counterparlies are raduced by tha existence of a kegal nghi of set off {on the basis that the financial assel will be
cotiactad in accordance with fis lerms) and under mastar netiing arrangements. The credit risk of financial assels subject to 2 master netling arrangemant is aliminated
only to the extent 1hal financial abfiies due ta the same counlerparty will be sefled ofter the assets are realised. The exten! o which the Group's credit risk Is reduced
through a masler nefung arrangement may change substantialy within 8 shorl period following the balance sheet date Decause Lhe sxposurs is affected by each
Transaction subject to the arrangement.
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Bank

Treasury bills,

Leang and aovartes  Jebd tecuritles andg Nestng
te banks and customers wigdly shares Darmrmtves Tt alfseitl
2006 Emn m m £m £m
UK
Central and local government 1.689 e 7 1,698 1,137
Manufacturing 6,737 — 78 6,815 2,245
Caonstruction 4,108 — 28 4,136 842
Finance 53,440 48 742 54,230 219
Service industry and business activities 23,140 —_ 249 23,389 3,628
Agriculture, forestry and fishing 1.700 — 2 1,702 12
Property 14,397 — 96 14,483 981
Individuals
Home mortgages 40 e 1 41 —
Other 13434 — — 13,434 2
Interest accruals 172 — - 172 —
Tolai UK 118,857 48 1,203 120,108 9,068
us
Finance 54 - —_ 54 —
Service industry and business activities — 3 — 3 —
Interest accnsals 21 e e 21 —
Total US 75 3 — 78 —
Europe
Finance 1,133 - — 1,133 —
Interest accruals 3} — — ] e
Tota! Europe 1,139 — e 1,139 —
Total
Central and local government 1.689 — 7 1,696 1,137
Manufacturing 6,737 — 78 6,815 2,249
Construction 4,108 — 28 4,136 842
Finance 54 627 48 742 55,417 219
Service industry and business activities 23,140 3 249 23,392 3.626
Agriculture, forestry and fishing 1,700 — 2 1,702 12
Property 14,397 — S6 14,483 81
Individuals
Home mortgages 490 —_ 1 41 —
Other 13,434 — —_— 13,434 2
Interest accruals 199 — — 199 —
120,071 51 1,203 121,325 9,068

Nole:

(1] This column shows the amount by which exposures to counterparlies are reduced by the exstence of a iegal fight of set off {on tho basts that the fingncial assel will be

collected in accordance with its lerms) gnd under master neiling arrangements. The credit risk of firancial asseis subjec! o 8 master nelting arrangement ig eliminated only
1o the extent that f:nanciat kablities dug to the same counterparty will be seflled after tha assets are realised. The extent 10 which the Group's credit risk is reduced through a
master nelling arrangement may change substantially within a short period follawing Whe balance sheet date becatse the exposure is affected by each fransaction subject to

the arrangement,
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Notes on the accounts continued

34 Memorandum ftems

Contingerd liabilities and commitmenls

The amounts shown in the table befow are intended only to provide an indication of the volume of business outstanding at
31 December. Although the Group s exposed to credit risk in the event of non-perfoermance of the obligations undertaken by
customers, the amounts shown do not, and are not intended to, provide any indication of the Group's expectation of future losses.

G Bank
2006 2005 2006 20905
£m £m £m frn

Cantingent liabilities:
Guarantees and assets pledged as coltateral security
Cther ¢ontingent liabilities

2272 2,768 1,895 2,255
2,888 2,067 2173 2,248

Commitments:

5,161 5,735 4,068 4,543

Undrawn formal standby facilities, credit lines and other commitments 1o lend

- less than one year 57,669 55,873 41,144 38,604

- one year and over 16,307 11,543 15,154 10,509
Other commiiments 181 182 100 100
74,157 67698 56,398 49,213

Note:

in the normat course of business, the Bank guarantees specified third party iiabiities of certain subsidiaries; 1 alse grves undertakings that indiddual subsidiaries will futfil their

ohligations 1o third parties under contractual or other arrangemeants.

Banking commitments and coniingent obligations, which have
been entered inic on behalf of customers and for which there
ara corresponding obligations from customers, are not included
in assets and liabilities. The Group's maximum exposure to
credi loss, in the event of non-performance by the ather party
and where all counterclaims, collateral or security proves
valueless, is represented by the contractual nominal amount

of these instruments included in the tabfe above, These
commitments ang contingant obligations are subject to the
Group's normal credit approval processes and any potential loss
is taken into account in assessing provisions for bad and doubtful
debts in agcordance with the Group's provisioning policy.

Contingent liabifities

Guarantees — the Group gives guarantees on behalf of
customers. A financial guarantee represents an irrevocabile
undertaking that the Group will meet a custorer's obligations
to thirg parties if the customer fails to do so. The maximum
amount that the Group could be required to pay under a
guarantee is its principal amount as disclosed in the table above.
The Group expects most guarantees it provides to expire unused.

QOther contingent liabilities — these include standby letters of
credit, supporting customer debt issues and contingent
liabiiities relating to customer trading activities such as those
arising from performance and customs bonds, warranties,
indemnities and acceptances.

Cormenitments

Commitments {o lend - uncer a loan commitment the Group
agrees 1o make funds available to a customer in the future.
Loan commitments, which are usually for a specified term may
be unconditionally cancellzble or may persist, provided ali
conditions in the loan facility are satisfied or waived.
Commitments to lend include commercial standby facilities and
credit lines, liquidity facilities to commergial pager conduits
and unutilised overdraft facilities.

Other commitments - these include forward asset purchases,
forwargd deposits placed and undrawn note issuance and
revolving underwriling facilities, documentary credits and other
short-term trade related transactions.
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Regutatory enquiries and investigations - in the normal course
of business the Group and ils subsidiaries co-operate with
regulalory authorilies in various jurisdictions in their enquires or
investigations into alleged or possible breaches of regulations.

Additional contingent liabilities arise in the normal course of
the Group's business. It is not anticipated that any material loss
will arise from these transactions.

Litigatlon

Proceedings, including a consolidated class action, have been
brought in the United States agains1 a large number of
defendants, including the Group, fallawing the coliapse of Enron.
The claims against the Group could be significant but are largely
unquantified. The Group considers that it has substantial and
credible legal and factual defences to these claims and it
continues o defend them vigorously. A court ordered meadiation
commenced in September 2003 but ne material prograss has
been made towards a resolution of the claims, although a
number of other defendants have reached setttements in the
principal class action. The Group is unable reliably to estimate
the possible loss in relation to these matters or the effect that the
possible loss might have on the Group's consolidated net assets
or iis operaling resuits or cash flows in any particular period. In
addition, pursuant to requests received from the US Securities
and Exchange Commission and the Department of Justice, the
Group has provided copies of Enron-related materials to these
authorilies and has co-operated fully with them.

Members of the Group are engaged in other litigation in the
United Kingdom and a number of overseas jurisdictions, including
the United Statas, involving claims by and against them arising
in the ordinary course of business. The Group has reviewed
these other actual, threatened and known potentiat claims and
proceedings and, after consulting with its legal advisers, is
satisfied that the outcome of these other claims and proceedings
will not have a material adverse effect on its censolidated net
assels, operating results or cash flows in any particular period.

Trustee and other fidugiary activities

In ils capacity as trustee or other fiduciary role, the Group

may hold or place assets on behalf of individuals, trusts,
companies, pension schemes and others, The assets and their
income are not included in the Group's financial statements,



35 Net cash flows from operating activities

Group Barie
2008 2450 2006 205
Em £m £m m
Operating profit before tax 3,456 3411 1,963 2,318
{Increase)/decrease in prepayments and accrued income {(17) 988 30 557
Interest on subordinated liabilities 310 304 27 283
Increasel(decrease) in accruals and deferred income 37 {1,278) (28) (246}
Provisions for impairment losses 852 756 754 691
Loans and advances writlen-off net of recoveries (730) (762} (6ad) {715)
Unwind of discount on impairment losses (67) (76) (55) (61)
Profit on sale of preperty, plant and equipment (31) (51} (31 (39)
{Profit}loss on sale of subsidiaries and associates (70} (12 45 {221)
Profit on sale of investment securities (86} (327} (24) {320)
Charge for defined bensfit pensicn schemes 228 148 168 a7
Cash contribution to defined benefit pension schemes (135) (1,007} (70) {376}
Other provisions utilised (30) {18} (20} (16}
Depreciation and amortisation 257 382 202 326
Elimination of foreign exchange differences 1,503 (2,178) 143 189
Other non-cash iterns (147) (227) 1 (60)
Net cash inflow from trading activities 5,331 54 2,705 1,164
Increase in loans and advances to banks and customers (40,552) (24,532} (15,215) (4,182)
(increase)/decrease in securities {4.316)  (5,565) 2 1
Decrease/(increase) in other assets 1,303 {1,469) 707 {B25)
Decrease/(increase) in derivative assels 230 797 {197} 335
Changes in operating assets (43,335) (30,769) (14,703) (4.471)
Increase in deposits by banks and custiomers 39,118 49,683 16,281 9815
Increase/{decrease) in debt securities in issue 3,534 5,724 9) A}
Increase/(decrease) in cther liabilities 646 1,138 (26) 953
{Decreaselfincrease in derivative liabilities {314} 951 16 {286)
Increase/(decrease) in seitlement balances and short positions 3.057 (652} — —
Changes in gperating liabilitlies 46,041 54,942 16,262 10,481
Tota! income taxes paid {1,187y (1174 {588} (662)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 6,880 23,067 3,676 6.512
*restaled (see Note 46).
36 Analysis of the net investment in business nterests and intangible assets
Group Bank
2006 285 2006 2006
Em m . £m m
Fair value given for business acquired {20) (238) (624) -
Additional invesiments in group undertakings - — {719) {217}
Cash and cash equivalents acquired — 25 _ —
Non-cash consideration — 3 —_ —
Net autflow of cash in respect of purchases (20) (210  {1,343) {217)
Cash and cash equivalents in businesses sold — 2} — -—
Other assels sold (41) 260 1 7
Repayment of investments —— — 1,022 2
Non-cash consideration 112 25) — —
Profit/({loss) on disposal 70 12 (45) 221
Net cash inflow on disposals 141 245 978 230
Dividends received from joint ventures 17 7 _— —
Net cash expenditure on other intangible assets (230} (210) (159) (180}
Net outflow {92) (168 (524) {167)
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Notes on the accounts continued

37 Interest received and paid

iy Bank
2006 2005 2006 2005
Em Tin Em £m
Interest received 9,952 8,475 6,601 5,621
Interest paid (5,527) {4,164} (3.405) (2,683)
4,425 4,311 3,196 2,938
38 Analysis of changes in financing during the year
Geonip Bank
Share capilat Subordinated Share capital Subordinated
& share prammum liabiities & ghare premium liabitities
2006 45 2008 205 2006 AR5 2006 A5
£Em {m £m im £m £ £m £m
At 1 January 2,969 3,388 6,548 5,808 2,969 3.388 5,501 4,747
Implementation of 1AS 32 on 1 January 2005 (419) 530 (419) 530
Net proceeds from issue of
subordinated liabilities 91 201 — —_
Repayment of subordinated liabilities (712) (210) {590} (210)
Net cash (ouiflow)/inflow from financing — — (628) 81 — — {590) (210)
Currency transfation and other adjustments —_ — {379) 229 — — {328) 434
At 31 December 2,969 2,969 5,641 6,648 2,969 2.963 4,583 5,501
39 Analysis of cash and cash equivalents
Group Bark
2006 2005 2006 005
£m £ £m £m
At 1 lanuary
- cash 33,273 14,816 13,952 9,852
- cash equivalents 15,151 8,029 4,636 1.859
Net cash inflow 3,036 25579 939 G.677
At 31 December 51,460 48424 19,527 18,588
Comprising:
Cash and balances at central banks 1,430 1,446 795 779
Treasury bills and debl securities 1 1 — —
Loans and advances ‘o banks 50,029 48,977 18,732 17,809
Cash and cash equivalents 51,460 4BA4Z24 19,527 18,588

The Bank and certain subsidiary undertakings are required to maintain balances with the Central banks which, at 31 December 2006,

amounted to £95 million (2005 - £122 million).

40 Net cashflow on discontinued operations

Group

206

£m

Net cashflow from operating activities 194
Net cashflow from financing activilies (194)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January and 31 December
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41 Segmental analysis
(a) Divislons

The direciors manage the Group primarity by class of business
and present the segmental analysis on that basis. The Group's
aclivilies are organised as follows:

* Global Banking & Markets is a leading banking pariner 1o
major corporations and financial institutions around the
world, providing a fult range of debt financing, risk
management and investment services 1o its customers.

UK Corporate Banking provides banking, finance and risk
management services to UK corporate customers. Through
its network of relationship managers across the country i
distributes the full range of Corporate Markets’ products and
services 1o companies.

.

Retail comprises the NatWest retail brand, and a number of
dirgct providers offering a full range of banking products
and related financial services o the persanal, premium and
small business markets across several distribution channels.
Retail also includes the Group's non-branch based retail
business that issues a comprehensive range of credit and
charge cards to personal and corporate customers and
provides card processing services for retail businesses.

Wealth Management provides private banking and
investment services to its global clients through Coutts
Group and NatWest Offshore.

Ulster Bank Group brings together the Ulster Bank and
First Active businesses. Retail Markets serves persenal

customers through both brands and Corporate markets
caters for the banking needs of business and corporate
customers.

Manufacluring supporis the customer-facing businesses
and provides operational technology, customer support
in telephony, account management, lending and money
transmission, glcbal purchasing, property and other
services.

Segments charge market prices for services rendered to other
parts of the Group with the exception of Manufacturing and
ceniral items. The expenditure incurred by Manulacturing
relates to costs principally in respect of the Group's banking
operations in the UK and Ireland. These costs reflect activities
that are shared between the various customer-facing divisions.
These shared costs and related assets and liabilities are not
allocated to divisions in the day-to-day management of the
businesses but for the first time in 2006, with comparatives
restated accordingty, they are allocated to customer-facing
divisions for financial reporting purpases on a basis the
directors consider to be reasonable. Funding charges between
segments are determined by Group Treasury, having regard to
commercial demands. The resulls of each division before
amortisation of purchased intangible assets, integration costs
and net gain on sale of strategic investments and subsidiaries,
and where approgriate, allocation of Manufacturing costs
{'Contribution’} and after allocation of Manufacturing costs
{'Operating profit before tax'y are shown below.

Grep
Revenue Total Income

Depreciation Allccation ol Operating
Inter Inter Operating angd Wmpairment Manulacluring profit
Extornal  segment Totat Extornsl  segment Total expenses amoriisation losses  Contribution costs belors tax

2008 £m &m £m Em £m £m £m £m Em £m £m
Global Banking & Markets 3,180 1,334 4,514 1,769 (63) 1,706 (649) (8) 24 1,073 (94) 979
UK Corporate Banking 2,222 — 2,222 1,805 [(350) 1,455  (480) — (72) a03 (224) 679
Retail 6,120 4 5,124 4,493 (14) 4,479 (1,059) (9 (730} 2,681 (1.108) 1,572
Wealth Management 1,266 2 1,268 599 (6) 593 (318} (11 {1} 263 {51) 212
Ulster Bank 2,369 20 2389 1,014 (10} 1,004 {294) (21) {71) 618 (214) 404
Manufacturing 26 5 31 {37} {21y  (58) (1,472) (204) —  {1,734) 1,734 -
Central items 479 570 1,049 (317) 464 147 (427) 7 {2) {275) (42) (317)
Eliminations — (1,935 (1,835) —_ —_ — -— —_ — — — —
15,662 -— 15,662 9326 -— 9,326 (4,699) (246} (852) 3,529 — 3529
Amortisation of inlangibles — — -_— _ —_ — — (6} — {6} — (6)
Integration costs — — — -_— —_ — (62) (5) — (67) — (67)
15,662 — 15,662 9,326 — 9,326 (4,761) (257}  (B52)  3.456 — 3,456

Nate:
(1) Raverue represents total ingome Included In the income statement grossed-up for interest payebis and commissions paysble.

)
=
B
1]
8
o
£
=
e
=]
n
a
=}
=

Annual Report and Accounts 2006



Notes on the accounts continued

41 Segmental analysis (continued)

]
Harvenuo Triat income
Depracizion Aliocataon of Ofisating
e mer Operatng ard tmpakrment tanufacturing prafi
Extrrut segmunt Total  Exterrel sagEnent Taal  expsrses smorbsalon josses  Contrtzton cosis betore tax
205 £m £m £m £m £m £m £ £m £rn £m £m Em
Global Banking & Markets 2,212 1,002 3.214 1,507 114 1,621 (467) 7} 27 1,174 (23) 1,081
UK Corperate Banking 1,923 1 1,924 1,647 (373 1,244 £330 — {35) 879 (224) 655
Retail 5,454 1,301 7,255 4,225 {62) 4,163 {876) [ (661) 2,819 (1,136) 1483
Wealth Management 1,102 2 1104 508 {1y 507 {276) 113 (6} 212 (54) 158
Ulster Bank 1,763 25 1,788 860 12y 888 {248) {24) {58) 530 {207} 323
Manufacturing 45 ¢} 51 26 (30} 4} (1,550) {57} —  {1,611) 1,611 —
Central items 64 438 502 (646; 384 (2821 (254) {137} (19 (r02) 103 (5991
Eliminations — [2,779) (2,775} — — — — — — — — —
Continuing operations 13,063 -~ 13,0683 8,087 — B.087 (3.99%) {245;  (752) 3,101 — 310
Discontinued operations 246 - 246 221 — {70y — 4) 147 —_ 147
Amortisation of
imiangibles —_ e - — — — e {8 — {6} — (8}
Integration costs — — - — — — {32) (131) — {163} — {163
Net gain on sale of
strategic investments
and subsidiaries 332 - 332 332 — 332 — -— — 332 — 332
13,641 — 13,641 B,650 — B650  (4,101) (382} {756) 3411 — 3411
Notas:
{1) Global Banking & Markats and UK Corporata Banking were astablished on 1 January 2006, The figuras for 2005 for Corporate Markels have now been allocaled 1o thoss
segments.

{2) Revenus represents iotal income included in the Income slaterment grossed-up for intarest payable and commissions payable.

£raun

Caostlo

acquire fMxed

assats and
Assats - Liabiilies - iniangible Costio
bafore before assels — balore Becquine
allocation of  Allecation of aliocation of  Allocation of allocation of  Allpcation ol lxed assets
Manulacturing Manufacturing Manyiacturing Manufacturng Manufacturing Manufacturing and intangibla
assels assels Assels liabitilies kabiiiies Liahditves assets assels assets
2006 £m fm £m £m £m Em £m £rm £m
Global Banking & Markets 126,238 106 126,344 107,242 — 107,242 182 W4 196
UK Corporate Banking 36,476 179 36,655 36,921 — 35921 mm k1) 38
Retail 57.035 1,003 58038 62978 — 62978 3 156 159
Wealth Management 21,741 85 21,827 20,795 — 20,795 13 17 30
Ulster Bank 45,112 117 45,229 41,806 — 41,806 166 A 187
Manufacturing 1,977 (1,977) — 329 (329) — 302 (302) _—
Central itemns 2,082 486 2,568 9,405 329 9,734 4 56 60
Group 280,661 — 280,581 279,476 — 279476 670 _ 670

2035
Global Banking & Markets 110.597 g4 110,681 96,059 — 96,089 — 14 14
UK Corporate Banking asz2ir 155 33,372 32,155 — 32,155 B0 27 107
Retail 53,833 1,124 54,957 57,716 — 57,716 46 197 243
Weaith Management 19,585 40 19,625 18,802 — 18,802 17 7 24
Ulster Bank 39,249 221 39.470 37,026 — 37,026 77 81 158
Manufactuning 1,876 {1,876} — 509 {509} — 328 (328) —
Central items 2,246 242 2.488 8,152 509 8,661 - 2 2
Group 260,603 — 260,603 250418 — 250419 548 — 548
Nole:

(1) Global Banking & Markets and UK Corporals Banking were established on 1 January 2006. The figures for 2005 for Corporate Markels have now been allocatad 1o thosa
segments.
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Segmental analysis of goodwill is as follows:

Group
Global
Banking & Wealth Ulster

Markats Retail  Management Bank Total

£m Em £m £m £m

Al 1 January 2006 108 107 131 414 760
Currency translation and olher adjustments {14} (8) (M &) (38)
Disposals — — (3} — (3)
At 31 December 2006 54 99 121 405 710

(b} Geographical segments
The geographical anatyses in the tables below have been compiled on the basis of location of office where the transactions are recorded.

Lol
Rest of

UK UsA Europa the World Totsi
2006 m £mn £m &n £m
Total revenue 11,811 1,140 2,506 205 15,662
Met interest income 3,865 (KR)] 581 14 4,449
Fees and commissions (net) 2,327 258 309 74 2,968
Income from trading activilies 547 783 126 2 1,458
Other operaling income 315 48 88 — 451
Total income 7,054 1,078 1,104 90 9,326
Operating profit before tax 2,434 623 399 — 3,456
Total assets 168,696 76,883 42,334 2,748 290,661
Total liabilities 163,083 74,723 38,938 2,732 279476
Net assets attributable to equity shareholders and minority interests 5,613 2,160 3,396 16 11,185
Contingent liabilities and commitments 65,331 3,978 8,049 1,960 79,318
Cost to acquire property, ptant and equipment and inlangible assets 490 46 130 4 670
2005
Total revenue 10.417 1,078 1,982 164 13,641
Net interest income 3,858 12 578 13 44861
Fees and commissions (net) 2,308 157 208 73 2.746
income from trading activities {5} 777 33 3 BO3
Other operating income 493 45 g7 — 635
Total income 5,654 991 916 85 B,G650
Operating profit before tax 2,522 560 297 32 3411
Total assets 138,574 74,162 44,673 3,194 260,603
Total liabilities 133,341 72,218 41,787 3073 250,418
Net assets attributable to equity shareholders and minority interests 5,233 1,944 2,886 121 10,184
Contingent liabilities and commitments 58,025 6,231 9,177 — 73433
Cost o acquire property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 368 29 144 7 548
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Notes on the accounts continued

42 Directors’ and key management remuneration
The current directors of the Bank are also direclors of the uftimale holding company and are remuneraled for heir services lo the
RBS Group as a whole. The remuneration of the directors is disclosed in the Report and Accounts of the RBS Group. Pensions paid
1o former directors of the Bank and their dependants amounted to £307,000 (2005 - £308,000}.

Compensation of key management
The aggregate remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

_ RBS Group
2006 2005
£000 £000
Short-term benefits 41,003 26,180
Post-employment benelfils 14,264 9,383
Other long-term benefits 3,309 4215
Share-based payments 2,787 1,568

58,363 41,346

43 Transactions with directors, officers and others
(a) At 31 December 2006, the amounts culstanding in relation to transactions, arrangements and agreements entered into by
authorised institutions in the Group, as defined in UK legislation, were £42,977 in respect of loans to eight persons who were
directors of the company (or persons connected with thern) al any time during the financial period and £14,487,382 1o 54
people who were officers of the company at any time during the financial period.

{b}For the purposes of IAS 24 'Related Party Disclosures’, key management comprise direclors of the Bank and members of the
RBS Group's Group Executive Management Committee. The caplions in the primary financial statements include the following
amounts attributable, in aggregate, 1o key management:

2006 2008

£000 £000

Loans and advances o customers 1,884 1,035
Customer accounts 1,797 are

Key management have banking refationships with Group entities which are entered into in the normal course of business.

Key management had na reportable transaclions or balances with the company except for dividends.

44 Refated parties

(a) Group companies provide development and other types of capita!l support to businesses in their roles as providers of finance.
These investments are made in the normal course of business and on arm's-length terms. In some instances, the investment may
axtend to ownership or control over 20% or more of the voling rights of the investee company. However, these investments are not
considered to give rise lo lransaciions of & materiality requiring disclosure under 1AS 24.

{b) The Group recharges The Royat Bank of Scotland Group Pension Fund with the cost of administration services incurred by it.
The amounts involved are not material to the Group.

{c} In accordance with IAS 24, transactions or balances between Group entities that have been eliminated on consolidation are not
reported.

(d) The captions in the primary financial statements of the Bank include amounts attributable 1o subsidiaries. These amounts have

been disclosed in aggregate in the relevant notes to the financial statements. The table below discloses items included in
income and operating expenses on transactions between the Group and fellow subsidiaries of the RBS Group.

2008 2006
£m £m
income
tnterest receivable 3,204 1,112
interest payable 744 357
Fees and commissions receivable 122 04
fees and commissions payable 106 100
Expenses
Other administrative expenses ' 1,761 1,529
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45 Transition to IFRS

Implementation of IAS 32, IAS 3D and IFRS 4 an 1 January 2005

UK GAAP

IFRS

{a) Financial instruments: financial assels
Loans are measured at cost less provisions for bad and
doubtful debts, derivatives held-for-trading are carried at fair
value and hedging derivatives are accounted for in
accordance with {he treatment of the itam being hedged
(see Derivatives and hedging below).

Debt securities and equily shares intended for use on a
continuing basis in the Group’s activities are classified as
investment securities and are staled at cost less provision for
any permanent diminution in value. The cost of dated
investment securities is adjusted for the amortisation of
premiums or discounts. Other debt securities and equity
shares are carried at fair value.

Under 1AS 39, financial assels are classified into held-to-
maturity; available-for-sale; held-for-trading; designaled as at
fair value through profit or loss; and toans and receivables.
Financial assets classified as held-to-maturity or as loans and
receivables are carried at amortised cost. Other financial
assels ara measured at fair value. Changes in the fair value of
available-for-sale financial assets are reported in a separate
component of sharsholders' equity Chianges in the fair value of
financial assets helgd-for-irading or designated as at fair value
are taken to profit or loss. Financiat assets can be classified as
held-to-maturity only if they have a fixed maturity and the
reporting entity has the positive intention and ability to hold to
maturnty. Trading financial assets are held for the purpose of
selling in the near term. IFRS allows any financial asset to be
designated as at fair value through profit or loss on initial
recognition. Urguoted debt financia) assets that are not
classified as held-to-maturity, held-for-trading or designated as
at fair value through prafit or ioss are categorised as ioans and
receivables. All other financial assets are classified as
available-for-sale.

{b} Financial instruments: financial liabilities
Under UK GAAR shert positians in securities and trading
derivatives are carried at fair value; all other financial liabilities
are recorded at amortised cost.

IAS 38 requires all financial liabilities to be measured at
amortised cost except those held-for-trading and ihose that
were designated as at fair value through profit or loss on initial
recognition.

{c) Liabillties and equity
Under UK GAAP.all shares are classified as shareholders’
funds. An analysis of shareholders’ funds between equity and
non-equily interests is given,

There is no concept of non-equity shares in IFRS. Insiruments
are classified between equily and liakitities in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements. A non-
derivative instrument is classified as equity if it does not
include a contractua! obligation either to deliver cash or to
exchange financial instruments with another entity under
potentially unfavourable conditions, and, if the instrument will
or may be settled by the issue of equity, settlement does not
involve the issue of a variable number of shares. On
implementation of [AS 32, non-equity shares with a balance
sheet value cf £419 milllon were reclassified as liabilities.

{d) Effective interest rate and lending fees
Under UK GAAR loan origination fees are recognised when
received unless they are charged in lieu of interest.

1AS 39 requires the amortised cost of a financial instrument to
be calculated using the effective interest method. The effective
interast rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash
flows over an instrument’s expected life to its net carrying
value. It takes into account all fees and points paid that are an
integral part cf the yield, ransaction costs and all cther
premiums and discounts.

Cn implementation of [AS 39, the carrying value of financial
assels was reduced by £256 million and financial liabilities
increased by £81 million, deferred tax was reduced by £101
million and shareholders' equity reduced by £236 million,
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Notes on the accounts continued

45 Transition to IFRS

Implementation of 1AS 32, |AS 39 and IFRS 4 on 1 January 2005 (continued)

UK GAAP

IFRS

{e) Derivatives and hedging
Under UK GAAP non-trading derivatives are accounted for on
an accruals basis in accordance with the accounting treatment
of the underlying transaction or transactions being hedged. If
a non-trading derivative transaction is terminated or ceases to
be an effective hedge, it is re-measured at falr value and any
gain or loss amortised over the remaining life of the underlying
transaction or transactions being hedged. If a hedged llem is
derecognised the related non-lrading derivative is remeasured
at fair value and any gain or loss taken to the income
statement.

Embedded derivatives are not bifurcated from the host
contract.

Under 1AS 39, all derivatives are measured at fair value. Hedge
accounting is permitied for three types of hedge relationship:
fair value hedge - the hedge of changes in ihe fair value of a
recognised asset or Fability or firm commilment; cash flow
hedge - lhe hedge of variability in cash flows from a
recognised asset or liability or a forecasted transaction; and
the hedge of a net invesiment in a foreign entity. In a fair value
hedge the gain or loss on the derivative is recognised in profit
or less as it arses offset by lhe corresponding gain or loss on
the hedged item altributable to the risk hedged. In a cash flow
hedge and in the hedge of a net investment in a foreign entity,
the element of the derivalive's gain or loss that is an effective
hedge is recognised direclly in equity. The ineffeclive element
is taken to the income statement. Certain conditions must be
met for a relationship to qualify for hedge accounting. These
include designation, documentation and prospective and
actual hedge effectiveness. On implementation of 1AS 39,
non-trading derivatives were remeasured at fair value.

A derivative embedded in a contract is accounted for as a
stand-alone derivative if ts economic characteristics are not
closely related 1o the economic characteristics of the host
coniract, unless the entire contract is carried at fair value
through profit or loss.

(f) Loan impairment
Under UK GAAP provisions for bad and doubtful debts are
made so as te record impaired loans at their ultimate net
realisable value. Specific provisions are established against
individual advances or portfolios of smaller balance
homogeneous advances and the general provision covers
advances impaired at the balance sheet date but which have
not been identified as such. Interest receivable from loans and
advances is credited to the income statement as it accrues
unless there is significant doubt that it can be collected.

IFRS require impairment tosses on financial assets carried at
amortised cost to be measured as the difference between the
asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future ¢ash flows discounted at the asset's original effective
interest rate. There is no concept of specific and general
provision - under IFRS impairment is assessed individually for
individually significant assets but can be assessed collectively
far other assets. Once an impairment loss has been
recognised on a financial asset or group of financial assets,
interest income is recognised on the carrying amount using the
rate of interest at which estimated future cash flows were
discounted in measuring impairment.

{g) Offsat
Under UK GAAP an intention to settle net is not a requirement
{or set off; the entity must have the ability to insist on net
seltlement and that ability is assured beyond doubt.

For a financial asset and a financial lizbility to be offset, IFRS
require that an entity must intend to settle on a net basis or to
realise the asset and setile the liability simultaneously.

On implementation of IAS 32, the balance sheet value
of financial assets and financial liabilities increased by
£34 billion.

th) Linked presentation
FRS 5 ‘Reporting tha Substance of Transactions’ aliows
qualifying transactions to be presented using the linked
presentation.

There is no linked presentation under IFRS, If substantially all
the risks and rewards have been retained, the gross assets
and related funding are presented separately,

(1) Extinguishment of liabilities
Under UK GAAP recognition of a financiat liability ceases once
any transfer of economic benefits to the creditor is no longer likely.

A financial liahility is removed from the balance sheet when,
and anlty when, it is extinguished i.e. when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires.
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Analysis of IAS 32, IAS 39 and IFRS 4 adjustments

Balance sheet at 1 January 2005 — Group

RS Provsoning #RS
3% Gecamber ¢ Oal! Clasyiegtzry Embedied) as) Hagyngy Favems Taal i ety
i ] e apely mezmremet  dufvves Inparment measwened Dwtogeden roogdips D0w adpaimend 5
im ] im £ fm im £ in im fm im Bl
Asseis
Cash and balances at
central banks 1,589 e - — - e — - _ - —  1.58%
Treasury bills and
other eligible bills 172 — —- = — — — — — e s 172
Loans and advances
to banks 29,882 12,209 4 - — — — 28 - — 1 12,242 42224
Loans and advances
to customers 131,679 19,588 551 — {t — (218 133 1479 (254) (2) 21,276 152,855
Debt secuirities 22428 — 138 = (2) — — — — —_ - 136 22,562
Equity shares 1,338 — — = 289 —_ — e o — e 289 1,627
Intangible assets 1,244 — — — — — — — — —_ = — 1244
Property, plant and
equipment 1,542 — - - - — —_ — —_ _ = — 1,542
Setllement balances 3,538 — _— — o — — — —_— - — 3,528
Derivatives at fair value 1.366 1,983 — e 3 60 - 356 - — (1) 2411 3777
Prepayments,
accrued income
and other assets 2,345 (693} - {2 {15) e (202} 295 {2y 52 (567) 1,778
Totat assets 197,221 33.780 — - 287 45  (218) 325 1,774 (256) 50 35787 233,008
Liabilities
Geposits by banks 23,873 12,209 g - — — — 10 — — = 12227 36,100
Custamer accounts 126,119 19588 348 — (23 {19) {18; [43¢] — - 20,001 146,120
Debt securities in issue 3,597 — —_ - — — — — 1,479 — 1 1,480 5,077
Settlement balances
and short positions 21,8670 — 1683 — — — — — -— —_ - 163 21,833
Derivatives at fair value 1,405  1.883 - - 3 60 — 457 — — — 2,503 3608
Accruals, deferred
income and cther
liabitities 4,539 - (623} (T} 76 (3) e (287) 295 81 — 472) 4,087
Ratirement benefit
ligbilities 2,093 — - - — —_ - e - -— — — 2,093
Deferred taxation
liabilities — — — 85 1 (58] 50 {30y (101) 49 - e
Subordinated liabilities 5,808 — 103 428 — —_ — — —_— — 1 530 6,338
Minority interests 408 — — {6) — — — —_ e —_— - (8) 402
Shareholders’ equity 8,009 — — (413) 124 2 [183) 117 {69 (2260 (1) {639) 7.370
Total liabiltles and equity 197,221 33,780 —_— 287 45 (218) 325 1,774 [256)  BO 35,787 233,008
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Notes on the accounts continued

45 Transition to IFRS

Analysis of 1AS 32, J1AS 39 and IFRS 4 adjustments {continued)

Balance sheet at 1 January 2005 - Bank

s ecrte cow Ot ot Ertoies - oa Hoay — W
P s A3 ogey TRlszement ool DnETet merretanl Dueevogubon reogiton OUa adiino jaii Y
im 1] Em im im €] & in Emn i i [£3 im
Aesels
Cash and balances at
central banks 856 s - e —_ - - — —_ - —_ o565
Loans and advances
to banks 15,994 2,885 —_ - — - — 25 — — — 2910 18004
Loans and advances
o customers 77.61% 10,880 409 {33) — —  (207) 133 — (27 1 10,911 88,530
Debt securities 32 e — — — — —_— — —_ - -— 39
Equity shares 587 —_ — = 288 — — —_ — — e 288 875
Investment in Group
undertakings 6.253 — - 3 — — — — — —_ - 31 6.284
Intangible assets 434 — - - — — — — e —_ - — 434
Property, plant and
equipment 1,247 — _ = — — — e e —_ = — 1247
Derivatives at fair vaiue T4 706 _ - - 7 -— 124 — _ - 834 1.536
Prepayments,
accrued income
and other assets 1,834 — (409 - — (7) — 38 — — 36 {342) 1.492
Tatal assats 105,667 14,471 — (2) 288 —  {207) 317 -— (272} 37 14,632 1203299
Liabilities
Deposits by banks 3480 2,885 3 — —_ — - — — — (1) 2,887 6367
Customer accourts 87,925 10,880 264 — — {7 - 99 — — 11236 99181
Debt securities in issue 38 — R e — -— — — — e — 39
Derivatives at fair value 283 706 —_ - — 7 —_ 415 — —  — 1,132 1415
Accruals, deferred
income and other
liabilities 21714 — (370 {6 1 — — (270} — 78 (3) (570) 1,601
Retirement benefit
liabilities 1,920 —_ - - — —_ — - — - - — 1820
Deferred tax —_ — —_ - 86 - {36) 46 (30} (i05) 24 —_ —_
Subordinated liabilities 4,747 —_ 103 426 — —_ —_ —_ —_ — 1 830 5277
Shareholders’ equity 5,102 — — (422) 2 {171} 122 (69) (245} i {583) 4,519
Tolal fabifiies and equity  105.667 14,471 — (2} 288 —  (207) 317 — {272y 37 14,632 120,299
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Reconcllifation of shareholders' funds Gﬂ)lrjp B.’.itnk
L.m m
Sharehotders' funds under IFRS at 3t December 2004 8,009 5102
Standards applicable from 1 January 2005:
Non-equity shares reclassified to debt (419} {419)
Revenue recognition {337; {350)
Derecognition {98 {99)
Securities 210 287
Other {43) 2}
Tax efiect on adjustments 49 —
Shareholders' furids uncler IFRS al 1 January 2005 7,370 4,519
Equity = minority interests 402 —
Equity under IFRS at 1 January 2005 TI12 4,519
Soouy Bani
Faiir vaius on Larryng whis Far vallm on Carrang value
mpilgmeniation of 1A% 39 urglar UK GAAP implemsataton of 1AS 3G untlar UK (3448
As al 1 January 2005 £m £m Em £m
Financlal assets
- designated as at fair value through profit or foss 1,137 1,062 60 60
— available-for-sale 3,851 3,562 91 624
Financial liailities
- designated as at fair vatue through profit or loss 1,326 1,259 60 60
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Notes on the accounts continued

46 Restatement of cash flow statements
The Group and Bank cash flow statements for the year ended 31 December 2005 have been restated to correct an inadverlent error
in the calculation of the effects of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents. No other caption is affected and
the amount of cash and cash equivalents is unchanged.

The tables below show the effect of the restatements:

{a) Cash flow statements 105
Prendicasshy
[P ) Restated
£rn fm
Group
Elimination of foreign exchange differences and other non-cash items 4,227 (3,185}
Net cash inflow from trading activities 7465 54
Net cash flows from operating aclivilies before tax 31,639 24 2237
Met cash flows from operating aclivilies 30,469 23.057
Effects of foreign exchange rate changes an cash and cash equivalents 4,791) 2,621
Bank
Elimination of foreign exchange difterences and other non-cash items (499) (881}
Net cash inflow from trading activities 1.545 1,164
Net cash flows from operating activities before tax 7,556 7,174
Net cash flows from operating activities 6,844 6,512
Effects of foreign exchange rale changes on cash and cash equivalents (247} 135
{b) Note 35 — Net cash inflow from aperating activities 2HE
Pravousty
[ H Ruzgtatern
£m £

Group
Elimination of foreign exchange differences and other non-cash items 5,007 (2,405}
Net cash inflow from trading activities 7,466 54
Net cash fiows from operating aclivities 30,469 23,057
Bank
Elimination of foreign exchange differences and olher non-cash items 511 129
Net cash inflow fram trading aclivities 1,546 1,164
Net cash flows from operating activities 6.894 6,512

47 Ultimate holding company
The Group's ultimate hotding company and ultimate controlling party is The Royal Bank of Scotland Group ple and its immediate
parent company is The Royal Bank of Scotland plc. Both companies are incorporated in Great Britain and reqgistered in Scotland.
As at 31 December 2006, The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc heads the largest group in which the Group is consolidated and
The Royal Bank of Scotland plc heads the smallest group in which the Group is consolidated. Copies of the consolidated accounts
of both companies may be oblained from The Secretary, The Royal Bank of Scotland Group ple, Gogarburn, PO Box 1000,
Edinburgh EH12 1HQ.

48 Post balance sheet events
In the Budget on 21 March 2007, the UK Government proposed, amongst other things, 1o reduce Corporation Tax rates by 2% to 28%
with effect from 1 April 2008. There have been no other events between the year end and the date of approval of these accounts
which could require a change to or disclosure in the accounts.
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Additional information

Amounts in accordance with IFRS

2006 2005 200
Summary consolldated income statement — IFRS £m £m im
Net interest income 4,448 4,461 4,383
Naon-interest income 4,877 4,189 3,640
Total income 9,326 8,650 8,023
Operaling expenses (1} 5,018 4,483 4,168
Operating profit before impairment losses 4,308 4167 3,855
Impairment losses 852 756 625
Operaling profil before lax 3.456 3411 3,230
Tax 331 248 866
Profit after tax 2,625 2463 2,364
Minority interests 39 17 12
Preference dividends - e 36
Profit attributable to ordinary sharehalders 2,586 2,446 2.316
Noto:

{1) Includes integration expenditure of EGT million for tha year anded 31 December 2006 {2005 -~ £163 milion, 2004 - £297 million).

2006 2005 200

Summary consolidated balance sheet ~ IFRS £m £m 2m
Loans and advances 243,974 215,938 161,661
Debt securities and equity shares 33,426 28,568 23,764
Derivatives and seitlement balances 6,320 6,807 4,904
Other assets 6,941 8,190 5,892
Total assets 290,661 260,603 187,221
Shareholders’ equity 10,473 Q440 8,000
Minority interests 1,012 744 408
Subordinated liabilities 5,641 6,648 5.808
Total capital respurces 16,826 18,832 14,225
Deposits 227,477 203,925 149,992
Derivatives, settlement balances and short posilions 26,617 24,231 22,775
COrher liabilities 19,741 15,615 10,229
Total liabilities and equity 290,661 260,603 147,221
Amounts in accordance with UK GAAP 2(.;04 20{03 202
Xl 111 it

Profit before provisions 4,108 3,679 3.105
Provisions for bad and doubtful debts 625 549 508
Amounts writien-off fixed assel invesimeants — 1 B
Profit on ordinary activities before tax 3,483 3,129 2,589
Tax on profit on ordinary activities 955 946 714
Profit on ordinary activities after tax 2,528 2.183 1,875
fm £m £m

Shareholders’ funds 9,138 9,038 9,165
Minority interests 408 3 47
Dated toan capital 3,074 3,272 3,341
Undated loan capital including convertible debt 2,734 2,471 2,692
Total capital resources 15,354 14,784 15,145
Ebn Etbn fhn

Loans and advances to customers (net of provisions) 1314 102.6 112.1
Cuslomer accounts 126.1 116.6 1115
Tolal assets 196.3 172.9 171.8
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Principal offices

National Westminster Bank Plc
135 Bishopsgate London EC2M 3UR

Ulster Bank
11-16 Donegall Square East Belfast BT1 5UB
George's Quay Dublin 2

RBS Greenwich Capital
600 Steamboat Road Greenwich Connecticut 06830 USA

Coutts Group
440 Strand London WC2R 0Q18
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